Seton Hall University eRepository @ Seton Hall

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses

Spring 3-17-2016

Understanding Physicians' and Non-Physician Practitioners' Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach

Paul F. Franco paul.franco@student.shu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Alternative and Complementary Medicine Commons</u>, <u>Health Services</u> <u>Administration Commons</u>, <u>Other Medicine and Health Sciences Commons</u>, and the <u>Social and</u> <u>Behavioral Sciences Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Franco, Paul F., "Understanding Physicians' and Non-Physician Practitioners' Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach" (2016). *Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)*. 2153. https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/2153 Understanding Physicians' and Non-Physician Practitioners'

Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations

Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective

Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach

By

Paul F. Franco

Dissertation Committee: Dr. Deborah A. DeLuca, M.S., JD (Chair) Dr. Terrence F. Cahill, Ed.D., FACHE Dr. Lee Cabell, Ed.D.

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Sciences Seton Hall University 2016 © 2016 Paul F. Franco All Rights Reserved "Understanding Physicians' and Non-Physician Practitioners'

Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations

Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective

Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach"

By

Paul F. Franco

Dissertation Committee:

Deborah A. DeLuca, M.S., JD (Chair) Terrence F. Cahill, Ed.D., FACHE Lee Cabell, Ed.D.

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

016 Date

Date

Date

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Sciences Seton Hall University, 2016

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many individuals have been instrumental in the pursuit of my journey towards the Ph.D. and the completion of this dissertation work.

First, I would like to acknowledge my dissertation committee members.

Dr. DeLuca, you have taught me to think differently, specifically with regard to exploring an area from all angles. I thank you for the many hours you put into this project with me and for all your guidance. I admire your persistence to carry a thought to completion, comprehensiveness to form a complete endresult, and willingness to go above and beyond the minimum. This research is really reflective of all our time together.

Dr. Cahill, I thank you for your contribution to this dissertation. I am grateful for learning from your teachings and worldview on having a vision and carrying that forward through leadership, and ultimately, seeing the bigger picture.

Dr. Cabell, my confidence in the statistical analysis of this research is attributable to your teachings. I view the success of a teacher to be based on his students' growth and ability to pass that knowledge on to others. Thank you for your knowledge that was vital for the success of this research.

I would like to acknowledge my initial academic advisor, Dr. Valerie Olson, who accepted and welcomed me into the Seton Hall doctoral program and encouraged me to pursue the research topic of Music Therapy.

This research was greatly enhanced from the expert panelists whose time spent providing input and feedback allowed for the creation and validity of my survey instrument. In addition, all the healthcare practitioners who provided their perspectives of Music Therapy through participation in my survey instrument allowed this research to be made possible.

I would like to thank my colleagues within this doctoral program. Not many people truly understand the doctoral process that we have endured. I am glad to have gone on this journey with you all. I would also like to give special thanks to Joann DeBerto for her assistance throughout this process.

To all the many friends who have supported me along this journey, I thank you for your support and encouragement. It was your words that uplifted me and allowed me to remain focused and balanced.

Last, and most importantly, I would like to thank my family members who have supported my educational journey since my youth. To my Uncle John, whose caring of my grandmother was the inspiration behind the caregiver/care-receiver dyad relationship element within this research study. To my brother Jonathan, I thank you for unknowingly pushing me to try to be the best role model I could be. Most especially, I thank my parents, Paul and Rosemary Franco, who have fostered in me the drive to succeed and the determination to accomplish goals which I have envisioned and continue to strive for.

DEDICATION

This dissertation research is dedicated in memory of my grandparents, Salvatore and Jennie Leto, who both instilled in me as a child the importance of investing time and effort through consistency, as in building a house to live in or the cultivation of a garden, in order to reap the fruits of that labor. "For years I have been bringing up the suggestion to pregnant women to plan what music they would like to bring with them for labor but I have no experience with formal music therapy.

I am unsure if it is available in my rural area.

Two weeks before her death at age 95, suffering with dementia, I sat next to my mother in church and heard her sing from memory all the verses of a well-known hymn I remembered from childhood.

She could not remember her children's names.

This was a profound and wonderful moment for me.

I believe in the power of music to help us all."

Anonymous Certified Nurse Midwife

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
ABSTRACT	xviii
	1
Background of the Problem	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Purpose of the Study	3
Variables	4
Research Questions	4
Research Hypotheses	6
Significance of the Study	8
Operational Definitions	8
Conceptual Framework	10
II. REVIEW OF RELEVANT LITERATURE	15
Music Therapy – What is it?	15
What Music Therapy Involves	16
Use of Music Therapy as Treatment	17
Settings of Music Therapy	26
Perspectives of Music Therapy in Healthcare	29
Ethical/Legal/Cultural Issues	30
Cost-Effectiveness	34

III. METHODOLOGY	36
Introduction	36
Research Design	36
Instrument Development: Delphi Technique	37
Assessing Validity	39
Principal Investigator Created Tool	41
Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	55
Participant Recruitment	56
Data Coding & Analysis	62
Reliability Assessment of the Tool	70
A Priori G*Power Analysis	83
IV. RESULTS	86
Introduction	86
Characteristics of the Sample	86
Frequencies of Respondents U.S. Geographical Locations of Respondents (Licensure) Age of Respondents Gender of Respondents Years in Profession CAM Therapy in Education Overall Impression of Music Therapy	86 89 93 95 97 99 100
Descriptive Research Questions 1 to 10 Results	101
Research Questions 11 to 15 Results	111
Statistical Assumptions	116
Correlations of the Variables	118
Multivariate Tests (MANOVA)	121
Follow-Up Univariate Tests (ANOVA)	124
Post-Hoc G*Power Analysis	129
Summary of Findings	131
Review of Hypotheses (Accept or Reject)	133

V. DISCUSSIO	N	136
General	Discussion of Study Findings	136
Overview	v of Discussion	137
The Gen	der Gap	138
Discussi	on of the Five Variables	140
Reasoni	ng for Results	147
Influence	e of Social Media	148
Concept	ual Framework Revisited	149
Qualitati	ve Themes	152
Practical	Implications	166
Study Li	mitations	168
VI. CONCLUSI	ON	172
Future R	Research	172
Dissertat	tion Significance and Conclusion	175
REFERENCES	i	179
APPENDIX A.	Approval to Conduct Delphi Process	190
APPENDIX B.	Delphi Expert Panelist Letter of Solicitation	192
APPENDIX C.	Delphi Round 1 Survey Worksheet	196
APPENDIX D.	Delphi Round 2 Survey Worksheet	202
APPENDIX E.	Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approvals	207
APPENDIX F.	Letter of Solicitation to Survey Participants	214
APPENDIX G.	The Global Complementary/Alternative and Music	
	Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)	217
APPENDIX H.	Demographic Questionnaire	219

LIST OF TABLES

Table I.	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: All 5 Factors	71
Table II.	Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: All 5 Factors	72
Table III.	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Recommending Practices</i> Variable	73
Table IV.	Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Recommending Practices Variable	74
Table V.	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Perceptions of Knowledge</i> Variable	75
Table VI.	Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Perceptions of Knowledge</i> Variable	76
Table VII.	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Attitudes</i> Variable	77
Table VIII.	Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Attitudes Variable	78
Table IX.	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Beliefs</i> Variable	79
Table X.	Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Beliefs Variable	80
Table XI.	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Expectations</i> Variable	81
Table XII.	Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: <i>Expectations</i> Variable	82
Table XIII.	Frequencies and Percentage of Total of the Two Independent Group Variables: Physician and Non- Physician Practitioner	87
Table XIV.	Frequencies and Percentages of Total of the Respondents By Profession	88

Table XV.	Frequencies and Percentages of Total of Respondents According To Age	94
Table XVI.	Frequencies and Percentages of Respondents According to Gender	96
Table XVII.	Frequencies and Percentages of Respondents for Years in Profession	98
Table XVIII.	Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the <i>Recommending Practices</i> Variable	111
Table XIX.	Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the <i>Perceptions of Knowledge</i> Variable	112
Table XX.	Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the <i>Attitudes</i> Variable	113
Table XXI.	Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the <i>Beliefs</i> Variable	114
Table XXII.	Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the <i>Expectations</i> Variable	115
Table XXIII.	Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices	117
Table XXIV.	Pearson Correlations of the 5 Variables	118
Table XXV.	Multivariate Tests Evidencing Pillai's Trace and Wilk's Lambda Values	121
Table XXVI.	Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) for all 5 Dependent Variables	123
Table XXVII.	Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Recommending Practices Variable	124
Table XXVIII.	Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the <i>Perceptions of Knowledge</i> Variable	125
Table XXIX.	Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Attitudes Variable	126

Table XXX.	Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Beliefs Variable	127
Table XXXI.	Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the <i>Expectations</i> Variable	128

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Principal Investigator Self-Developed Conceptual Model of Five Constructs Triangulated by Three Theories	13
Figure 2.	Principal Investigator Self-Developed Conceptual Model of the Modern Health Care Practitioner	14
Figure 3.	Key Studies in the Literature on Music as Therapy for Depression	18
Figure 4.	Key Supportive Studies in the Literature on Music as Therapy for Stress and Anxiety-Related Symptoms	19
Figure 5.	Key Non-Supportive and Neutral Studies in the Literature On Music as Therapy for Stress and Anxiety-Related Symptoms	20
Figure 6.	Key Studies in the Literature on Music as Therapy for Surgery and Related Anxieties	21
Figure 7.	Key Studies in the Literature on Music as Therapy for Terminally III Patients	22
Figure 8.	Key Studies in the Literature on Music as Therapy for Cancer Patients and Individuals with Disabilities	23
Figure 9.	Key Studies in the Literature on the Use of Music as Therapy for Pain Management	24
Figure 10.	Key Studies in the Literature on Music as Therapy for Geriatrics and Individuals with Dementia	26
Figure 11.	Settings of Music Therapy According to the Literature	28
Figure 12.	Key Themes in the Literature and the Corresponding Studies Pertaining to Music as Therapy and/or CAM	35

Figure 13.	Likert Statements for the <i>Recommending Practices</i> Variable	42
Figure 14.	Likert Statements for the <i>Perceptions of Knowledge</i> Variable	44
Figure 15.	Likert Statements for the Attitudes Variable	46
Figure 16.	Likert Statements for the Beliefs Variable	48
Figure 17.	Likert Statements for the Expectations Variable	50
Figure 18.	Snapshot of the Beginning of the Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA) as Found on SurveyMonkey®	52
Figure 19.	Snapshot of the Middle Questions of the Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA) as Found on SurveyMonkey®	53
Figure 20.	Snapshot of the Demographic Survey as Found on SurveyMonkey®	54
Figure 21.	Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria for Participants for Survey Instrument	55
Figure 22.	Sample Facebook™ Post Created by PI for Recruitment of Medical Professionals on Facebook™	58
Figure 23.	Sample Tweets Used by PI for Recruitment of Medical Professionals on Twitter™	59
Figure 24.	Sample LinkedIn® Post Created by PI for Recruitment of Medical Professionals on LinkedIn®	61
Figure 25.	Coding of Data: Main Database Spreadsheet	65
Figure 26.	Coding of Data (Variable View)	66
Figure 27.	Coding of Data: Main Database Spreadsheet Post- Coding	67

Figure 28.	Coding of Data: Data Computation Function	68
Figure 29.	Coding of Data: Final Abridged Database	69
Figure 30.	Four Options Representing How Validity and Reliability Can Vary Independently	70
Figure 31.	A Priori G*Power Analysis	84
Figure 32.	Flowchart Summary of Methodology up to and Including the Reliability Assessment Post-IRB Approval from Seton Hall University	85
Figure 33.	Distribution Map of Respondents According to Practitioner Licensure	91
Figure 34.	Distribution Table of Respondents According to Practitioner Licensure	92
Figure 35.	Clustered Bar Graph Illustrating Age of Respondents	93
Figure 36.	Clustered Bar Graph of Respondents According to Gender	95
Figure 37.	Clustered Bar Graph Illustrating Years of Experience in the Profession According to Group	97
Figure 38.	Clustered Bar Graph Illustrating Respondents' Educational Exposure to CAM	99
Figure 39.	Clustered Bar Graph Illustrating Respondents' Overall Impression of Music Therapy	100
Figure 40.	Descriptive Research Questions 1 and 6 Results	102
Figure 41.	Descriptive Research Questions 2 and 7 Results	104
Figure 42.	Descriptive Research Questions 3 and 8 Results	106
Figure 43.	Descriptive Research Questions 4 and 9 Results	108
Figure 44.	Descriptive Research Questions 5 and 10 Results	110

Figure 45	Scatterplot Diagram of the Correlation of Recommending	
riguie 40.	Practices and Perceptions of Knowledge	120
Figure 46.	Post-hoc G*Power Analysis	130
Figure 47.	Summary of Findings	132
Figure 48.	Reject or Accept? PI's Hypotheses 11 – 15 and Illustration that the Alternative Hypotheses were Accepted for Each	135
Figure 49.	Conceptual Framework Superimposed Post-Results	151
Figure 50.	Qualitative Theme: Empowerment/Creates Autonomy/Livens the Unresponsive	155
Figure 51.	Qualitative Theme: Potential to Decrease Stress, Anxiety & Pain	156
Figure 52.	Qualitative Theme: Positive Outcomes	158
Figure 53.	Qualitative Theme: Not Enough Research or Awareness	160
Figure 54.	Qualitative Theme: Takes Time for Implementation	162
Figure 55.	Qualitative Theme: Not a Priority or Unsure How to Implement	164
Figure 56.	Additional Qualitative Responses Highlighting the Need for Increased Awareness to Medical Practitioners	165

ABSTRACT

UNDERSTANDING PHYSICIANS' AND NON-PHYSICIAN PRACTITIONERS' RECOMMENDING PRACTICES, KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, BELIEFS AND EXPECTATIONS REGARDING MUSIC AS A COST-EFFECTIVE COMPLEMENTARY AND ALTERNATIVE MEDICINE APPROACH Paul F. Franco

Seton Hall University, 2016

Dissertation Chair: Dr. Deborah DeLuca, M.S., J.D.

Background and Purpose of the Study: With the rise in healthcare costs, partly due to an aging demographic (of whom these care-receivers and their informal family member/friend caregivers are experiencing high stress and anxiety levels resulting in an increase in nursing home placement), a need exists for a cost-effective alternative to the traditional medical approach. Specifically, Music Therapy, a form of Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM) has been shown to decrease the severity of the problem by alleviating symptoms of an illness and improving overall well-being. The purpose of this study was to create a valid tool entitled "The Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)" and then implement this tool in the population in order to help identify and understand the differences between physicians' (MD, DO) and non-physician practitioners' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations regarding music as a costeffective complementary and alternative medicine approach.

Methods: This study utilized a quantitative methodology with a descriptive, exploratory, cross-sectional and correlational research design to measure recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations of physicians and non-physician practitioners. A sample of 544 healthcare practitioners across seven fields of medicine participated in this study.

Results: Reliability for the GCAMTA on the whole with all five dependent variable factors combined was excellent (Cronbach's alpha α = .94). Individually, for each factor of the GCAMTA, the reliability ranged from good to excellent: *Recommending Practices* (α = .81), *Perceptions of Knowledge* (α =.92), *Attitudes* (α = .81), *Beliefs* (α = .88), *Expectations* (α = .87).

Physicians (MD, DO) were neutral in their recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations towards music as a CAM therapy. Non-physician practitioners (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) were less conservative than the physicians and, thus, more favorable towards music as a CAM therapy for their patients. As perceptions of knowledge increased for both groups, favorability towards music as a CAM therapy increased as well. Results of the Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) across all five dependent variables were statistically significant (p = .0001) at an alpha level of 0.01.

Conclusion: Educational curricula may be the root of the discrepancy in the views between physicians and non-physician practitioners. Teachings in allopathic approaches may need to include teachings in holistic medicine in order for awareness of CAM such as Music Therapy to be obtained. In addition, further evidence-based research and longitudinal studies are needed for increased acceptance and eventual recommendation of these types of complementary approaches by healthcare practitioners in their practice.

Keywords: Music Therapy, Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM), physicians, non-physician practitioners, healthcare, Affordable Care Act, recommending practices, wellness, stress, anxiety

Chapter I

INTRODUCTION

Background of the Problem

One of the most important goals of the current state of health care reform is to lower costs while maintaining a high-level quality of care to individuals. Waiting to treat illness until a person is sick as well as an everincreasing ageing demographic have both contributed to rising health care costs (OPC, 2015). Preventative services, those which seek to foresee negative health conditions of an individual and ameliorate those health conditions before they worsen, are burgeoning in acceptance amongst leaders in health care reform, and this is becoming commonplace within the healthcare community of professionals and their patients.

One particular area of healthcare has the potential to decrease the severity of the problem by offering a cost-effective alternative, which focuses on non-traditional medical techniques aimed to alleviate the burdens or symptoms of an illness and to improve mood and overall well-being of the patient. These non-traditional medical techniques, commonly referred to as complementary and alternative methodologies, are increasingly being employed in the healthcare setting to treat individuals in a variety of health states. Complementary and alternative medicine (CAM), a classification for therapies that are different from and viewed as harmonious with conventional

or allopathic biomedicine, is being assimilated and institutionalized in a variety of settings (Sharf et al, 2012). Complementary medicines are therapies used together with conventional medicine and alternative medicines are therapies used in place of conventional medicine (Yildirim, 2010).

Under the umbrella of Complementary and Alternative Medicine techniques, one modality offered in hospitals and other medical establishments that has shown to be effective for both health and costefficiency is music as therapy (Walker, 2012). Music Therapy is the clinical and evidence-based use of music interventions to accomplish individualized goals within a therapeutic relationship (AMTA, 2014). Music can be designed to promote wellness, manage stress, alleviate pain, express feelings, enhance memory, improve communication and/or promote physical rehabilitation (AMTA, 2014). The prevalent use of music in healthcare is well documented in the literature to combat the aforementioned problem of stress and anxiety as well as for the use of other mental health and physical states of care-receivers' well being.

Statement of the Problem

This problem of rising health care costs is significant because patients are living longer and this ageing demographic is contributing to an increased need for treatment. Additionally, there is a relationship between the extent of perceived burden of the non-professional caregiver and the nursing home placement of the care receiver (Schindler, 2012). The greater the reported burden of the caregiver, the more likely the care receiver is to move to a nursing home. A reduction in the amount of care given by family members to care receivers would lead to an increase in public health costs. Therefore, the implications for delaying nursing home placement are great, indicating the need for an accessible, cost-effective strategy that could help family caregivers manage their loved ones at home, while maintaining their own life satisfaction (Hanser, Butterfield-Whitcomb & Kawata, 2011).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was two-fold. First, the purpose was to create, validate and test for reliability a Principal Investigator created survey instrument. This instrument entitled "The Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)" addresses five key constructs discussed in the literature surrounding the practices of prescribing health care practitioners.

Secondly, the purpose of this study was to use this validated and reliable survey tool in the population in order to help identify and understand the differences between physicians' (MD, DO) and non-physician practitioners' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations regarding music as a costeffective complementary and alternative medicine approach.

Variables

The five dependent variables in this study were recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations. The independent variables were the type of practitioner (physician or nonphysician practitioner).

Research Questions

The overarching research interest framing the dissertation study is as follows:

What are physicians' (e.g. MD, DO), and non-physicians' (e.g. nurse practitioners' (NP), nurse anesthetists' (NA), nurse midwives' (NM), physician assistants' (PA), clinical nurse specialists' (CNS)) recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach utilizing Empowerment/ Engagement Theory, Wellcare/Obamacare Ideologies, and Prochaska's Theory of Change Behavior as triangulated paradigms?

Broken out by practitioner type, the corresponding research questions and hypotheses are as follows below. The first set of research questions are merely descriptive in nature, and do not have accompanying hypotheses. These questions are merely based on understanding what each practitioner's understanding is of each of the domains identified.

Research Questions 1 to 5 address the physicians:

RQ1. What are physicians' (MD, DO) *recommending practices* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ2. What are physicians' (MD, DO) *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ3. What are physicians' (MD, DO) *attitudes* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ4. What are physicians' (MD, DO) *beliefs r*egarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ5. What are physicians' (MD, DO) *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Research Questions 6 to 10 address the non-physicians (by type of practitioner) along the same domain levels. This allows for the comparison later of two groups (physicians vs. non-physicians) and 5 major domain types.

RQ6. What are non-physicians' (NP, NA, NM, PA, CNS) *recommending practices* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ7. What are non-physicians' (NP, NA, NM, PA, CNS) *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ8. What are non-physicians' (NP, NA, NM, PA, CNS) *attitudes* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ9. What are non-physicians' (NP, NA, NM, PA, CNS) *beliefs* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

RQ10. What are non-physicians' (NP, NA, NM, PA, CNS) *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Finally, Research Questions 11 to 15 and their corresponding hypotheses address the differences between practitioner types and domains of CAM practice.

RQ11. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *recommending practices* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H11_a. Non-physician practitioners are more favorable in recommending music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

RQ12. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H12_a. Non-physician practitioners' perceptions of knowledge regarding music as a CAM therapy are higher than physicians' perceptions of knowledge regarding music as a CAM therapy.

RQ13. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *attitudes* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H13_a. Non-physician practitioners have more favorable attitudes toward music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

RQ14. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *beliefs* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H14_a. Non-physician practitioners have more favorable beliefs toward music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

RQ15. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H15_a. Non-physician practitioners have more favorable expectations toward music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

Significance of the Study

Because the use of CAM therapies for individuals with medical issues is a fairly new, rapidly progressing set of modalities, little is known as to the encouragement or lack thereof of these services to care-receivers and their caregivers by medical professionals. The literature is more heavily weighted on the positive side for use of these services, suggesting that it would be advantageous for medical professionals to recommend the use of music as a CAM service, but this has not been extensively quantified for evidence-based purposes. As previously stated, music is one of the most inexpensive and readily-available CAM treatments that is shown to be on the rise in healthcare as stated in the literature. Therefore, a study that dissects the physicians' and non-physician practitioners' recommending practices and their knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations regarding music therapy as a cost-effective CAM approach would be highly beneficial and significant.

Operational Definitions

There are four main constructs used in this survey instrument which are identifiable in the literature to survey instruments that are used to evaluate perspectives on a topic. These four constructs are perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and expectations. Perceptions of knowledge refer to what an individual perceives to know of the subject matter. Specifically, knowledge is defined as the range of one's information or understanding; the sum of what is known (ASA, 2014). A physician's knowledge comes from previous education, experiences and is also obtained through sources such as medical literature, lectures, and conversations with peers. Attitudes are defined as associations between an act or object and an evaluation; the tendency to evaluate a person, concept, or group negatively (Westen, 2003). Beliefs are described as an internal feeling that something is true, even though that belief may be unproven or irrational (Anderson and DeSilva, 2009). Expectations refer to the anticipation of a patient's behavior that is based on a knowledge and understanding of the person's abilities and problems (MMD, 2009).

An additional construct, recommending practices, is also being incorporated into this study because the recommending practices of healthcare professionals with regard to CAM therapies, specifically music as therapy, is the focus of the tool and dissertation study. Recommending practices are a suggestion or proposal as to the best course of action, especially one put forward by an authoritative body (MW, 2015).

In this document, Music Therapy refers to the formalized practice where music as therapy refers to the general practice of using music for therapeutic purposes, not necessarily with the use of a credentialed professional. Additional key words will be operationally defined as the text of this document progresses throughout the next few sections.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework is understood through a series of steps. Patient engagement refers to the communication among patients, family members, and healthcare professionals from the point of admission, meeting and/or visit (AHRQ, 2014). Engagement with the patient by the provider takes place initially. Dyadic relationship refers to two individuals maintaining a sociologically significant relationship (MW, 2014). The dyadic relationship is revealed in a two-fold way. The dyad between the practitioner and patient is developed and the dyadic relationship between the care-receiver (patient) and his/her informal non-professional caregiver is revealed during the office visit consultation. Subsequently, the practitioner begins to employ his/her recommending practices based on the interaction with the dyad. These recommending practices may not include recommendation of Complementary and Alternative Methodologies (CAM) such as Music Therapy. Patient outcomes refer to the condition of a patient at the end of a therapy or a disease process, including the degree of wellness and the need for continuing care, medication, support, counseling or education (MMD, 2009). Patient outcomes are the result of the recommendation (or lack thereof) of the CAM by the practitioner to the patient (Figure 1).

The major driving force surrounding this study and supporting the five key constructs is Cost-Effectiveness & Preventative Health Care Options under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA). This driving force focuses on the Complementary and Alternative Approaches to preventing illness before costs rise from treating diseases that are in late stages. Waiting to treat illness until a person is sick, instead of focusing on prevention, has had a direct effect on the rising health care costs in the U.S. and has caused many Americans to put off seeing a doctor until it's too late due to cost (OPC, 2015).

The main theory, Prochaska's Change Theory (a.k.a. Transtheoretical Model of Health Behavior Change), is aimed at defining the process of change in individuals whereby there are six stages (pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, maintenance, and relapse) which can be applied to the patient or caregiver (informal or formal healthcare professional) in decision making with regard to new approaches such as CAM therapy (Prochaska, 1997). Therefore, the framework suggests that an individual has certain perceptions of knowledge on a topic as well as attitudes, beliefs, and expectations regarding that topic. Then, when approached with a relatively new factor (e.g. CAM therapies to treat patients) as well as a driving force underlying that new factor (e.g. cost-effectiveness in Obamacare), the individual is left to make a decision and his/her current behavior (e.g. recommending practices) remains unchanged or he/she contemplates and adopts a change and takes action based on Prochaska's Theory (e.g. newly adopted recommending practices) (Figure 1).

11

Figure 2 is a diagram that was created by the PI as an additional way to illustrate the conceptual framework. The modern healthcare practitioner is confronted with many external forces (in this illustration, particularly, CAM therapies as possible medical approaches). The briefcase represents the recommending practices that are currently held by the practitioner. Possible change to core medical values is represented by Prochaska's Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change and illustrated in the center of the practitioner's suit. Knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations act as an umbrella to determine whether or not he/she will be swayed to change recommending practices by the incoming weather (i.e. Cam approaches). Walking on the tight rope illustrates external underlying driving forces, specifically cost-effectiveness and preventative health care under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.



© 2015 Paul F. Franco

Figure 1. Principal Investigator Self-Developed Conceptual Model of Five Constructs Triangulated by Three Theories. The shape and arrangement of the diagram is purposeful because it demonstrates how the initial "narrow-path" encounter of engagement with the underlying influence of preventative health eventually leads to an opened, broadened range of possibilities of outcomes for the patient.



Figure 2. Principal Investigator self-developed conceptual model of the modern health care practitioner depicting the plausibility for a change in recommending practices based upon practitioner's knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations as the umbrella to the practitioner's contemplation of change represented by Prochaska's Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change. Practitioner's knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations act as an umbrella to determine whether or not he/she will be swayed by the incoming weather (i.e. Complementary & Alternative Medical Approaches) to change his/her recommending practices. External underlying driving forces are the cost-effectiveness and preventative health care options under the Patient Protection & Affordable Care Act (PPACA).

Chapter II

REVIEW OF RELEVANT LITERATURE

Music Therapy – What Is It?

Complementary and alternative methodologies are increasingly being employed in the healthcare setting to treat individuals in a variety of health states. Complementary and alternative medicine (CAM), a classification for therapies that are different from and viewed as harmonious with conventional or allopathic biomedicine, is being assimilated and institutionalized in a variety of settings (Sharf et al, 2012). Music is one of the CAM therapies – a group that includes massage, aromatherapy, acupuncture and guided imagery that are increasingly being offered in hospitals and other medical establishments (Walker, 2012). Music Therapy is the clinical and evidence-based use of music interventions to accomplish individualized goals within a therapeutic relationship. Music therapy interventions can be designed to promote wellness, manage stress, alleviate pain, express feelings, enhance memory, improve communication and/or promote physical rehabilitation (AMTA, 2014). Music is a conduit that has the power to lift, transport and engage attention and response (Magill, 2008). As therapy, music can empower people to find their artistic selves and use their musical expression as a means for exploration and health; music provides the opportunity to communicate that which cannot be spoken (Richardson et al, 2008). Therapists seek to achieve
client/patient goals with music therapy by recognizing the affective, cognitive and sensory attributes of music (Finnerty, 2011).

What Music Therapy Involves

Since the establishment of music therapy as a profession, therapists have been using a wide range of musical interventions to address the physiological, psychological, spiritual and social needs of a variety of clinical populations (Young, L., 2009). Music can be passive whereby individuals can listen to music for calming purposes or to evoke emotions; however, the focus in the literature regarding music as therapy is on the active. Active music therapy deals with specific music selected for a specific patient. It is not limited to listening to live or recorded music, but rather can involve instrument playing, singing, songwriting and improvisation (PEM, 2009). Therefore, it becomes evident that each music therapy session is tailored to the individual receiving the therapy and is dependent on his/her age, learning ability, attention span as well as musical ability. An individual with little to no musical experience may receive the passive form before moving on to the active form of therapy once he/she has acquired enough musical training.

In addition, it is possible that for individuals with music capability, bouncing between active and passive type therapy can occur to accomplish a goal (AMTA, 2014). The instructor would determine this on a case-by-case basis when evaluating what will work best for the individual.

16

Use of Music Therapy as Treatment

The prevalent use of music therapy in healthcare is well documented in the literature. Music as therapy has been used for many illnesses and health states including, but not limited to: depression in adults, anxiety and stress, surgery, cancer patients, pain management, individuals with disabilities, terminally ill patients and geriatrics. There is an additional area in the literature focusing on therapy for caregivers for patients with the aforementioned conditions.

Depression in Adults. To lift moods and combat depressive characteristics in adults, music therapy has been employed as a non-invasive and inexpensive intervention (Figure 3). Chan et. al (2009) found that music is an effective method of reducing physiological and depression responses arising in a group of older people. It was suggested that music therapy may help nurses build therapeutic relationships with elderly patients, and nurses are encouraged to use music as part of their holistic caring for these patients. Similarly, in a study with a pre-post design involving a music intervention and no intervention and involving patients with depressive symptoms, depression levels showed a significant overall reduction through the use of music therapy services (Myskja, A. & Nord, P., 2008).

Study	Results
Chan (2009)	Statistically significant differences in depression scores, blood pressure, and respiratory rate in music group compared to control group
Myskja & Nord (2008)	Pre/post design involving music intervention and control showed significant overall reduction in depression levels through use of music therapy

Figure 3. Key studies in the literature on music as therapy for depression.

Anxiety and Stress. Arguably the largest area covered in the literature regarding music therapy and healthcare is for purposes of anxiety and stress (Figure 4). In a study analyzing the physiological signs of anxiety in patients receiving mechanical ventilatory support, it was found that respiratory rate and systolic and diastolic blood pressure were significantly reduced after completion of music therapy (Korhan, Khorshid and Uvar, 2011). It was suggested in this study that music has the ability to be used as a therapeutic tool for lowering respiratory rate and systolic and diastolic blood pressure, thereby reducing anxiety levels in critically ill patients. Similarly, in a study aimed to determine the effect of music on biochemical markers and self perceived stress among first line nurses, substantial evidence was found that a music intervention was effective in easing stress in high-stress workers (Lai & Li, 2007). It was suggested that managers should consider the use of music and its ability to induce relaxation in workers, primarily nurses, who care for patients daily. Furthermore, it has been shown that music can calm neural activity in the brain, which may lead to reductions in anxiety, and that it

may help to restore effective functioning in the immune system partly via the actions of the amygdala and hypothalamus (Stuckey & Nobel, 2010).

Study	Results
Lai & Li (2007)	In determining the effects of music on biochemical markers and self- perceived stress among first line nurses, results showed that music interventions case stress in high-stress workers
Stuckey & Nobel (2010)	Music can calm neural activity in the brain, leading to reductions in anxiety. Music may also help restore functioning in the immune system via amygdala and hypothalamus
Korhan, Khorshid, and Uvar (2011)	Respiratory rate and systolic and diastolic blood pressure were significantly reduced after completion of music therapy

Figure 4. Key supportive studies in the literature on music as therapy for stress and anxiety-related symptoms.

In contrast, in a study analyzing pre-procedural state anxiety and music listening, results from the measurement of various pre-procedural physiological parameters failed to reveal any consistent positive changes in patients who had listened to music (Gillen & Allen, 2008) (Figure 5). This calls into question the presumptions that music listening will decrease anxiety levels in individuals. Tseng et al (2010) had similar results in a study aimed to determine the effects of listening to music on postpartum stress and anxiety levels. According to this study, when postpartum women listened to relaxing music chosen from preselected designer music collections on a selfregulated basis in their own home, it did not result in a significant difference in their perceived stress and state anxiety levels.

Study	Results	
Gillen & Allen (2008)	Results from the measurement of various pre-procedural physiological parameters failed to reveal consistent positive changes from music listening	
Tseng et al. (2010)	No significant difference in postpartum women's anxiety and stress levels from listening to relaxing music	
Wakim et al. (2010)	Music does not appear to have major detrimental effects on the patient. Outcomes on future studies will be either positive or unchanged	

Figure 5. Key non-supportive and neutral studies in the literature on music as therapy for stress and anxiety-related symptoms.

With surgery. The majority of literature surrounding the use of a music intervention to treat anxiety levels involves pre and/or post-operative patients (Figure 6). Because anxiety levels are high prior to a surgical procedure, music therapy has been suggested for use to lower these levels in both the surgical waiting rooms and post-operative rehabilitation facilities. Allowing patients the option to choose how to spend their time prior to a surgical procedure can give them a sense of control or autonomy (Pfister, 2011). This autonomy can help them decrease anxiety levels that are much higher during feelings of helplessness or lack of control.

For patients receiving spinal surgery, music therapy has been shown to alleviate symptoms of anxiety. The results of one study indicate that patients undergoing spinal surgery had significantly lower indices of anxiety and pain after receiving music therapy and, in addition, music therapy had an effect on patients' mean blood pressure after surgery (Lin et al, 2011). Similarly, in a study on the effects of music preoperatively, music decreased the State-Trait Inventory Anxiety (STAI) tool in 31 patients awaiting gynecological procedures from admission to the surgical holding area until the time of surgery (Wakim et al, 2010). The results of this study led researchers to introduce the music option in conjunction with preoperative teaching when patients came in for their laboratory work.

In comparing the effect of bed rest with or without music on relaxation after coronary bypass grafting and/or aortic valve replacement surgery on postoperative day one, it was found that music listening used as audiorelaxation increased oxytocin levels and relaxation (Nilsson, 2009).

Study	Results
Plister (2011)	Anxiety levels decrease when autonomy is increased through patient participation in music therapy prior to a surgical procedure
Lin et al. (2011)	Patients undergoing spinal surgery had significantly lower indices of anxiety and pain and lowered mean blood pressure after receiving music therapy
Wakim et al. (2010)	STAI tool results from this preoperative study showed that music decreased anxiety in 31 patients awaiting gynecological procedures
Nilsson (2009)	Music listening used as audio-relaxation increased oxytocin levels and relaxation

Figure 6. Key studies in the literature on music as therapy for surgery and related anxieties.

Terminally III Patients. It has been reported that a single session

music therapy intervention can reduce anxiety and thereby improve quality of

life for terminally ill patients. In a study by Thompson & Grocke (2008), it was demonstrated that music therapy significantly reduces pain, tiredness and drowsiness as well in palliative care patients (Figure 7). In addition, it has been suggested that individualized music, music that is customizable to the preferences of the listener, can have a positive impact in individuals with terminally ill diagnoses (Gallagher, 2011).

Study	Results	
Thompson & Grocke (2008)	25 end-stage terminal disease participants showed significant reduction in anxiety, pain, firedness, and drowsiness.	
Gallagher (2011)	Individualized music, music that is customizable to the preferences of the listener, can have a positive impact in individuals with terminally ill diagnoses	

Figure 7. Key studies in the literature on music as therapy for terminally ill patients.

Cancer Patients. Music has been shown to have value in cancer care (Figure 8). Studies have shown that as many as 91% of individuals undergoing cancer treatment use some form of CAM, and individuals with a previous or current cancer diagnosis are more likely to use CAM than the general population (Perlman et al, 2013). When individuals are confronted with a life-threatening illness such as cancer, they may find it difficult to express themselves and their pains and fears. The melody and rhythm of music can serve as a channel through which these emotions can be expressed, perhaps by evoking a memory of a more positive time in their lives

(Richardson et al, 2008). In a study analyzing the effect of a music therapy session on cancer patients in a cancer ward, researchers found that distress levels decreased from 4.6 to 2.5 after musical intervention (Magill et al, 2008). The individualization or personalization that music therapy entails helps the patient to permeate a chaotic illness event, such as a cancer diagnosis, with meaning. Individualized explanations hold great potential for meaning in treatment and it is likely to create order in the personal chaos accompanying sickness (Dayken et al, 2007).

Study	Results	
Magill et al. (2008)	In analyzing the effect of a music therapy session on cancer patients in a cancer ward, results showed a decrease in distress levels from 4.6 to 2.5 units after musical intervention	
Magee and Brown (2008)	Optimum listening environment is key and establishing understanding of disabled patient's relationship with music	
Hooper (2010)	Strong positive correlation of 15 music pieces and the lowering of arousal levels in 48 intellectually disabled individuals	

Figure 8. Key studies in the literature on music as therapy for cancer patients and individuals with disabilities.

Pain Management. Another area in which music therapy has been supported to be effective is in pain management (Figure 9). Use of music therapy during outpatient procedures in both adults and children is associated with decreased procedure length and total narcotic use along with increases in satisfaction (Protacio, 2010). In addition, playing music for patients during or after surgery helps reduce pain and use of morphine and other sedatives, anxiolytics and/or analgesics (Kemper & Danhauer, 2005). There is also evidence of the effectiveness of auditory stimulation, together with a strong suggestion that such stimulation abolishes pain, as a strategy of achieving control over pain (Stuckey & Nobel, 2010). In analyzing the anxiety and painreducing effects of a music intervention in 22 trials, 13 of the 22 (59%) trials resulted in significant pain-reducing effects, reflected by decreased pain scores due to the music intervention (Nilsson, 2008).

Study	Results
Kemper & Danhauer (2005)	Playing music for patients during or after surgery helps reduce pain and use of morphine and other sedatives, anxiolytics and/or analgesics
Nilsson (2008)	59% of music intervention trials resulted in pain-reducing effects, reflected by decreased pain scores
Protacio (2010)	Use of music therapy during outpatient procedures in adults and children resulted in decreased procedure length and total narcotic use along with increased satisfaction.
Stuckey & Nobel (2010)	Evidence of auditory stimulation effectiveness whereby stimulation abolishes pain as a strategy of achieving control over pain

Figure 9. Key studies in the literature on the use of music as therapy for pain management.

Individuals with Disabilities. In addition to the areas of depression, anxiety/stress, terminally ill patients, cancer patients and the field pain management, another relevant group of individuals employing the use of music therapy involves those with disabilities (Figure 8). The literature suggests that when working with people who are severely disabled, music is simply one of the most readily available resources. A patient's musical preferences can be quickly determined from family members and, because of this, carers can share in a musical performance or enact a recorded musical intervention (Magee & Bowen, 2008). In order to develop appropriately used music as an intervention with individuals with complex disabilities, Magee and Bowen (2008) suggest establishing an understanding of the patient's relationship with music, create an optimum listening environment, structure the activity to meet the individual's needs, encourage expression of choice, plan the use of music, and manage emotional behaviors that might be triggered by the music. Similarly, Hooper et al (2010) stress the importance of planning and managing with regard to music interventions by the carer to the patient. It is crucial to introduce music that carers believe will be beneficial to the patient as well as appropriate for the time, individual and setting.

Geriatrics. Older adults have been highlighted as a key group for which music therapy has been the target (Figure 10). One of the most important ways to maintain optimal aging for older people is to continue to function at the highest level possible (Yin, 2010). Music therapy is noted in the literature as aiding individuals in functioning at their best and improving quality of life. Quality of life is defined as individuals' perceptions of their position in life in the context of the culture and value system in which they live, and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns (WHO, 2001). When working with older people, the use of music can help healthcare professionals give compassionate, affordable health care for older people while increasing their quality of life (Yin, 2010).

Music therapists have recently extended their work to older adults to improve memory, identity and health for those with dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Memory may fail in many ways, but a melody will be retained as a means to weave memories into a fabric of reality (Sorrell, 2008).

Study	Results
Yin (2010)	One of the most important ways to maintain optimal aging for older adults is to continue to function at the highest level possible
Sorrell (2008)	Melodies are retained as a means to weave memories into a fabric of reality in Domentia and Alzheimer's patients

Figure 10. Key studies in the literature on music as therapy for Geriatrics and individuals with Dementia.

Settings of Music Therapy

Music used for therapeutic purposes is documented in the literature as having been performed in a variety of settings (Figure 11). The hospital setting is most commonly used as the ideal environment for a music therapist and patient. Research on the use of music activity in the hospital health-care setting has ranged from acute inpatient care, coronary care, critical care and oncology settings (Chan et al., 2009). Studies of patients listening to music in Intensive Care Units suggest that patients represent a heterogeneous population with respect to physiological outcomes following music therapy (Chan et al, 2009). Hospitals also have employed the use of music within operating rooms. The use of music as an anesthetic adjunct during monitored anesthesia care cases in operating rooms can reduce the amount of sedation required, speed recovery time, and prevent the likelihood of converting to a general anesthetic (Newman et al, 2010).

Music therapy has also been employed in the school setting. Music therapists are often hired in schools to provide music therapy services listed on the Individualized Education Plan for mainstreamed special learners. Music learning is used to strengthen nonmusical areas such as communication skills and physical coordination skills which are important for daily life (AMTA, 2014).

Hospice and nursing home facilities have been using music therapy for terminally ill and geriatric patients, respectively, and there is an emphasis on music interventions for palliative care in the literature (Leow, 2011). Music is used with elderly persons to increase or maintain their level of physical, mental, and social/emotional functioning. The sensory and intellectual stimulation of music can help maintain a person's quality of life (AMTA, 2014). Additionally, home care has employed the use of music for care of patients and caregivers (Schmid & Ostermann, 2010).

Setting	
Acute inpatient care, coronary care, critical care, oncology	
(Chan et al., 2009)	
Operating Rooms The use of music as an anesthetic adjunct during monitored anesthesia reduces amount of sedation required, speeds recovery time	
(Newman et al., 2010)	
Hospice, nursing home, palliative care	
(Leow, 2011)	
Home Care Music therapy for patients and caregivers	
(Schmid & Ostermann, 2010)	
Schools Individualized Education Plans are using music therapy to strengthen communication and physical coordination skills	
(AMTA, 2014)	

Figure 11. Settings of Music Therapy according to the literature. Music as therapy is used in many medical settings including operating rooms, cancer centers, hospice, nursing homes, palliative care and home care. Schools also employ music as therapy for many students under individualized education plans.

Perspectives of Music Therapy in Healthcare

There are many perspectives present on the effects and reliability of music as a therapeutic intervention in healthcare practices. The literature is divided on the "goodness" of the intervention as well as the negative connotations music may have.

Perceived Goodness. Music's potential for expanding individual or collective creativity, its capacities for reflecting back to society aspects of its current state, or its function as a mode of change or indeed any possibility of potential for harm might consequently be minimized by the insistence that music always be helpful in servicing aims of social good, and must create transformational opportunities for those who experience it (Edwards, 2011). Viewing the music therapy interventions as opportunities to transform a patient empowers the caregiver or therapist into utilizing the therapy to the best of his/her potential. Patient-selected music soothes, comforts, familiarizes the medical procedural environment, provides distraction from the procedure and allows the patient autonomy (Protacio, 2010). The previously mentioned statement reveals how music therapy has the potential to create autonomous qualities in an individual who may feel powerless within his/her illness. This positive outlook on the possible effects of music therapy is abundant in the literature; however, there are some negative connotations associated with music as therapy.

Negative Connotations. CAM therapies are not conventional so they are not endorsed by normal medical practice and not regulated by normal medical oversight organizations like the American Medical Association. People usually pay for CAM treatments, services and products themselves out-of-pocket because insurance plans do not cover most, if any, CAM therapies (Sharf, et al, 2012).

Furthermore, in surveying nurses on their perspectives of using music therapy in their discipline, O'Kelly and Koffman (2007) found that there were concerns raised as to the potentially intrusive nature of the music therapy, with references to a fear of the music therapy or its potential to "hit the wrong spot." Special consideration must be given to patients who may uncover unanticipated emotions that they are not ready to deal with.

Ethical/Legal/Cultural Issues

While music therapy has been shown in the literature to be effective for different health factors, the newness of the field can make it susceptible to certain ethical, legal and cultural issues.

Ethical. The therapist has certain goals in mind when working with the disabled individual and certain ethical principles can help guide the basis for these goals (Ridley, 2009). There are several ethical issues surrounding music therapy. Autonomy (the right of the patient), beneficence (act of doing good), nonmalfeasance (doing no harm), distributive justice (the greatest amount of care for the greatest amount of people), fidelity (faithfulness and

fiduciary responsibilities) and veracity (the act of truth telling) all must be taken into consideration when working with individuals in the music therapy setting (Ridley, 2009).

As previously mentioned, care must be given to avoid harming the individual receiving the music therapy intervention. Ethical concerns, which surround bringing up painful emotions, tie into a negative perception of the therapy. A tune can trigger memories of nostalgic events and memories of positive childhood or adult experiences, but equally has the ability to evoke an unpleasant memory, and therefore may bring back negative experiences to which the therapist must treat in a sensitive manner (Swann, 2008).

To be ethical, music therapy must be safe and do no harm to the patient. Safety of the patient must be at the forefront. Music is safe as long as it is used in place of standard care where there are considerations such as volume, music preference and an awareness of cultural differences between patients (Kemper & Danhauer, 2005). Since music therapy and other alternative therapies are non-invasive and non-pharmaceutical, they are considered safe treatments for patients because surgery is not performed and drugs are not administered (Gardstrom, 2008). Because music does not appear to have any major detrimental effects on the patient, outcomes will either be positive or unchanged (Wakim et al, 2010).

Legal. Protections are in place for children with special needs and one of them is the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Civil rights protections

31

are provided on the basis of race, color, sex, national origin, age and religion. Furthermore, it guarantees equal opportunity for individuals with disabilities. Title II of this act prohibits discrimination against individuals with disabilities in all programs, services and activities:

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 gives civil rights protections to individuals with disabilities similar to those provided to individuals on the basis of race, color, sex, national origin, age, and religion. It guarantees equal opportunity for individuals with disabilities in public accommodations, employment, transportation, State and local government services, and telecommunications. (ADA, 2012)

Similarly, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act ensures services to children with disabilities throughout the nation. The Act governs how states and public agencies provide early intervention, special education and related services to more than 6.5 million eligible infants, toddlers, children and youth with disabilities (IDEA, 2012).

Under the code of federal regulations, title 34, definitions are provided for special education and special related services. Special education under part 300.26 is in short defined as either speech-language pathology services or other related services, physical education, travel training and vocational education. Special related services under part 300.24 is in short defined as transportation and such developmental, corrective, and other supportive services as are required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education, and includes speech-language pathology and audiology services, psychological services, physical and occupational therapy, recreation, including therapeutic recreation, early identification and assessment of disabilities in children, counseling services, including rehabilitation counseling, orientation and mobility services, and medical services for diagnostic or evaluation purposes. The term also includes school health services, social work services in schools, and parent counseling and training (IDEA, 2012).

Therefore, whether ADA/IDEA will provide inclusion of music therapy services within its covered services is totally a case by case basis and dependent on the evaluations made by the therapist at that time. For individuals in which music therapy is found to not be necessary, the service is not deemed a related service under IDEA. Those individuals will have to pay out-of-pocket if they believe music therapy is necessary and wish to receive this treatment.

Cultural. Music therapists face challenges when working with those from diverse origins as cultural values and styles are embedded in musical preferences (Magill, 2008). As with any form of treatment, the therapist must be aware of cultural differences and language barriers that may cause unintended miscommunication or understanding to occur. Special consideration must be taken into account when the music therapy session involves lyrics that may be sensitive to an individual due to cultural beliefs or background (AMTA, 2014).

Cost-Effectiveness

Music therapy may have a direct cost-benefit by reducing medication costs and improving staff utilization (Romo & Gifford, 2007). Improved quality indicators, improved patient outcomes and improved working conditions all contribute to a positive financial benefit in healthcare from the use of music therapy. Mainstream medicine is beginning to take note of a shift in patients' attitudes and actions and the effectiveness of integrative medicines. Holistic practices address the need for patient involvement by emphasizing partnerships which impact healing. Therefore, mainstream practitioners have begun to accept complementary modalities as legitimate and cost-effective, and a new generation of physicians refer patients to complimentary providers (Sharf et al, 2012). In Italy, the daily cost for each resident in a nursing home is between 70 and 100 euro, and it is estimated that music therapy interventions are equivalent to 1/70th of the daily cost of care (Bellelli & Trabucchi, 2012). That estimate gave rise to suggestions that the intervention deserves attention by directors of nursing facilities in light of the large number of patients affected by dementia and other agitated behavioral psychosocial problems.

In a study to determine the cost-effectiveness of music therapy used in place of sedation for medical procedures, results showed a 100% success rate of eliminating the need for sedation for pediatric patients receiving ECGs, an 80.7% success rate for pediatric CT scan completion without sedation and 94.1% success rate for all other procedures (DeLoach, 2005). It was suggested that from this analysis, if even half of the reported cases received music therapy and eliminated the need for sedation and subsequent RN supervision, \$228,450.00 could potentially be saved annually for that one hospital. Furthermore, in fifteen studies, analgesic use was measured as an outcome of pain and in seven of these studies (47%), the music intervention resulted in a significant decrease in the use of analgesics (Nilsson, 2008). The decrease in the use of analgesics suggests a cost-savings benefit for the treatment of the particular patient receiving the therapy.

Figure 12 highlights the main themes with corresponding studies that were found throughout the literature on music as therapy and CAM.

THEME	STUDY
CAM therapies are on the rise	Sharf et al, 2012 Yildirim, 2010
Music therapy is used in a variety of settings for many health states	AMTA, 2014 Protacio, 2010 Kemper & Danhauer, 2005
Anxiety & Stress from illness large factor in choosing to use Music Therapy	Lai & Li, 2007 Stuckey & Nobel, 2010 Korhan et al, 2011 Chan et al, 2009
Music therapy empowers individuals in their health	Magill, 2008 Richardson et al, 2008 Finnerty, 2011 Sorrell, 2008
Cost-effectiveness	Romo & Gifford, 2007 Bellelli & Trabucchi, 2012 DeLoach, 2005

Figure 12. Key themes in the literature and the corresponding studies pertaining to music as therapy and/or CAM.

Chapter III

METHODOLOGY

Introduction

This dissertation took place in several steps. First, creation and validation of a new survey instrument took place through several rounds of the Delphi Technique (herein referred to as the "Delphi") by a panel of experts. Subsequently, participants were recruited through several organizations/associations as well as through social media outlets. Participation by members who fit the inclusion criteria eventually allowed for reliability of the survey instrument to be obtained. Conclusion of data collection yielded the process of data analysis which will be discussed herein.

Research Design

This dissertation study which focuses on using the newly created and validated tool is non-experimental in nature because it is survey-based. It is descriptive, exploratory, cross-sectional and correlational. Demographic characteristics of the sample were organized and summarized through a descriptive design. The study is exploratory because it involves examining a phenomenon of interest and exploring its dimensions. It is cross-sectional because it involves the collection of data at one point in time. A correlational design was used to explore if a relationship exists between practitioners' perceptions of knowledge of CAM and their recommending practices of CAM, specifically music as therapy.

Instrument Development: Delphi Technique

The Delphi is a group facilitation technique which seeks to obtain consensus through expert opinions from a series of structured questionnaires that are completed anonymously by the panelists (Hasson, 2000) in order to establish validity of the tool. Approval by the research committee members of the Principal Investigator of this research study (herein referred to as "PI") to create and validate a new survey instrument can be found in the Agreement for Delphi Process form in Appendix A and approval from the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board (IRB) can be found in Appendix E.

This Delphi study involved 6 experts. Five or more individuals is a reasonable number of participants according to Armstrong (1985). The selection of the experts involved non-probability sampling techniques, specifically, purposive sampling. In purposive sampling, participants are not selected randomly. Rather, they are selected for a purpose, to apply their knowledge to a certain problem. Recruitment of participants who have knowledge and an interest in the topic help to increase the content validity of the Delphi. The purpose of the Delphi is to forecast whether or not the proposed questions will be appropriate for eventual implementation into a survey used within a sample of the population.

The Delphi technique is a series of rounds interspersed by controlled feedback, that seek to gain the most reliable consensus of opinion of a group of experts (Linstone & Turoff, 1975). 80% consensus is generally required in order for the Delphi to have been considered effective and the tool to have established validity (Hasson, 2000). Once consensus was reached on the construct variables and survey questions and statements, the tool was considered to have validity.

The Delphi technique is based upon the assumption of safety in numbers (i.e. several people are less likely to arrive at a wrong decision than a single individual). Six individuals were targeted and contacted who met the inclusion criteria for participation in the Delphi study as expert reviewers of the new survey tool (Appendix B).

These individuals were selected based upon their level of knowledge and experience in the fields of medicine, health sciences, survey research, CAM and/or specifically music therapy. One music therapy expert (PhD level) representing the Director Board of the American Music Therapy Association, one health science expert in yoga (PhD level), one Doctor of Chiropractic (PhD level), one expert in survey design and research (PhD level) and two physicians (one Doctor of Medicine and one Doctor of Osteopathy) formed the Delphi panel of experts for this process in the study.

Assessing Validity

This Delphi technique is intended to establish validity of the tool, specifically face and content validity. Construct validity was assessed as part of the Factor analysis process.

Face validity was used to determine if the test seems to measure what it is intended to measure (Alreck & Settle, 2004). The experts analyzed the validity of the test at face value by looking at whether the test *appeared* to measure the target variable. This was established through a Survey Worksheet which was created for the expert reviewers, in which they were asked if each variable/question measures the concept and if it was clear or not. The initial Round 1 Survey Worksheet was sent and completed by all expert panelists of the Delphi (Appendix C).

Content validity was used as the estimate of how much a measure represented every single element of a construct (Alreck & Settle, 2004). Content validity was also established through the Survey Worksheet, which asked the experts to provide in the comments section their thoughts on whether the survey statement should be removed or appended (Appendix C).

Once expert panelists completed the Round 1 Survey Worksheet (Appendix C), PI reviewed the responses, edits and suggestions of the panelists and prepared a condensed, version of the initial Survey Worksheet for Round 2 (Appendix D). This shortened worksheet only contained the survey statements/questions that were shown to need correction or revision based upon the panelist responses from Round 1. Upon completion of Round 2 in which 80% consensus was reached by the expert panelists, the Delphi Process was considered complete.

Construct validity is the appropriateness of inferences made on the basis of observations or measurements as to whether a test measures the intended construct (Anastasi, 1988). Construct validity was established through the Cronbach's Alpha Factor Analysis.

Principal Investigator Created Tool

The Principal Investigator created tool was entitled, "The Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)" [*pronunciation: jee-cam-tuh*]. This survey instrument addresses the following five constructs: *recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations* (Appendix G).

Recommending Practices refer to a suggestion or proposal as to the best course of action, especially one put forward by an authoritative body (MW, 2015). Examples of the GCAMTA Likert statements that address this variable include the following:

- "I do not mind spending extra time with patients discussing possibilities other than the norm for treating their health matters."
- "I prefer my patient visits to be short in time."
- "I would refer patients to CAM therapies."

The full list of statements pertaining to the *Recommending Practices* variable can be found in Figure 13.

Recommending Practices

- Before receiving a medical recommendation, patients like to be engaged in "small talk."
- Before giving a medical recommendation, I like to engage patients in "small talk."
- Before making medical recommendations, I find that patients want me to discuss current trends in healthcare related to patients' specific medical concerns.
- It is important to me as a healthcare provider to spend time discussing with patients current trends in healthcare related to their specific medical concerns.
- 5. I prefer my patient visits to be short in time.
- I do not mind spending extra time with patients discussing possibilities other than the norm for treating their health matters.
- Patients would appreciate me discussing CAM therapies with them.
- 8. Patients want me to recommend CAM therapies to them.
- Patients would appreciate me discussing music therapy with them.
- 10. Patients want me to recommend music therapy to them.
- 11. I would refer patients to CAM therapies.
- 12. I would refer patients to music therapy.

Figure 13. Likert statements for the *Recommending Practices* variable. The twelve statements are in no particular order. For the order in which each statement appears within the GCAMTA, see Appendix G.

Perceptions of Knowledge refer to what an individual perceives to know of the subject matter (i.e. perceptions of knowledge of CAM or perceptions of knowledge of Music Therapy). Knowledge, specifically, refers to the range of one's information or understanding; the sum of what is known (ASA, 2014). A physician's knowledge comes from previous education, experiences and is also obtained through sources such as medical literature, lectures, and conversations with peers (ASA, 2014). Examples of the GCAMTA Likert statements that address this variable include the following:

- "CAM therapies are increasingly being recommended to patients by healthcare professionals."
- "Music therapy can help reduce pain in patients."
- "Music therapy may prevent patients from being placed into nursing homes by their caregivers."

The full list of statements pertaining to the *Perceptions of Knowledge* variable can be found in Figure 14.

	Perceptions of Knowledge
1.	At times, caregivers feel burdened by their responsibilities with the person for whom they care.
2,	At times, patients feel they are burdening their caregiver due to their health needs.
3.	Care-receivers can become anxious when their caregiver is anxious.
4.	Caregivers can become anxious when their care-receiver is anxious.
5,	CAM therapies are increasingly being recommended to patients by healthcare professionals.
б.	The changes that have taken place in the health care system toward cost-effectiveness have encouraged providers to recommend CAM therapies to a greater extent.
7.	Music therapy is increasingly being recommended to patients by healthcare professionals.
8.	Certain CAM therapies can help reduce pain in patients
9.	Music therapy can help reduce pain in patients
10.	Certain CAM therapies can reduce patient anxiety.
11.	Music therapy can reduce patient anxiety.
12,	Treating the anxiety of a patient with certain CAM therapies can reduce the anxiety of his/her caregiver.
13.	Treating the anxiety of a patient with music therapy can reduce the anxiety of his/her caregiver.
14,	Treating the anxiety of a caregiver with certain CAM therapies can reduce patient anxiety.
15,	Treating the anxiety of a caregiver with music therapy can reduce patient anxiety.
16.	Music therapy has been found to be beneficial in a variety of age groups.
17.	It is required that patients know how to play a musical instrument before partaking in music therapy services.
18.	There is very little scientific evidence documenting the therapeutic effects of music.
19.	There is a benefit to music as therapy being provided in the medical setting.
20.	CAM therapies have the potential to lower hospital costs.
21.	Music therapy has the potential to lower hospital costs.
22,	Music therapy may prevent patients from being placed into nursing homes by their caregivers.

Figure 14. Likert statements for the *Perceptions of Knowledge* variable. The twenty-two statements are in no particular order. For the order in which each statement appears within the GCAMTA, see Appendix G.

Attitudes are associations between an act or object and an evaluation; the tendency to evaluate a person, concept, or group positively or negatively (Westen, 2003). Attitudes can be expressed as the way a person expresses or applies their beliefs and values, and is expressed through words and behavior (eg. *I get really upset when I hear about cruelty to children and animals*, or *I hate school*) (Anderson and DeSilva, 2009). Examples of the GCAMTA Likert statements that address this variable include the following:

- "I am unimpressed with CAM therapies as medical approaches."
- "Music is a negative distraction to me in the healthcare setting."
- "I am a lover of music."

The full list of statements pertaining to the *Attitudes* variable can be found in Figure 15.

Attitudes

- I am not supportive of medical approaches that are nonconventional.
- I consider myself more conservative than open-minded regarding new treatment modalities.
- 3. I like change.
- I am wary of medical approaches that may be considered a "popular, new trend in healthcare."
- 5. I am optimistic about CAM approaches in general.
- I am unimpressed with CAM therapies as medical approaches.
- 7. Listening to music relaxes me.
- If background music was played at work, it would have a relaxing effect on me.
- In general, I prefer silence instead of music for relaxation purposes.
- Music is a negative distraction to me in the healthcare setting.
- 11. I am a lover of music.

Figure 15. Likert statements for the *Attitudes* variable. The eleven statements are in no particular order. For the order in which each statement appears within the GCAMTA, see Appendix G.

Beliefs refer to an internal feeling that something is true, even though that belief may be unproven or irrational (eg. *I believe that walking under a ladder brings bad luck*, or *I believe that there is life after death*) (Anderson and DeSilva, 2009). Examples of the GCAMTA Likert statements that address this variable include the following:

- "Both mind and body must be treated for the patient to regain complete health."
- "Positive effects of music therapy are, in most cases, due to placebo effect (treatment given to meet a patient's expectation to get well)."
- "Music therapy is too expensive to be employed in hospitals."

The full list of statements pertaining to the *Beliefs* variable can be found in Figure 16.

Beliefs Both mind and body must be treated for the patient to 1. regain complete health. Music therapy should be used for end of life patients. 2. Music therapy should not be used along with other 3. conventional medical therapies. Music therapy should not be used along with other CAM therapies. 5. Hospitals should provide CAM therapy services. 6. Hospitals should provide music therapy services. 7. I think certain CAM therapies can have a long-lasting benefit to the patient. I think music therapy can have a long-lasting benefit to the 8. patient. Positive effects of CAM therapies are, in most cases, due to 9. placebo effect (treatment given to meet a patient's expectation to get well). Positive effects of music therapy are, in most cases, due to 10. placebo effect (treatment given to meet a patient's expectation to get well). Music therapy benefits are worth the costs. 11. 12. Music therapy is too expensive to be employed in hospitals.

Figure 16. Likert statements for the *Beliefs* variable. The twelve statements are in no particular order. For the order in which each statement appears within the GCAMTA, see Appendix G.

Expectations refer to the anticipation of a patient's behavior that is based on a knowledge and understanding of the person's abilities and problems (MMD, 2009). Examples of the GCAMTA Likert statements that address this variable include the following:

- "I expect a patient who employs a form of CAM such as music therapy along with their regular treatment to have more positive patient outcomes than a patient who does not."
- "I expect CAM therapies to grow in acceptance among healthcare providers."
- "I expect music therapy to grow in acceptance among individuals seeking medical care."

The full list of statements pertaining to the *Expectations* variable can be found in Figure 17.

Expectations

- I expect a patient who employs a form of CAM such as music therapy along with their regular treatment to have more positive patient outcomes than a patient who does not.
- I do not expect most patients to continue a CAM therapy past the first session of trying that therapy.
- If I provide enough supportive information for the use of a CAM therapy such as music therapy, I expect my patient to seek out that therapy.
- I expect CAM therapies to grow in acceptance among healthcare providers.
- I expect CAM therapies to grow in acceptance among individuals seeking medical care.
- I expect music therapy to grow in acceptance among healthcare providers.
- I expect music therapy to grow in acceptance among individuals seeking medical care.

Figure 17. Likert statements for the *Expectations* variable. The seven statements are in no particular order. For the order in which each statement appears within the GCAMTA, see Appendix G.

The GCAMTA had 64 statements/questions based on a 5 point Likert scale ranging from *Strongly Agree* to *Agree* to *Neutral* to *Disagree* to *Strongly Disagree* (Likert, 1931) (Figures 18 and 19).

Twenty-eight additional questions were asked referring to the caregiver/care-receiver dyad as well as general procedures of the practitioners' profession. These were not included in the statistical analyses but may be used for future research.

Thirty-three (33) demographic-type questions which ask the practitioners specific questions regarding their current and past referral of individual CAM therapies followed the GCAMTA survey (Figure 20) (Appendix H). The survey averaged a 12 minute completion time.
labal Complementar	y/Alternative and	Music Tharapy	Assessment (GC	amta)			
CAMTA							
	_			375			
What is your professio	an7						
Physican (ND)		ē	Nume Mowite (NV)				
Physician (DD)		8	Alerer According (1)	AL			
Physician Assistant (PA)		C Christin Munic Special (CNS)					
Numi Practitionel (NP)							
Other (pression accord)							
1							
1							
For Physicians (MD, D	O), please specify a	us of specialty pr	actice, if any.				
The second s	STATISTICS STATISTICS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRES	Provide the second states	and the second state of th				
These first set of state	merita focus ou vou	r initial accounts	with the options. O	anoniver refers to			
These first set of state	ments focus on you al giver of care to th	r initial encounte: a individual/patier	with the patient. C	aregiver refere to pre-receiver), typi	a cally a family memb		
These first set of state in professional/inform friend. Plasse select:	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agres, Agr	r inilial encountes a individual/paties as, Neutral, Disag	with the patient. O It receiving care (cr ree or Strongly Dis	arogiver refers to sre-receiver), typi agree for each of	a cally a family memb- the following		
These first set of state in professional/inform friend. Please soloct: atoments:	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Strongly Agree	r initial encounte s individus/patier se, Neutral, Disag	with the patient. G It receiving care (cr rec or Strongly Dis Vector	aregiver refers to are-receiver), typi agree for each of Damme	a cally a family membe the following Strangy Dausse		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Pisase select: atoments:	mente focus en you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr arongly Agree	r initial encounte o individual/patier se, Neutral, Disag Agnes	with the patient. O st receiving care (c ree or Strongly Dis Neutral	arogiver refers to sre-roceiver), typi agree for each of Diugme	a cally a family membr the following String v Dispire		
These first set of state opprofessional/inform friend. Please select: atoments: information atoms scatteredation, asturns	menta focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agn - Strongly Agree	r initial encounte: 5 individual/patier 50, Noutral, Disag Agris	with the patient. G It receiving care (c ree or Strongly Dis Nates	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree	a cally a family membe the following Stongy Disiphe		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Plasse select: atoments: Setue receive a receive economic atoms we re se engagem in year law."	mente focus en you al giver of care te th Strongly Agree, Agr Strongly Agree	r initial encountes s individual/patier se, Neutral, Disag Agree	with the patient. C It receiving care (c. ree or Strongly Dis Nates	anogiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagnes	a cally a family membrished to be bring v Diagne		
These first set of state by professional/inform friend. Please select: atoments: entre receive a rectore commendation patterns was to se engaged in year to se engaged in year to se record	mente focus en you al giver of care te th Strongly Agree, Agn Brongly Agree	r initial encountes a individual/patier se, Neutral, Disag Agres	with the patient. O It receiving care (c. ree or Strongly Dis Heatral	aregiver refers to ore-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagnes	a cally a family membe the following Shingy Diagne		
These first set of state in professional/inform friend. Pisaue soloci: atoments: entrue receive a rectore econnection satures with the company in small lab." Exten giving a medical economic dation. The to record	mente focus en you al giver et care te th Strongly Agree, Agr Brangly Agree	r initial encountes a individual/patier as, Neutral, Disag Agres	with the patient. C In receiving care (c rece or Strongly Dis Heatral	aregiver refers to pro-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagnes	a cally a family membrish the following Shungv Disigne		
These first set of state in professional/linform friend. Pisane solock atoments: entrue received a module scenario of engaged in enalities." Before giving a module scenario of the so- regaps attents of "small at."	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Brangly Agree O	n initial encountes a individual/patier as, Neutral, Disag Agres	with the patient. O th receiving care (c rece or Strongly Dis Number	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diugnis	a cally a family membri the following Brings Disigne		
These first set of state on professional/linform friend. Pisane soloci: atomants: entre received a notice set on engaged in enal las." Entre pung a matical economication, i like to repage attents of "imal ats"	mente focus en you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Strongly Agree O	n Initial encountes a Individual/patien en, Neutral, Disag Agres	with the patient. G It receiving care (cr rece or Strongly Dis Neutral	anogiver refers to pro-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree O	a cally a family membe the following Strings Despite		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Please soloci: storments: entre-volume a neorogeneous entre-volume a neorogeneous entre-volume a neorogeneous entre-volume a neorogeneous estimation a neorogeneous estima	mente focus en you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Barargy Agree O	n Initial encountes s Individual/patiev ee, Neutral, Disag Agrist	with the patient. G It receiving care (cr receiving care) Number	anogiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree	a cally a family member the following Strongy Designe		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Please solect: storments: exercise organy in medical exercise organy in erail last.* entre sole organy in erail last.*	mente focus en you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agn Strongly Agree O	Agriss	with the patient. C It receiving care (c rece or Strongly Dis Natural	anogiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree O	a cally a family mombe the following attemps Designe		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Please solect: storments: entre receive a network set of a network a network set of a network a network receive a network a network receive a network a network receive a network and set of a network and se	mente focus en you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agn Strongly Agree 	Agriss	with the patient. C It receiving care (c receiving care) Numm O	anogiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree O	a cally a family member the following attempt Designe 0		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Please solect: storments: ether receive a needed economic and the solect statement of a needed receive a needed needed	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Strongly Agree 	Agris	with the patient C th receiving care (c rece or Strongly Dis Numm O	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Otogree O	a cally a family membe the following attengy December 0		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Pisase solect: atoments: bitm manyorg a neduce commendation patterns wants be engaged in provide the sole register of the sole register of the sole register of the sole register of the sole is ' bitm gatematics' the sole is gatematic word in a to books sumed model in solema.	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Brangly Agree C	n Initial encounter s Individual/patier se, Neutral, Disag Agree	with the patient C threeolying care (ci ree or Strongly Dis Number	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree 0	a cally a family member the following Designer O		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Pisase solect: atoments: bitm manyog a neduct commendation patterns want be engaged in provide the sole register atom of the sole register atom of the sole register atom of the sole register atom of the sole is " bitm gatemit with the books sumed model to solema.	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Brangly Agree C	n Initial encounter s Individual/patier set, Neutral, Disag	with the patient C threeolying care (ci ree or Strongly Dis Number	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree 0	a cally a family member the following control of the following control		
These first set of state in professional/inform friend. Pisase solect: atoments: Ethns receiver a neores exercise of a neores intercent of the sole register of the sole the register of the sole the	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Brangly Agree C	n Initial encounter s Individual/patier set, Neutral, Disag	with the patient C threeolying care (ci reeo or Strongly Dis Number	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree 0	a cally a family member be following control of the following control o		
These first set of state in-professional/inform friend. Pisase solect: atoments: bitm manyorg a neduce commendation patterns wants be engaged in provide the sole register at the sole is the register at the sole is the sole is the sole is the register at the sole is the sole is the register at the sole is the sole is the register at the sole is the sole is the sole is the sole is the register at the sole is the sole	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Barangly Agree C	r Initial encounter s Individual/patier se, Neutral, Disag Agriss	with the patient C threeolying care (ci reeo or Strongly Dis Number O	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree 0	a cally a family member befollowing control of the following control of		
These first set of state on-professional/inform friend, Please solect: atoments: Entre reasoning a needes exercisedation, saturns wante be organized provide the sole organized intern guing a medical exercisedation, 1 like to rigage saturation (1 which rigage saturation) (1 which is saturation) (1 which is saturation) (1 which is saturation) (1 which is saturation) (1 which is right and which is saturation) (1 w	ments focus on you al giver of care to th Strongly Agree, Agr Strongly Agree	Agriss	with the patient C threeolying care (ci ree or Strongly Dis Number O	aregiver refers to pre-receiver), typi agree for each of Diagree 0	a cally a family member be following control of the following control o		

Figure 18. Snapshot of the beginning of the Global Complementary/ Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA) as found on SurveyMonkey®. This figure illustrates the start of the GCAMTA that asks participants to disclose their profession and area of specialty practice, if any. The main GCAMTA Likert questions immediately follow. Information on the full survey can be found in Appendix G.

SETON HALL UNIVERSITY



* 5. The next set of statements continue to focus on Complementary/Alternative Medicine (CAM) and Music Therapy, a type of CAM. Please select: Strongly Agree, Agree, Neutral, Disagree or Strongly Disagree for each of the following statements:

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
I am optimistic about CAM approaches in general.	۲	0	Ō	0	Ō
I am unimpressed with CAM therapies as medical approaches.	0	\odot	0	۲	\odot
Listening to music relaxes me.	0	0	0	0	0
If background music was played at work, it would have a relaxing effect on me.	0	0	0	0	Ö
In general, I prefer silence instead of music for relaxation purposes.	0	0	0	۲	0
Music is a negative distraction to me in the healthcare setting.	0	0	0	ø	Ö

Figure 19. Snapshot of the middle questions of the Global Complementary/ Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA) as found on SurveyMonkey®. This figure illustrates the middle of the GCAMTA that asks participants to rate their attitudes of CAM on a Likert scale ranging from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree. Additional GCAMTA Likert questions immediately follow. Information on the full survey can be found in Appendix G.

Global Complementary/Alte	motive and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)
Demographic Questions	
1	1 NR
	I manual test lines and Webbarran Associations and international
	 Laboration Provide and a subgroup operation of an end of a subgroup of a
7. What is your gender?	
O Nate	
C Female	
I. What is your age?	
0 wi-w.	
0.31.40	
0.47634	
0 37 60	
O RT-ME	
0.15-	
8. Please select all degrees and	Her sertificates that you have obtained with regard to your aducation.
Ciercificate	
Buccalauroune	
Mappin	
1.000	
- Programman (
Crush former short/	
10 Number of years in profess	lon:
\$	

Figure 20. Snapshot of the demographic survey as found on SurveyMonkey®. This figure illustrates the demographic survey that asks participants to disclose their gender, age, education, years in profession as well as additional perspectives on CAM as it pertains to their particular work environment(s). Additional demographic questions immediately follow. Information on the full demographic survey can be found in Appendix H.

Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

In order to be included in the research study, participants had to be **a** physician (e.g. M.D. or D.O.) and/or non-physician healthcare professional (e.g. (N.P. or P.A. or N.A. or N.M. or C.N.S.) and had to have a license to practice in the United States as well as be adults 18 years of age or older and be an English speaking/reading individual.

Participants were excluded if they did not meet the inclusion criteria. Additionally, research-based non-practicing individuals did not qualify, as they had to have a license to practice in order to participate (Figure 21).

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria		
Physician (e.g. M.D. or D.O.) and/or	Is NOT a Physician (e.g. M.D. or D.O.) or		
Non-Physician Practitioner (e.g. N.P. or P.A. or N.A. or N.M. or C.N.S.) and	Is NOT a Non-Physician Practitioner (e.g. N.P. or P.A. or N.A. or N.M. or C.N.S.) and		
Must have license to practice in U.S.	Do NOT have license to practice in U.S.		
Adults 18 years of age or older	Individuals below 18 years of age		
English speaking/reading individuals	Non-English speaking/reading individuals		

Figure 21. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for participants for survey instrument.

Participant Recruitment

Upon approval by the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board (IRB) (Appendix E), survey participants who met the inclusion criteria were recruited through the following organizations: *National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists, American College of Nurse Midwives* and *New York State Academy of Family Physicians* (Appendix F).

Subjects were recruited through snowball sampling. Snowball sampling is based on the assumption that people with like characteristics, behaviors or interests, form associations, and it is this relationship, which the researcher uses to select a sample (Hek and Moule, 2006). One prime example of snowball sampling took place through social media outlets.

Social media. Survey research on physicians and other medical professionals is much different than research conducted on the general population (Sudman, 1985). Work schedules of physicians and other medical professionals are demanding with little time available for participation in surveys. Additionally, physicians represent an elite population and are asked often to participate in survey research. These individuals, specifically, have receptionists or other "gatekeepers" which makes it more difficult for researchers to contact these medical professionals directly for recruitment. Because of this, response rates with physicians average roughly ten percent points lower than studies using the general population (Flanigan, McFarlane, Cook, 2008). Due to the aforementioned, regular paper-survey mailings

and/or fax mailings were avoided for all the medical professionals. In addition to the associations that were contacted for solicitation of their membership, social media was also employed to recruit participants for the practitioner groups. Social media acted as a direct conduit to physicians and nonphysician practitioners in order to recruit these individuals for participation in the study. Facebook[™] approved groups, Twitter[™] and LinkedIn® were employed to recruit participants.

For Facebook[™] as a recruitment method, the PI had to be approved by the administrators of closed group pages. PI had to provide information on the parameters of the study and why there was an interest in joining the group since the PI was not a nurse practitioner or physician assistant, etc. Once approved, PI was able to join the closed group and share a brief post to the page containing the link to the study (Figure 22). From there, other Facebook[™] users commented on PI's posts and the link was snowballed from there to achieve participant numbers.

For Twitter[™] as a recruitment method, the PI tweeted medical professionals (i.e. physicians and non-physician practitioners) asking them to share the survey link to their followers. Tweets were sent out using appropriate hashtags as to attract the necessary medical professionals. The tweet was one sentence long and this allowed it to be concise enough as per Twitter[™]'s policies (Figure 23).

57

	F 1.0.01.025 1 102520	
	11000	
Search this group		۹
Paul Franco		24
of healthcare practitioners with regard to Con Medicine. I really hope you can participate an which will help expand the literature on APNs Medicine. The survey should only take 10 min www.surveymonkey.com/s/GCAMTA Thank you so much!	nplementary/Alternativ nd help contribute to th s with respect to Integr nutes and is available	e is study ative at;
Global Complementary/Alternativ Assessment (GCAMTA) Survey	ve and Music The	rapy
SURVEYMONKEY.COM		
June 24 Community		

Figure 22. Sample FacebookTM post created by PI for recruitment of medical professionals on FacebookTM. This particular page was for nurse practitioners. PI used similar postings on other closed group pages on FacebookTM. Of most importance in these types of postings is the survey link, the target population, and the average time needed for survey completion. For privacy purposes, there is a black strikethrough for the name of the administrator of this particular FacebookTM closed group.



Figure 23. Sample tweets used by PI for recruitment of medical professionals on Twitter[™]. Of particular note is the change in language for the hashtag (#) in order for the tweet to be visible and attracted by different groups on the website.

For LinkedIn® as a recruitment method, the PI followed similar procedures as the Facebook[™] closed group pages whereby PI had to join the professional network and, once approved, post to the group page a short post with accompanying survey link (Figure 24).

Because the survey responses were anonymous and not collected from named individuals, it is not known how many responses specifically came from which social media outlet (e.g. Facebook[™], Twitter[™], LinkedIn[®]).



out by sparing roughly 10 minutes to give some feedback on this topic at the below link, I would be grateful.

The link to the questionnaire is: www.surveymonkey.com/s/GCAMTA Show less

Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)

Figure 24. Sample LinkedIn® post created by PI for recruitment of medical professionals on LinkedIn®. This particular networking page was for medical doctors. PI used similar postings on other closed network pages on Facebook[™]. Of most importance in these types of postings is the survey link, the target population, and the average time needed for survey completion. A similar vetting process as Facebook[™] takes place on LinkedIn® for entering these closed network groups.

Data Coding & Analysis

Data were exported from SurveyMonkey® into Microsoft Excel. Following this was the creation of column variables and cases with eventual transfer into SPSS software version 23 (IBM, 2015) (Figure 25). PI coded the data from string variables into numeric variables (Figure 26). Each column variable was given a label by the PI based on the survey statement for easy viewing. These labels typically were the first few words of the survey statement. Group, profession and specialty variables were coded as nominal measures. The Likert scale data were recoded into ordinal measures. Data were then numerically coded based on the variable (Figure 28). The group variable was coded as either 1 for physicians or 2 for non-physician practitioners. Likert scale statements were coded on a scale from 1 to 5, based upon respondents' answers: Strongly Agree (5), Agree (4), Neutral (3), Disagree (2), Strongly Disagree (1).

Reverse coding of negative Likert scale items took place and then recoding into new variables. For example, a negative statement such as "I prefer silence instead of listening to music for relaxation purposes," would be reverse coded. For this process, if the respondent chose "Strongly Agree," this would be coded as 1 instead of 5. This would affect the overall score for the *Attitudes* variable to make it reflect a more conservative/less favorable towards CAM result. A new column with the recoded data for this variable statement was created to reflect the negative disposition of the way the statement was constructed by the PI.

Finally, computation of dependent variable summations led to final variables for the reliability assessment of the tool (Figure 28). This process entailed summing the scores of each of the statements according to the variable that they fell under. For example, each of the 22 items of the *Perceptions of Knowledge* variable were summed to provide an overall *Perceptions of Knowledge* score for Respondent Case #1 and then Respondent Case #2, etc. Summations were calculated through the Transform \rightarrow Compute function in SPSS. A new variable was created with a label (e.g. Recommending_r) and each of the statements under the original *Recommending Practices* variable were summed through a numeric expression which provided the new variable was then used for the statistical analyses.

This eventually condensed the data into the practitioner group vs. one overall score for each dependent variable per respondent, totaling 544 respondents, each of one particular practitioner group (1 or 2) and having one total score per dependent variable (*Recommending Practices, Attitudes, Knowledge, Beliefs, and Expectations*). This led to the final abridged database.

63

The final abridged database contained the group independent variables as either physician or non-physician practitioner as well as the five dependent variables that were previously summed based on their individual Likert statement scores (Figure 29).

After the main GCAMTA data were coded, the demographic survey was coded accordingly based on the aforementioned process.

	Group	Profession	Specialty	BeforeReceiving	BetareGoing	BeforeMaking	10
E	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.,		Strongly Agreie	Strongly Agree	Neutral	Agree
2	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C		Strongly Agree	Agree	Agree	Agree
1	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC.		Agree	Ages	Neimial	Neutral
4	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC.		Agree	Agree	Agree	Neutral
5	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.,		Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Agree
6	Non-Physician	Clinical Norse Specialist IC		Oxsagree	Disagree	Agree	Agene
r.	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C		Apres.	Agree	Agree	Strongly
8	Non-Physician	Clinical Norse Specialist (C.,		Agree	Disagrize	Agree	Strongly
9	Non-Physician	Clinical Norse Specialist IC		Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagre
10	Non-Physiclan	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.		Neutral	Agree	Agree	Agree
11	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.)		Agree	Agree	Agree	Strongh
12	Non-Physician	Clinical Nutse Specialist (C.		Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree	Agree	Agree
13	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC		Neutral	Neutral	Disagree	Neutral
14	Non-Physician	Clinical Nume Specialist IC		Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree	Disagnie	Neiztal
15	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC.		Agree	Agree	Neutral	Agree
16	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC		Agrite	Strongly Agree	Neutral	Apree
17	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC		Neutral	Neutral	Agree	Strongh
18	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C		Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree	Agree	Nextal
19	Non-Physician	Clinical Nume Specialist (C.,		Strongly Agree	Strongly Agene	Neutral	Agree
10	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.,		Neutral	Neutral	Agene	Strongh
11	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.,		Agree	Agree	Strongly Apres	Strengty
22	Non-Physician	Clinical Narse Specialist (C.		Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Agree
23	Non-Physician	Clinical Nume Specialist IC.		Agree	Agent	Nestral	Agree
24	Non-Physician	Clinical Name Specialist IC		Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree	Strongly
25	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C		Strongly Agree	Scrongly Agree	Neutral	Neutral
26	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC		Neutral	Neutral	Strongly Agree	Strongh
27	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C		Apre	Agree	Disagree	Neutral
28	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist (C.		Agrze	Agree	Agree	Agez#
29	Non-Physician	Clinical Nurse Specialist IC		Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree	Strongly Apres	Strongh

(IBM, 2015)

Figure 25. Coding of Data: Main Database Spreadsheet. Snapshot of the main database spreadsheet after exportation from SurveyMonkey® into Microsoft Excel and then SPSS v. 23. This database is prior to coding by the PI.

	Name	Type	Width	Decimals	Label	Values	Missing	Columns	Align		deasure	Role
1	Group	Numeric	8	0		[1, Physicia	None	12	署 Right	de N	ominal	S Inpu
2	Profession	Numeric	31	0	What is your pr	[1, Physicia	None	19	署 Right	and N	lominal	🔪 Inpu
3	Specialty	String	97	Ø	For Physicians I,	None	None	14	를 Left	🙈 N	Iominal	🔪 Inpu
4	BeforeRecei	Numeric	40	0	Before receivin	(1, Strongly	None	14	🖺 Left	d C	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
5	BeforeGiving	Numeric	17	0	Before giving a	{1, Strongly	None	17	🖀 Left	- C	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
б	BeforeMaki	Numeric	17	0	Before making	{1, Strongly	None	13	🖀 Left	0	Irdinal	N Inpu
7	ItisImportant	Numeric	15	0	It is important	(1, Strongly	None	15	🖀 Left	C	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
8	ilikechange	Numeric	17	0	l like change.	(1, Strongly	None	17	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
9	idonotmind	Numeric	17	0	I do not mind s	(1, Strongly	None	17	🗃 Right		ordinal	N Inpu
0	bothmindan	Numeric	18	0	Both mind and	(1, Strongly	None	18	≣ Right	0	Indinal	S Inpu
1	attimescare	Numeric	20	ø	At times, careg	{0, False}	None	20	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
2	attimespati	Numeric	18	0	At times, patie	(0, False)	None	18	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
3	carereceive	Numeric	19	0	Care-receivers.,.	{0, False}	None	19	🔳 Right	0	Irdinal	🥆 Inpu
4	caregiverscan	Numeric	14	0	Caregivers can	{0, False}	None	14)	0	Irdinal	N Inpu
5	camtherapi	Numeric	17	0	CAM therapies	(0, False)	None	17	≣ Right	10	trdinal .	🥆 Inpu
16	thechanges	Numeric	12	0	The changes th	10, False}	None	12	🗃 Right	10	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
7	musicthera	Numeric	16	0	MT is increasin	(0, False)	None	13	🗏 Right		ordinal	S Inpu
8	certaincam	Numeric	12	0	Certain CAM t	(0, False)	None	12	🗃 Right		Indinal	🔪 Inpu
9	MTcan	Numeric	17	ø	MT can help re	{0, False}	None	17	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	S Inpu
20	certainCAM	Numeric	21	0	Certain CAM t	(0, False]	None	21	🗃 Right	- C	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
21	MTcanredu	Numeric	21	0	MT can reduce	{0, False}	None	21	🔳 Right	0	Irdinal	🥆 Inpu
2	Treatingthe	Numeric	20	0	Treating the a	{0, False}	None	20	這 Right	-0	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
13	Treatingthe	Numeric	20	0	Treating the a	(0, False)	None	20	🚎 Right	o	Irdinal	N Inpu
4	Treatingthe	Numeric	20	0	Treating the a	(0, False)	None	20	🗃 Right	40	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
25	Treatingthe	Numeric	20	0	Treating the a	(0, False)	None	20	🗮 Right)rdinal	N Inpu
6	MThasbeen	Numeric	17	0	MT has been f	10. False)	None	17	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	🔪 inpu
7	there is a ben	Numeric	18	ø	There is a ben	{0, False}	None	18	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	S Inpu
8	camtherapi	Numeric	18	0	CAm therapies	(0, False)	None	18	🗃 Right	_ C	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
29	MThas	Numeric	12	0	MT has the pot	{0, False}	None	15	🗃 Right	0	Irdinal	🔪 Inpu
10	MTmayprev	Numeric	14	0	MT may preven	{0, False}	None	14	🖀 Left	0	Irdinal	N Inpu
1	lamoptimistic	Numeric	17	Ð	1 am optimistic	(1, Strongly	None	17	🖀 left	10	Irdinal	N Inpu

(IBM, 2015)

Figure 26. Coding of Data (Variable View). Data coded by PI from string variables into numeric variables for statistical analysis.

	Craup	Profession	Speciality	BeforeReceiving	BeforeCiving	BeforeMaking	IttsImportant
1	2	7		5	5	3	4
2	2	7		\$	4.	4	4
1.	2	7		4	4	3	3
4	- 2	7		45	4:	4	1
5	2	7		2	2	4	4
6	3	7		2	ε	4	4
7	.2	17		4	4	4	1
	2	7		4	2	4	5
9	/2	7		4	4.	3	2
10	3	3		3	4	4	4
-11	2	7		4	4	4	\$
32	-2	37		5	5:	4	4
13	3	7		3/	3	2	3
- 14	2	7		5	5	2	3
- 15	2	7		4	80	3	4
16	2	7		4	§:	1	(4)
37	2	<i>x</i>		1 2	3:	4	\$
38	2	7		\$	£	4	3
19	3	7		5	¥:	3	4
20	2	3		31	3	4	5
21	3	7		4	4	5	5
-22	2	7		2	2	4	4
23	2	3		4	4	3	4
-24	4	7		5	5.	5	4
25	:2	.7		5	5	1	30
26	2	7		1	3	\$	\$
27	2	7		4	a.	2	3
28	2	7		4	4	-4	4
29	2	7		\$	5	\$	38
					In sector of	and a state of the	1000
					Data	Variable	VIEW

(IBM, 2015)

Figure 27. Coding of Data: Main Database Spreadsheet Post-Coding. Snapshot of the main database spreadsheet post-coding by the PI. Coding is 1 or 2 for practitioner group type and 1 to 5 for the Likert scale items (Strongly Disagree to Strongly Agree).

Taget Variable. Recommending_1 Recommending_1 Recommending_1 Type & Label For extension For extension Refore Receiving + Befored/wing + Refored/wing + ItsImportant + Idonocrimind + Iprefer_f + patter For Matis your profession Profession For Matis your profession Profession For Physicians (MD, DO), please spectry Partients/wartimeto + patternswouldappreciates + patternswartmeto2 + Iwouldreferpatients/or For Physicians (MD, DO), please spectry Partient (Formedia) For Physicians (MD, DO), please spectry Partient (Formedia) For Physicians (MD, DO), please spectry Patternswouldappreciates + patternswouldappre	Comput	ariable
Recommending.r Perfore Receiving + Before Giving	Numeric Expression:	
Type & Label Type & Label Type & Label Function for the second (Profession) Intercloin group: Intercloin group: Intercloin group: Intercloin gro	= BeforeReceiving + BeforeGiving	BeforeMaking + ItisImportant + Idonotmind + iprefer_r + patientswouldappreciate
Croup Must is your profession' (Profession') Must is your profession' (Profession') Function group a medical recommend. For Physicians (MD: D): please spectration (MD: D): please spectratin (MD: D): please spe	+ parentswammero + parents tientstoMT	
Function strong Function strong For Physicians (MD), physical procession Eefore receiving a medical recommend Before receiving a medical recommend Eefore receiving a medical recommend Before receiving a medical recommend Eefore making medical recommend Before receiving a medical recommend Eefore making medical recommend Before receiving a medical recommend Eefore making medical recommend Before making medical recommend Eefore making medical recommend Both mind and body must be treated At times, caregivers feel burdend At times, caregivers feel burdend At times, caregivers feel burdend Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-recerevers can become anxious whe		
Of on transmission of the change and factor receiving an edical recommend. All Before giving a medical recommend. Effore giving a medical recommend. Before giving a medical recommend. Effore giving a medical recommend. Refore making medical recommend. Effore making medical recommend. If is important to me as a healthcare. Effore making medical recommend. If is important to me as a healthcare. Effore making medical recommend. If ink change. Effore making medical recommend. If ink change stat take states before anyous. Effore and body must be track. Caree-receivers can before a Mit is increasingly being recommen If in (optional case selection condition) Mit is increasingly being recommen If (optional case selection condition) If (optional case selection condition) If (optional case selection condition)		Function group:
Before average intercent Antimetic Before average intercent Effore average intercent Before average Effore average Before average Effore At times, careagers feel burdened Effore At tinters, sean hercome anxious Effore	au, bui, prease spe	AI
Perfore making medical recommend If is important to me as a healthcare If is important to me as a healthcare If is important to me as a healthcare If if is important to me as a healthcare If is important to me as a healthcare If if is important to me as a healthcare If is important to me as a healthcare If if is introversion If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers feel by urdened If times, caregivers can become anxious whe If times, caregivers can become anxious whe If the changes that have taken place I If times, caregivers can be to redument If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I If the changes that have taken place I <td></td> <td>Arthmetic</td>		Arthmetic
It is important to me as a healthcare It is important to me as a healthcare It is change. filtikechangel It is change. filtikechangel It is change. filtikechangel It is change. filtikechangel It is change. filtikechangel Earce is burdened Both mind and body must be treate At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened Corregivers can become anxious when Corregivers can become anxious when Caregivers can become anxious when At times At times is the patient for the rapies an help red At times Mit is increasingly being recomment Correction condition It (optional case selection condition) It (optional case selection condition)	sedical recommend <= >= 4 5	6 CDF & Noncentral CDF
I like change. [ilikechange] I like change. [ilikechange] I do not mind spendim extra time w I do not mind spendim extra time w Both mind and body must be treate Both mind and body must be treate At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel burdened At times, patients feel they are burd At times, patients feel they are burd Date Creation Care receivers can become anxious Caregorers can become anxious whe Cost therapies are increasingly bein The changes that have taken pleate M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana commen M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therapies can heb red M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therapies can heb red M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therapies can heb red M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therapies can heb red M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therapies can heb red M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therapies can heb red M fis increases that have taken pleate Attain Cana Cana therater M fis (Difference can heb	me as a healthcare	Conversion
1 do not mind spending extra time w 1 do not mind spending extra time w 1 do not mind spending extra time w 8 doth mind and body must be treate 8 doth mind and body must be treate 1 mind and body must be treate A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd 1 mind and body must be treate A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd Com therapies are increasingly bein A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients feel they are burd A times, patients can be come anxious when Com therapies are increasingly being recomment A time case of the	kechange] * = ~= 1 2	3 Current Date/Time
Point mind and poory must be treated in times, caregivers feel burdened in times, caregivers feel burdened in times, patients are increasingly being recommen Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care-receivers can become anxious whe Care fees burdened in times, patients are increasingly being recommen Artain times, patients for times, patients are increasingly being recommen MT is increasingly being recommen Certain CAM therapies can help red Artain times, patients for times, patients are increasingly being recommen If (optional case selection condition) If (optional case selection condition)	ending extra time w	Date Creation
At times, patients feel they are burd Abs Care-receivers can become anxious whe Carepivers can become anxious whe CAM therapies are increasingly bein Abs The changes that have taken place 1 Atran MT is increasingly beins Cost MT is increasingly beins Cost MT is increasingly beins Cost MT is increasingly being recommen Cost MT can halo contron min in a strict In If (optional case selection condition) Reset Paste	ouy must be treaters	Functions and Special Variables:
Care-receivers can become anxious Arsin Caregivers can become anxious whe Arsin CAM therapies are increasingly bein Arsin Arran Arran Arran Arran <td>is feel they are burd</td> <td>A Abs</td>	is feel they are burd	A Abs
Caregivers can become anxious whe Artan CAM therapies are increasingly bein CAM therapies are increasingly bein The changes that have taken place i Exp MT is increasingly being recommen Lg10 Certain CAM therapies can help red Lg10 If (optional case selection condition)	an become anxious	Arsin
CAM therapies are increasingly bein Cost The changes that have taken place L Exp MT is increasingly being recommen Lg10 Certain CAM therapies can help red Lg10 If (optional case selection condition) If (optional case selection condition)	become anxious whe	Artan
The changes that have taken place L Exp MT is increasingly being recommen Lg10 Certain CAM therapies can help red Lg10 If (optional case selection condition) Rnd(1) Reset Paste	ure increasingly bein	Cos
If the formation of the form of the form of the formation	t have taken place i	Exp
If (optional case selection condition) Red(1) Red(2) Reset Paste	iy being recommen rables can helb red	3 5
If (optional case selection condition) Rnd(1) Rnd(2) Reset Paste Can	uea main in estimate	Lingamma
2 Reset Paste Car	nal case selection condition)	Mod Rnd(1)
2 Reset Paste Can		[Rnd(2]
	eset Paste	Cancel

(IBM, 2015) labeled (e.g. Recommending_r_) and computed through summation of the numeric expression of the addition of all variable statements associated with the dependent variable. Figure 28. Coding of Data: Data Computation Function. Creation of new target variable

	Group	Recommending_r	Knowledge_r	Attitudes_r	Beliefs_r	Expectations_r
596		20.00	20.00	21.00	10.00	
261	Non-Physician	39.00	:39.00	31.00	48:00	
262	Non-Physician	45.00	41.00	36,00	49.00	
263	Non-Physician	52,00	35.00	40.00	50.00	
264	Non-Physician	44.00	41.00	38.00	51.00	
265	Non-Physician	47.00	38.00	51.00	51.00	
266	Non-Physician	45.00	39.00	36.00	48.00	
267	Non-Physician	46.00	39.00	49.00	55.00	
268	Non-Physician	54.00	44.00	\$4.00	60.00	
269	Non-Physician	43.00	35.00	31.00	\$1.00	
270	Non-Physician	55.00	42.00	49.00	60.00	
271	Non-Physician	53,00	39.00	44.00	51.00	
272	Non-Physician	51.00	38.00	51.00	58.00	
273	Non-Physician	46.00	39.00	44.00	44.00	
274	Non-Physician	44.00	38.00	45.00	47.00	
275	Non-Physician	39.00	37.00	39.00	44,00	
276	Non-Physician	50.00	41.00	42.00	46.00	
277	Physician	43.00	36.00	33.00	39.00	
278	Physician	41.00	34.00	38.00	43.00	
279	Physician	39,00	42.00	40.00	43.00	
280	Physician	38.00	42.00	37.00	40,00	
281	Physician	40.00	41.00	38.00	42_00	
282	Physician	40.00	41.00	38.00	42.00	
283	Physician	42.00	41.00	38.00	42.00	
284	Physician	39.00	41.00	38.00	42:00	
285	Physician	36.00	41.00	38.00	42.00	
286	Physician	39.00	41.00	39,00	42.00	
287	Physician	40,00	41.00	39.00	42.00	
288	Physician	39.00	41.00	39,00	42.00	
inder.	Divirian	26 nri	41:00	20.00	42.00	

(IBM, 2015)

Figure 29. Coding of Data: Final Abridged Database. This is the final database coded by the PI representing the group Independent Variables (physician or non-physician practitioner) against the recoded 5 dependent variables (*Recommending Practices, Perceptions of Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs, Expectations*).

Reliability Assessment of the Tool

For the reliability assessment, a factor analysis using Cronbach's alpha was employed. For the demographic characteristics, the following descriptive statistics were gathered: means, standard deviations and frequencies. For the purposes of this dissertation study, a Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) was employed. Univariate Analyses of Variance (ANOVA) were used as follow-up tests. The goal was to have the new tool be considered valid (through the Delphi Panel of experts) and then accurate and precise which yields reliability (by using it in a sample of the population). Therefore, it is crucial that the tool measures what it is intended to measure and be consistent each time it is used. Factor analysis using Cronbach's alpha was used for construct validity as well as for reliability purposes.

The fourth illustration is the goal in which the tool is both valid and reliable (Mindsonar, 2015) (Figure 30).



⁽Mindsonar, 2015)

Figure 30. Four options representing how validity and reliability can vary independently. Any of the above combinations are possible: reliable but not valid, valid but not reliable, neither reliable nor valid and both reliable and valid (Mindsonar, 2015).

Reliability of the GCAMTA: All 5 Factors. The Cronbach's Alpha for the GCAMTA survey with all 5 variables combined is $\alpha = .944$ (Table I) which is considered excellent by George and Mallery (2011).

For the GCAMTA: All 5 Factors, there is no major fluctuation in any of the survey items if they were to be deleted (Table II). If one of the individual item statements was deleted from the survey on the whole, the Cronbach's alpha in this column should not change drastically. If the Cronbach's alpha does change drastically, it is an indication that this item may be weighted differently than the others and this would show an inconsistency in the survey statements.

Table I

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: All 5 Factors

	1
Reliability S	tatistics
The second se	
Cronbach's Alpha	Items

Table II

Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: All 5 Factors

	Item	-Total Statistics		
	Scale Mean if Item Deleted	Scale Variance if Item Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
Before receiving a medical recommendation, patients like ot be engaged in "small talk."	189.0662	481.753	.109	.944
Before giving a medical recommendation, I like to engage patients in "small talk."	189.3180	478.011	.198	.944
Before making medical recommendation s, I find that patients want me to discuss current trends in healthcare related to patients' specific medical concerns.	189.4430	481.197	.113	.944
It is important to me as a healthcare provider to spend time discussing with patients current trends in healthcare related to their specific medical concerns.	189.1636	478,421	.215	.944
l like change. I do not mind spending extra time with	189.4706	473.944	.364	.943

Note: Cronbach's Alpha If Item Deleted Column represents consistency of item statements where similar Cronbach's Alpha values exist for each item statement. This chart is only a snapshot and represents only a portion of the item statements and is not reflective of all the survey statements on the whole.

Reliability of the GCAMTA: Recommending Practices Reliability.

The Cronbach's Alpha for the GCAMTA for the Recommending Practices variable is $\alpha = .813$ (Table III), which is considered good by George and Mallery (2011).

For the GCAMTA: Recommending Practices Reliability, there is no major fluctuation in any of the survey items if they were to be deleted (Table IV). If one of the individual item statements was deleted from the survey on the whole, the Cronbach's alpha in this column should not change drastically. If the Cronbach's alpha does change drastically, it is an indication that this item may be weighted differently than the others and this would show an inconsistency in the survey statements.

Table III

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: Recommending Practices Variable

Scale: GC (Recomm Practi Reliabi	CAMTA ending ces) lity
Reliability S	itatistics
Reliability S Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items

Table IV

Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Recommending Practices Variable

Item-Total Statistics					
	Scale Mean if Item Deleted	Scale Variance if Item Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted	
Before receiving a medical recommendation, patients like ot be engaged in "small talk."	39.8603	25.597	.268	.814	
Before giving a medical recommendation, I like to engage patients in "small talk."	40.1121	24.663	.335	.810	
Before making medical recommendation s, 1 find that patients want me to discuss current trends in healthcare related to patients' specific medical concerns.	40.2371	25.853	.197	.821	
It is important to me as a healthcare provider to spend time discussing with patients current trends in healthcare related to their specific medical concerns.	39.9577	25.024	.345	.808	
l prefer my patient visits to be short in time.	40.5588	22.932	.423	.805	
I do not mind spending extra time with patients discussing possibilities other than the norm for treating their health matters.	39.7353	25.705	.255	.815	

Note: Cronbach's Alpha If Item Deleted Column represents consistency of item statements where similar Cronbach's Alpha values exist for each item statement. This chart is only a snapshot and represents only a portion of the item statements and is not reflective of all the survey statements on the whole for the variable.

Reliability of the GCAMTA: Knowledge Reliability. The Cronbach's Alpha for the GCAMTA for the *Perceptions of Knowledge* variable is $\alpha = .924$ (Table V), which is considered excellent by George and Mallery (2011).

For the GCAMTA: Perceptions of Knowledge Reliability, there is no major fluctuation in any of the survey items if they were to be deleted (Table VI). If one of the individual item statements was deleted from the survey on the whole, the Cronbach's alpha in this column should not change drastically. If the Cronbach's alpha does change drastically, it is an indication that this item may be weighted differently than the others and this would show an inconsistency in the survey statements.

Table V

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: Perceptions of Knowledge Variable



Table VI

Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Perceptions of Knowledge Variable

Item-Total Statistics				
	Scale Mean if Item Deleted	Scale Variance if Item Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
At times, caregivers feel burdened by their responsibilities with the person for whom they care.	34.92	62,060	.710	.920
At times, patients feel they are burdening their caregiver due to their health needs.	34.94	61.814	.697	.920
Care-receivers can become anxious when their caregiver is anxious	34.89	63.408	.605	.922
Caregivers can become anxious when their care- receiver is anxious.	34.89	63.583	.587	.921
CAM therapies are increasingly being recommended to patients by healthcare professionals.	35.14	60.819	.610	.920
The changes that have taken place in the healthcare system toward cost- effectiveness have encouraged providers to recommend CAm therapies to a greater extent.	35.40	61.622	.410	.926
MT is increasingly being recommended to patients by healthcare professionals	35.34	64.033	.258	.928

Note: Cronbach's Alpha If Item Deleted Column represents consistency of item statements where similar Cronbach's Alpha values exist for each item statement. This chart is only a snapshot and represents only a portion of the item statements and is not reflective of all the survey statements on the whole for the variable.

Reliability of the GCAMTA: Attitudes Reliability. The Cronbach's Alpha for the GCAMTA for the Attitudes variable is $\alpha = .806$ (Table VII), which is considered good by George and Mallery (2011).

For the GCAMTA: Attitudes Reliability, there is no major fluctuation in any of the survey items if they were to be deleted (Table VIII). If one of the individual item statements was deleted from the survey on the whole, the Cronbach's alpha in this column should not change drastically. If the Cronbach's alpha does change drastically, it is an indication that this item may be weighted differently than the others and this would show an inconsistency in the survey statements.

Table VII

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: Attitudes Variable

(Attitud Reliabi	les) lity
	tatiatia
Reliability S Cronbach's	N of

Table VIII

Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Attitudes Variable

Item-Total Statistics				
	Scale Mean if Item Deleted	Scale Variance if Item Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
I am a lover of music.	35.9063	26,162	.510	.789
Music is a negative distraction to me in the healthcare setting	36,3125	25.722	.436	.793
In general, 1 prefer silence instead of music for relaxation purposes.	36.4871	25.495	.372	.801
If background music was played at work, it would have a relaxing effect on me	36.3143	24.168	.550	.781
Listening to music relaxes me.	35.9007	25.574	.562	.784
l am optimistic about CAm approaches in general	36.3879	23.674	.634	.772
l am unimpressed with CAM therapies as medical approaches	36.3805	25.330	.512	.786
I am wary of medical approaches that may be considered a "popular, new trend in healthcare."	37.7739	24.894	.464	.791
l consider myself more conservative than open-minded regarding new treatment modalities.	37.0239	23,103	.495	.790
I am not supportive of				

Note: Cronbach's Alpha If Item Deleted Column represents consistency of item statements where similar Cronbach's Alpha values exist for each item statement. This chart is only a snapshot and represents only a portion of the item statements and is not reflective of all the survey statements on the whole for the variable.

Reliability of the GCAMTA: Beliefs Reliability. The Cronbach's Alpha for the GCAMTA for the Beliefs variable is $\alpha = .883$ (Table IX), which is considered good by George and Mallery (2011).

For the GCAMTA: Beliefs Reliability, there is no major fluctuation in any of the survey items if they were to be deleted (Table X). If one of the individual item statements was deleted from the survey on the whole, the Cronbach's alpha in this column should not change drastically. If the Cronbach's alpha does change drastically, it is an indication that this item may be weighted differently than the others and this would show an inconsistency in the survey statements.

Table IX

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: Beliefs Variable

(Belie	fs)
Reliabi	lity
Dallahiliter C	tatistics
Reliability S	
Cronbach's	N of
Alpha	Items

Table X

Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Beliefs Variable

Item-Total Statistics					
	Scale Mean if Item Deleted	Scale Variance if Item Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted	
MT is too expensive to be employed in hospitals.	42,2849	37.302	.298	.888	
MT benefits are worth the costs.	42.5882	32.777	.746	.863	
Positive effects of MT are, in most cases, due to placebo effect (treatment given to meet a patient's expectation to get well).	42.5827	36.015	.395	.884	
Positive effects of CAM therapies are, in most cases, due to placebo effect (treatment given to meet a patient's expectation to get well).	42.5901	35.889	.384	.885	
I think MT can have a long lasting benefit to the patient	42.5276	32.482	.754	.862	
I think certain CAM therapies can have a long- lasting benefit to the patient.	42.3382	32.530	.749	.863	
MT should be used for end of life patients	42.4816	32.795	.624	.871	
Hospitals should provide CAM therapy services	42.3750	32.452	.755	.862	
Hospitals should provide MT services	42.4559	32.296	.784	.861	
MT should not be used along with other conventional medical	41.9614	35.481	.518	.877	

Note: Cronbach's Alpha If Item Deleted Column represents consistency of item statements where similar Cronbach's Alpha values exist for each item statement. This chart is only a snapshot and represents only a portion of the item statements and is not reflective of all the survey statements on the whole for the variable.

Reliability of the GCAMTA: Expectations Reliability. The

Cronbach's Alpha for the GCAMTA for the Beliefs variable is $\alpha = .874$ (Table XI), which is considered good by George and Mallery (2011).

For the GCAMTA: Expectations Reliability, there is no major fluctuation in any of the survey items if they were to be deleted (Table XII). If one of the individual item statements was deleted from the survey on the whole, the Cronbach's alpha in this column should not change drastically. If the Cronbach's alpha does change drastically, it is an indication that this item may be weighted differently than the others and this would show an inconsistency in the survey statements.

Table XI

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics for the GCAMTA: Expectations Variable

Reliability S	lity
Reliability S	tatistic
Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items

Table XII

Item-Total Statistics for the GCAMTA: Expectations Variable

Item-Total Statistics					
	Scale Mean if Item Deleted	Scale Variance if Item Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted	
I expect a patient who employs a form of CAM such as MT along with their regular treatment to have more positive patient outcomes than a patient who does not.	22.4504	10.613	.657	.857	
If I provide enough supportive information for the use of a CAM therapy such as MT, I expect my patient to seek out that therapy.	22.2408	13.424	.242	.900	
l expect CAM therapies to grow in acceptance among healthcare providers.	22.3437	10.185	.866	.826	
l expect CAM therapies to grow in acceptance among individuals seeking medical care.	22.3217	10.233	.857	.828	
l expect MT to grow in acceptance among healthcare providers.	22.4614	10.146	.881	.824	
l expect MT to grow in acceptance among individuals seeking medical care	22.4485	10.211	.864	.827	
I do not expect most patients to continue a CAM					

Note: Cronbach's Alpha If Item Deleted Column represents consistency of item statements where similar Cronbach's Alpha values exist for each item statement. This chart is only a snapshot and represents only a portion of the item statements and is not reflective of all the survey statements on the whole for the variable.

A Priori G*Power Analysis

An *A Priori* G*Power Power Analysis for F Test MANOVA Global Effects was calculated to determine the sample size (Faul et al, 2009) (Figure 31). This study required a total sample size of 220 healthcare practitioners.

The effect size chosen was 0.06 (medium effect appropriate for a MANOVA). This is how strong the relationship is between the independent variable and the dependent variable. The alpha is set at 0.05 – the level of significance – the probability of detecting a type 1 error (false positive).

The Power (1-beta) is listed at .80 which is the probability of detecting a true relationship or group difference. Statistical power is the likelihood that a study will detect an effect when there is an effect there to be detected. Therefore, if the statistical power winds up being high, the probability of making a Type II error (concluding there is no effect when in fact there is one) goes down (Ellis, 2010).

The issue of sample size is an essential one, as it directly affects the statistical power of the study or the probability of detecting a true relationship or group difference (Polit and Beck, 2008, Portney and Watkins, 2009). A power analysis can reduce the risk for Type II errors (a false negative) by estimating in advance how big a sample is needed.

Figure 32 illustrates a flowchart summary of methodology up to and including the reliability assessment post-IRB approval from Seton Hall University.





Analysis: A priori: Compute required sample size

Input:	Effect size f ² (V)	=	0.06
	a err prob	=	0.05
	Power (1-β err prob)	=	0.8
	Number of groups	=	2
	Response variables	=	5
Output:	Noncentrality parameter λ	=	13.200000
	Critical F	=	2.2562550
	Numerator df	=	5.0000000
	Denominator df	=	214
	Total sample size	=	220
	Actual power	=	0.8012971
	Pillai V	=	0.0566038

Figure 31. A Priori G*Power Analysis to determine sample size. With an effect size of .06 appropriate for MANOVA, an alpha level set at .05, power of .80, two groups (physicians and non-physician practitioners) and five dependent variables (recommending practices, knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations), the expected and anticipated sample size is 220 participants for the survey instruments.



Figure 32. Flowchart summary of methodology up to and including the reliability assessment post-IRB approval from Seton Hall University.

Chapter IV

RESULTS

Introduction

This chapter focuses on the results of the statistical tests of the dissertation study.

Characteristics of the Sample

The sample consisted of both physicians and non-physician practitioners. Two hundred thirty seven (237) physicians (both MDs and DOs) completed the GCAMTA and three hundred seven (307) non-physician practitioners completed the GCAMTA.

Frequencies of Respondents. The rule of thumb is that groups are considered generally equal as long as the larger group is not 1.5 times greater than the smallest group (Stevens, 1999). For this study, the larger group, the non-physicians were 1.3 times greater the smallest group so the groups are generally considered equal.

As mentioned earlier, the *a priori* analysis required 220 respondents. This study achieved 544 respondents (Table XIII). Table XIII

Frequencies and Percentage of Total of the Two Independent Group Variables: Physician and Non-Physician Practitioner.

	Group					
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	Physician	237	43.6	43.6	43.6	
	Non-Physician	307	56.4	56.4	100.0	
	Total	544	100.0	100.0	In Possours	

Broken out by individual non-physician practitioner type, the most respondents were the Clinical Nurse Specialists at 18.6 percent, followed by the Nurse Midwives at 14.7 percent and then the nurse practitioners at 11.9 percent (Table XIV).

The smaller groups were the physician assistants and the nurse anesthetists. MDs accounted for 35 percent of all the responses.
Table XIV

Frequencies and Percentages of Total of the Respondents by Profession

What is	your profess	ion?		
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Physician (MD)	191	35.1	35.1	35.1
Physician (DO)	46	8.5	8.5	43.6
Physician Assistant (PA)	31	5.7	5.7	49.3
Nurse Practitioner (NP)	65	11.9	11.9	61.2
Nurse Midwife (NM)	80	14.7	14.7	75.9
Nurse Anesthetist (NA)	30	5.5	5.6	81,4
Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS)	101	18.6	18.6	100.0
Total	544	100.0	100.0	

U.S. Geographical Locations of Respondents According to Licensure. Respondents of the GCAMTA revealed locations well dispersed across the United States (Figure 28). PI was successful in obtaining responses from forty-seven (47) states. Figure 33 represents the notion that, if social media is adequately used to solicit participants for a survey with proper vetting of legitimate organizations, then solicitation and engagement of participants across the states nationally is attainable. Albeit a convenience sample, this does allow for inferences to be made regarding trends. In the demographic survey (Appendix H), participants were asked to reveal their state(s) of licensure as a healthcare practitioner. The option to provide more than one state, if this applied to any participant, was given. Therefore, some respondents of the survey included two or three states where he/she was licensed to practice and this is reflected within the numbers presented in Figure 34.

Results showed that respondents of the GCAMTA came from every state except Nevada, Wyoming and Iowa. The total number of active licenses within a state ranged from 1 to 124. The largest amount of respondents holding active licenses came from New York (124 licenses) and California (74 licenses), followed by New Jersey (50 licenses), Pennsylvania (23 licenses), Florida (22 licenses), Illinois (20 licenses) and Texas (21 licenses).

Broken down by practitioner type, the majority of physicians were licensed in New York. This is most likely due to the approval by the New York State Academy of Family Physicians as an organization used by the PI to solicit members. The other two approved organizations, the National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists and the American College of Nurse Midwives, were both U.S. national organizations and not specific to just one state and, thus, respondents were spread across the country. Therefore, broken down by practitioner type, there were no major trends as to what state the majority of nurse practitioners, nurse anesthetists, nurse midwives, clinical nurse specialists and physician assistants were licensed in.





State		Total # Active Licenses for this State from all Survey Respondents		State	Total # Active Licenses for this State from all Survey Respondents
1	Alabama	3 -	26	Montana	1
2	Alaska	5	27	Nebrasica	3
.3	Arizona	5	28	Nevada	0
4	Arkansas	2	29	New Hampshire	2
-5	California	24	30	New Jersey	50
-0	Colorado	1	31	New Menico	3
7	Continecticut	3	32	New York	124
11	Delaware	T.	33	North Carolina	17
9	Dorida	22	34	North Dakota	1
10	Genrgia	10	35	Ohio	15
11	Hawali	1	36	Oklahoma	6
12	Idabo	3	37	Oregon	- 10
13	Allinets	28	38	Pennsylvania	21
14	Indiana	6	39	Rhode Island	1
15	Jawa	0	40	South Carolina	6
16	Kansas	1	41	South Dakota	1
17	Kentucky	5	42	Tennessee	5
18	Louistana	280	43	Texas	21
19	Maine	4	44	Utah	1
20	Maryland	111	45	Vermont	2
21	MassachuseRs	7	46	Virginia	7
22	Michigan	6	47	Washington	13
23	Munesata	14	48	West Virginia	1
24	Missishippi	2	49	Wisconsin	8
25	Missouri	2	50	Wyoming	0

Figure 34. Distribution Table of Respondents According to Practitioner Licensure. Total # refers to the amount of practitioners who are currently licensed to practice within the corresponding state. Some survey respondents were licensed to practice in more than one state and these numbers are reflective of that. Results showed that the most respondents were licensed in New York and California, followed by New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Florida, Illinois and Texas.

Age of Respondents. The majority of respondents were in the middle age range, which is 30 to 60. The 51 - 60 age group had the highest number of respondents (Figure 35) (Table XV).



Figure 35. Clustered bar graph illustrating age of respondents according to two groups (physician and non-physician practitioner). The majority of respondents were in the 51 - 60 age range category for both groups.

The results for age for this study are on par with the trends in statistics in the medical profession. According to a census of actively licensed physicians in the U.S. in 2014, 70% of licensed physicians fell in the 30-59 age range (Young et. al, 2015). According to a study of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing and The Forum of State Nursing Workforce Centers 2013 National Workforce of RNs, the average age of nurses was 50 in 2013 (ANA, 2014). Similarly, according to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' 2012 national sample survey of nurse practitioners, the average age within the Nurse Practitioner workforce was 48 years and the largest age cohort of Nurse Practitioners, 55 to 59 year olds, represented nearly 18 percent of the NP workforce (HRSA, 2014).

Table XV

		What is y	your age?		_
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	18 - 30	29	5.3	5.4	5.4
	31 - 40	100	18.4	18.6	24.0
	41 - 50	132	24.3	24.6	48.6
	51 - 60	179	32.9	33.3	81.9
	61 - 69	82	15.1	15.3	97.2
	70	15	2.8	2.8	100.0
	Total	637	98.7	100.0	
	Missing	7	1.3		
Total		.544	100.0		1 .

Frequencies and Percentages of Total of Respondents According to Age

Gender of Respondents. More females than males took this survey. With both groups combined, 423 respondents were female and 118 respondents were male. Specifically, 52% of respondents were female nonphysician practitioners (Figure 36) (Table XVI).



Figure 36. Clustered bar graph of respondents according to gender. The largest group of respondents were female non-physician practitioners.

Table XVI

Frequencies and Percentages of Respondents According to Gender

	1	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	118	21.7	21.8	21.8
20114.1	Female	423	77.8	78.2	100.0
	Total	541	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	3	,6		
Total		544	100.0		

What is your gender?

Respondents' Years in Profession. With both groups combined together, the majority of practitioners had 21-30 years experience in their respective profession. Specifically, to note, 20.35% of physicians who answered this question had 21 – 30 years experience. 8 individuals had less than one year experience. Therefore, the majority of individuals who took the survey were experienced professionals (Figure 37) (Table XVII).



Figure 37. Clustered bar graph illustrating the years of experience in the profession according to group.

Table XVII

Frequencies and Percentages of Respondents for Years in Profession

		Years in Pr	ofession		
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Less than one year	8	1,5	1.6	1.6
	1-5 years	76	14.0	15.0	16.6
	6-10 years	58	10.7	11.5	28.1
	11-20 years	111	20.4	21.9	50.0
	21-30 years	158	29.0	31.2	81.2
	31+ years	95	17.5	18.8	100.0
	Total	506	93.0	100.0	
Missing	System	38	7.0		
Total		544	100.0		

CAM Therapy in Education. When asked the question, "Have CAM therapies ever been introduced to you in your academic studies?" more non-physician practitioners than physicians responded "Yes." More physicians than non-physicians responded "No." (Figure 38).



Figure 38. Clustered bar graph illustrating respondents' educational exposure to CAM. The results are reflective of the question "Have CAM therapies ever been introduced to you in your academic studies?"

Overall Impression of Music Therapy. For the most part, nonphysicians had positive impressions of music therapy. The majority of physician responses showed neutrality with regard to impression of music therapy (Figure 39).



Figure 39. Clustered bar graph illustrating respondents' overall impression of music therapy. The results are reflective of the question, "What is your overall impression of Music as Therapy?"

Descriptive Research Questions 1 to 10 Results

The following results refer to research questions 1 and 6: RQ1. What are <u>physicians</u>' (MD, DO) *recommending practices* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

AND

RQ6. What are <u>non-physician practitioners</u>' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) *recommending practices* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Descriptive Research Questions 1 and 6. There were many variables from the GCAMTA that were used to measure recommending practices for physicians and non-physicians. Figure 40 illustrates graphically one itemized variable from the survey that addresses this construct. The itemized variable from the survey is "I would refer patients to Music Therapy."

Physicians neither agree nor disagree that in their current recommending practices they would refer patients to music therapy. The blue bar in the bar chart shows that most physicians responded "neutral" when asked about their recommending practices which evidences a conservative approach to recommendation of CAM.

Non-physician practitioners either agree or strongly agree that they would refer patients to music therapy which evidences a liberal approach to recommending CAM.



Results for Recommending Practices

Figure 40. Descriptive Research Questions 1 and 6 results. Clustered bar graph illustrating respondents' answers by group to the recommending practices variable from the Likert statement, "I would refer patients to Music Therapy." The majority of the non-physician respondents agreed with the statement whereas the majority of the physician respondents replied "neutral" to the statement.

The following results refer to research questions 2 and 7:

RQ2. What are <u>physicians</u>' (MD, DO) *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

AND

RQ7. What are <u>non-physician practitioners</u>' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Descriptive Research Questions 2 and 7. There were many variables from the GCAMTA that were used to measure perceptions of knowledge for physicians and non-physicians. Figure 41 illustrates graphically one itemized variable from the survey that addresses this construct. The survey item used to illustrate the perceptions of knowledge is the following "Music Therapy has the potential to lower hospital costs."

For the most part, physicians neither agree nor disagree that music therapy has the potential to lower hospital costs. The blue bar in the bar chart shows that most physicians responded "neutral" when asked about this statement. Non-physician practitioners agree that music therapy has the potential to lower hospital costs. So, for research question 7, these practitioners perceive themselves to be knowledgeable of music as a costeffective CAM.





The following results refer to research questions 3 and 8: RQ3. What are <u>physicians</u>' (MD, DO) *attitudes* regarding music as a costeffective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

AND

RQ8. What are <u>non-physician practitioners</u>' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) *attitudes* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Descriptive Research Questions 3 and 8. There were many variables from the GCAMTA that were used to measure attitudes for physicians and non-physicians. Figure 42 illustrates graphically one itemized variable from the survey that addresses this construct.

The survey item used to illustrate these questions is the following: I am optimistic about CAM approaches (including music therapy) in general.

For the most part, physicians neither agree nor disagree regarding their optimism about CAM and music therapy. The blue bar in the bar chart shows that most physicians responded "neutral" when asked about this statement. They are conservative in their attitudes towards these modalities. Non-physician practitioners agree that they are optimistic regarding CAM and music therapy. These practitioners have liberal attitudes towards these modalities.



Figure 42. Descriptive Research Questions 3 and 8 results. Clustered bar graph illustrating respondents' answers by group to the attitudes variable from the Likert statement, "I am optimistic about CAM approaches (including Music Therapy) in general." The majority of the non-physician respondents agreed with the statement whereas the majority of the physician respondents replied "neutral" to the statement.

The following results refer to research questions 4 and 9:

RQ4. What are <u>physicians</u>' (MD, DO) **beliefs** regarding music as a costeffective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

AND

RQ9. What are <u>non-physician practitioners</u>' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) **beliefs** regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Descriptive Research Questions 4 and 9. There were many variables from the GCAMTA that were used to measure beliefs for physicians and non-physicians. Figure 43 illustrates graphically one itemized variable from the survey that addresses this construct.

The survey statement used to illustrate this is the following: "Hospitals should provide music therapy."

For the most part, physicians neither agree nor disagree that hospitals should provide music therapy services. The blue bar shows that most physicians responded "neutral" when asked about this statement. They are conservative in their beliefs about music therapy.

Non-physician practitioners agree that hospitals should provide music therapy. These practitioners have liberal beliefs towards these modalities.



Figure 43. Descriptive Research Questions 4 and 9 results. Clustered bar graph illustrating respondents' answers by group to the beliefs variable from the Likert statement, "Hospitals should provide Music Therapy services." The majority of the non-physician respondents agreed with the statement whereas the majority of the physician respondents replied "neutral" to the statement.

The following results refer to research questions 5 and 10: RQ5. What are <u>physicians</u>' (MD, DO) *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

AND

RQ10. What are <u>non-physician practitioners</u>' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Descriptive Research Questions 5 and 10. There were many variables from the GCAMTA that were used to measure expectations for physicians and non-physicians. Figure 44 illustrates graphically one itemized variable from the survey that addresses this construct.

The survey statement used is the following: I expect a patient who employs a form of CAM such as Music Therapy along with their regular treatment to have more positive patient outcomes than a patient who does not. For the most part, physicians neither agree nor disagree that patients who use CAM will have more positive patient outcomes. The blue bar shows that most physicians responded "neutral" when asked about this statement. They are conservative in their expectations about music therapy.

Non-physician practitioners agree that patients who use CAM will have more positive patient outcomes than those who do not. These practitioners have liberal expectations towards CAM and music therapy.



Figure 44. Descriptive Research Questions 5 and 10 results. Clustered bar graph illustrating respondents' answers by group to the expectations variable from the Likert statement, "I expect a patient who employs a form of CAM such as Music Therapy along with their regular treatment to have more positive patient outcomes than a patient who does not." The majority of the non-physician respondents agreed with the statement whereas the majority of the physician respondents replied "neutral" to the statement.

Research Questions 11 to 15 Results

Table XVIII refers to research question 11:

RQ11. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician

practitioners' recommending practices regarding music as a cost-effective

complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Table XVIII

Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the

Recommending Practices Variable

	Group	Mean	Std. Deviation	Z
RECOMMENDING	Physician	39.9958	1.56632	237
PRACTICES	Non-Physician	46.4072	4.85411	307
	Total	43.6140	4.94666	544

Descriptive Statistics

For the *recommending practices* variable, non-physicians had a higher mean of 46.41 than physicians who had a mean of 39.99. It is important to note that although there is an obvious difference in means between the two groups, it is unknown if this difference is significant until the main multivariate test results are discussed later herein. Table XIX refers to research question 12:

RQ12. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Table XIX

Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the Perceptions of Knowledge Variable

KNOWLEDGE	Physician	34.1139	10.89120	237
	Non-Physician	38.8958	4.22437	307
	Total	36.8125	8.20017	544

For the *perceptions of knowledge* variable, non-physicians had a higher mean of 38.89 than physicians who had a mean of 34.11. It is important to note that although there is an obvious difference in means between the two groups, it is unknown if this difference is significant until the main multivariate test results are discussed later herein. Table XX refers to research question 13:

RQ13. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *attitudes* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Table XX

Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the Attitudes Variable

ATTITUDES	Physician	36.4726	3.13744	237
	Non-Physician	42.9674	5.19794	307
	Total	40.1379	5.46758	544

For the *attitudes* variable, non-physicians had a higher mean of 42.97 than physicians who had a mean of 36.47. It is important to note that although there is an obvious difference in means between the two groups, it is unknown if this difference is significant until the main multivariate test results are discussed later herein. Table XXI refers to research question 14:

RQ14. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *beliefs* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Table XXI

Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the Beliefs Variable

BELIEFS	Physician	41.5570	3.71693	237
	Non-Physician	49.7329	5.65804	307
	Total	46.1710	6.36477	544

For the *beliefs* variable, non-physicians had a higher mean of 49.73 than physicians who had a mean of 41.56. It is important to note that although there is an obvious difference in means between the two groups, it is unknown if this difference is significant until the main multivariate test results are discussed later herein. Table XXII refers to research question 15:

RQ15. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

Table XXII

Descriptive Statistics Table Highlighting Means Per Group for the Expectations Practices Variable

EXPECTATIONS	Physician	23.3882	1.98115	237
	Non-Physician	28.1661	3.66155	307
	Total	26.0846	3.85800	544

For the *expectations* variable, non-physicians had a higher mean of 28.17 than physicians who had a mean of 23.39. It is important to note that although there is an obvious difference in means between the two groups, it is unknown if this difference is significant until the main multivariate test results are discussed later herein.

Statistical Assumptions

MANOVA has several assumptions: random sampling, independence of samples, and the requirement for larger sample sizes, all of which were satisfied (Field, 2009).

The samples are independent of each other (i.e. participant's scores on each dependent variable are independent from other participants' scores). As mentioned previously, there is a rule that sample sizes are considered equal as long as the larger group is not 1.5 times greater than the smallest group. Since this study had 307 participants in the larger group of nonphysicians and 237 participants in the smaller group of physicians, this was not an issue.

Box's Test is to determine if the population covariance between each pair of dependent variables is the same across groups/conditions (Field, 2009). (Table XXIII). Table XXIII

Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices

Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices"			
Box's M	746.462		
E	49.263		
dft.	15		
d12	1031317.620		
Sig.	.000		

성 것같 것 같은 것은 것입니 것 이 것이야? 나라

F(15, 1031317) = 49.26, p = .0001

Note. Although Box's Test is significant (p = .0001), it is understood that MANOVA is robust to violations of this assumption and, therefore, PI continued on to the multivariate tests and followed-up with univariate tests.

Box's Test showed significance which is most likely due to data that is

not normally distributed, however MANOVA is robust to violations in normality

and unequal covariance matrices so we can continue on to the MANOVA

results.

If there were 3 independent variable groups or more, Games-Howell,

Tamhane's T2 or Dunnet's C would have been employed but there were only

2 groups so these post-hoc tests were not employed.

Correlations of the Variables

The correlations between the variables should be between small to medium (0.3 to 0.7) (Field, 2009). As is evident by the Pearson Correlations in each column of each dependent variable in Table XXIV, the correlations between the variables are in the appropriate range.

Table XXIV

Pearson Correlations of the 5 Variables

	Correlations						
		Group	RECOMMENDING PRACTICES	KNOW- LEDGE	ATTITUDES	BELIEFS	EXPECT- ATIONS
Group	Pearson Correlation	1	.643	.289	.590	.638	.615
	Sig. (1-tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	544	544	544	544	544	544
RECOMMENDING PRACTICES	Pearson Correlation	.643	į	.250**	.681	.745	.714
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	544	544	544	544	544	544
KNOWLEDGE	Pearson Correlation	.289	.250	1	.266	.237	.205
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000
	N	544	544	544	544	544	544
ATTITUDES	Pearson Correlation	.590	.681	.266	1	.688	.642
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000
	N	544	544	544	544	544	544
BELIEFS	Pearson Correlation	.638	.745	.237	.688	1	.753
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000
	N	544	544	544	544	544	544
EXPECTATIONS	Pearson Correlation	.615	.714	.205	.642	.753	
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	
	N	544	544	544	544	544	544

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (1-tailed).

Note. Perceptions of knowledge and recommending practices are positively correlated (boxed r = .25). Significance is considered at the .01 level because of unidirectional hypotheses.

It is important to note that *perceptions of knowledge* and *recommending practices* are positively correlated (this result is boxed off in the chart). Significance is considered at the .01 level because the hypotheses are unidirectional and therefore, one tailed.

As practitioners' perceptions of knowledge of CAM increase, so do the recommendations of CAM by the practitioners. This is illustrated in Figure 45 with the line of best fit. This result will be useful later on in the discussion.





Multivariate Tests (MANOVA)

PI used the multivariate measures, particularly Pillai's Trace and Wilk's Lambda for the analysis in this study. Using Pillai's Trace, there was a significant difference between the physicians and non-physician practitioners with respect to the dependent variables, V = .51, F(5,538) = 111.13, p < .0001. Using Wilks' Lambda, there was a significant difference between the physicians and non-physician practitioners with respect to the dependent variables, $\lambda = .49$, F(5,538) = 111.13, p = .0001. Therefore, as evident in Table XXV, there is significance and the population means on the DVs are not the same for each variable.

Table XXV

Multivariate Tests*											
Effect		Value	Ē	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig	Partial Eta Squared				
Intercept	Pillal's Trace	.994	17359.068 ^h	5.000	538,000	.000	.994				
	Wilks' Lambda	.006	17359.068 ^{tr}	5.000	538,000	.000	.994				
	Hoteiling's Trace	161,330	17359.068 ^h	5.000	538.000	.000	.994				
	Roy's Largest Root	161.330	17359.068	5.000	538.000	.000	.994				
Group	Pillal's Trace	.508	111.127°	5.000	538.000	.000	.508				
	Wilks' Lambda	.492	111.127*	5.000	538,000	.000	.508				
	Hotelling's Trace	1.033	111.127*	5.000	538,000	.000	.508				
	Roy's Largest Root	1.033	111.127	5.000	538.000	.000	.508				

Multivariate Tests Evidencing Pillai's Trace and Wilk's Lambda Values

a. Design: Intercept + Group

b. Exact statistic

Even though Wilks' Lambda was used for the calculation purposes for effect size for the post-hoc analysis, PI also looked at Pillai's Trace because this test is considered the most robust to violations of assumptions. Pillai's Trace is the sum of the proportion of explained variance on the discriminant functions. Wilks' Lambda is the product of the unexplained variance on each of the variates. This represents the ratio of error variance to total variance for each variate (Field, 2009).

All four of the tests (i.e. Pillai's Trace, Wilks' Lambda, Hotelling's Trace, Roy's Largest Root) showed significance for the multivariate.

Effect size (used for post-hoc analysis) is as follows:

 $\eta^2 = 1 - \lambda^{1/s}$ 1 - .492 ^ (.25) 1 - .84 = .16

In this calculation, 's' is equal to the number of levels of the factor minus 1 (i.e. 5-1 = 4). The index of variance explained $(1 - \lambda)$ is the amount of variance in the dependent variables accounted for by the independent variables.

MANOVA showed significance across all five dependent variables where p = .0001 (Table XXVI).

Table XXVI

Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) for all 5 Dependent Variables

0.	Dependent	Type III Sum of					Partial Eta
Source	Variable	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected	RECOMMENDING	5497.834°	1	5497.834	382.564	.000	.414
Model	KNOWLEDGE	3058.286 ^b	1	3058.286	49.548	.000	.084
	ATTITUDES	5641.914 ^c	1	5641.914	288.735	.000	.348
	BELIEFS	8940.522 ^d	<u>ः</u> १	8940.522	371.136	.000	.406
	EXPECTATIONS	3053.296 ^e	1	3053.296	329.081	.000	.378
Intercept	RECOMMENDING	998492.782	1	998492.782	69479.540	.000	.992
	KNOWLEDGE	712933.176	1	712933.176	11550.278	.000	.955
	ATTITUDES	844046.355	1	844046.355	43195.552	.000	.988
	BELIEFS	1114635.611	1	1114635.611	46270.353	.000	.988
	EXPECTATIONS	355482.127	1	355482.127	38313.465	.000	.986
Group	RECOMMENDING	5497.834	1	5497.834	382.564	.000	.414
	KNOWLEDGE	3058.286	1	3058.286	49.548	.000	.084
	ATTITUDES	5641.914	1	5641.914	288.735	.000	.348
	BELIEFS	8940.522	1	8940.522	371.136	.000	.406
	EXPECTATIONS	3053.296	1	3053.296	329.081	.000	.378
Error	RECOMMENDING	7789.100	542	14.371			
	KNOWLEDGE	33454.589	542	61.724			
	ATTITUDES	10590.746	542	19.540			
	BELIEFS	13056.579	542	24.090			
-	EXPECTATIONS	5028.815	542	9.278			
Total	RECOMMENDING	1048072.000	544				
	KNOWLEDGE	773720.000	544				
	ATTITUDES	892643.000	544				
	BELIEFS	1181673.000	544				
	EXPECTATIONS	378222.000	544				
Corrected Total	RECOMMENDING	13286.934	543				
	KNOWLEDGE	36512.875	543				
	ATTITUDES	16232.660	543				
	BELIEFS	21997.101	543				
	EXPECTATIONS	8082.110	543	;			

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

a. R Squared = .414 (Adjusted R Squared = .413)

b. R Squared = .084 (Adjusted R Squared = .082)

c. R Squared = .348 (Adjusted R Squared = .346)

.05 / # of ANOVAs = .05 / 5 = .01

d. R Squared = .406 (Adjusted R Squared = .405) e. R Squared = .378 (Adjusted R Squared = .377) (Above sig. measured at .01 level)
Follow-Up Univariate Tests (ANOVA)

Comparing against .01 significance level, the *Recommending Practices* dependent variable showed significance, F(1, 542) = 382.564, p = .0001 (Table XXVII).

Table XXVII

Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Recommending Practices Variable

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	5497.834 ^a	1	5497.834	382.564	.000
Intercept	998492.782	1	998492.782	69479.540	.000
Group	5497.834	1	5497.834	382.564	.000
Error	7789.100	542	14.371		
Total	1048072.00 0	544			
Corrected Total	13286.934	543			

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects
Dependent Variable: RECOMMENDING

a. R Squared = .414 (Adjusted R Squared = .413)

Comparing against .01 significance level, the *Perceptions of Knowledge* dependent variable showed significance, F(1, 542) = 49.55, p = .0001 (Table XXVIII).

Table XXVIII

Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Perceptions of Knowledge Variable

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	3058.286 ^a	1	3058.286	49.548	.000
Intercept	712933.176	1	712933.176	11550.278	.000
Group	3058.286	1	3058.286	49.548	.000
Error	33454.589	542	61.724		
Total	773720.000	544			
Corrected Total	36512.875	543			

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects
Dependent Variable: KNOWLEDGE

a. R Squared = .084 (Adjusted R Squared = .082)

Comparing against .01 significance level, the Attitudes dependent

variable showed significance, F(1,542) = 288.74, p=.0001 (Table XXIX).

Table XXIX

Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Attitudes Variable

Dependent Variable: ATTITUDES Type III Sum of Mean F Source Squares df Sig. Square Corrected 5641.914^a 1 5641.914 288.735 .000 Model 844046.355 844046.355 43195.552 .000 Intercept 1 5641.914 5641.914 288.735 .000 Group 1 Error 10590.746 19.540 542 Total 892643.000 544 Corrected 16232.660 543 Total

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

a. R Squared = .348 (Adjusted R Squared = .346)

Comparing against .01 significance level, the Beliefs dependent

variable showed significance, F(1,542) = 371.14, p =.0001 (Table XXX).

Table XXX

Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Beliefs Variable

Dependent Va	riable: BELIEFS	5	[°]		
Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	8940.522 ^a	1	8940.522	371.136	.000
Intercept	1114635.61 1	1	1114635.61 1	46270.353	.000
Group	8940.522	1	8940.522	371.136	.000
Error	13056.579	542	24.090		
Total	1181673.00 0	544			
Corrected Total	21997.101	543			

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

a. R Squared = .406 (Adjusted R Squared = .405)

Comparing against .01 significance level, the *Expectations* dependent variable showed significance, F(1,542) = 329.08, p =.0001 (Table XXXI).

Table XXXI

Follow-Up Univariate (ANOVA) Tests for the Expectations Variable

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	3053.296 ^a	1	3053.296	329.081	.000
Intercept	355482.127	1	355482.127	38313.465	.000
Group	3053.296	1	3053.296	329.081	.000
Error	5028.815	542	9.278		
Total	378222.000	544			
Corrected Total	8082.110	543			

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects Dependent Variable: **EXPECTATIONS**

a. R Squared = .378 (Adjusted R Squared = .377)

As evidenced by the previously displayed follow-up univariate tests, these results further support the significance that was displayed by the MANOVA.

Post-Hoc G*Power Analysis

The post-hoc G*Power Analysis for F Test MANOVA Global Effects resulted in a power of 1.000 using an effect size of .16 that was calculated earlier from the multivariate tests, an alpha set at .01, 2 groups and 5 dependent variables (Faul et al, 2009) (Figure 46).

Recall that statistical power is the likelihood that a study will detect an effect when there is an effect there to be detected. Therefore, if the statistical power winds up being high, the probability of making a Type II error (concluding there is no effect when in fact there is one) goes down (Ellis, 2010). Therefore, with a power of 1.000, this study was highly powered.

Street All				
1		and of domest providers		
armar F = 30014				
	te in in	20 22 24 24 24	20 32	
Teel Service Statistical and			в	
Topic of power shally an				
Part fee: OrnerN ketweld plant - given a	Advertise and a second of	Not sign.	B	
Tout parameters		Output perameters		
They are first	8.58	Permitting and service as	av a series	
v ar pris-	6.91	Column #	0.0512998	
Tana) Assessed Alon	444	Jammes et	B.madecinity:	
Number of groups	i	Deservation of	644	
dession relation		(Point)1.0-expans)	(6.0000008)	
		1998	3.7.679410-	
Effect size = .16		Sample size	= 544	
Alpha = .01		Poumr - 1	00	
Groups = 2		rower=1.		
Variables = 5	Oyence	. I faid to spray of more	-	

(Faul et al, 2009)

Figure 46. Post-hoc G*Power Analysis. With an effect size of 0.16, an alpha level set at .01, total sample size of 544 with 2 groups and 5 dependent variables, the power = 1.000.

Summary of Findings

To summarize, the GCAMTA established excellent reliability of the tool ($\alpha = .944$) according to George and Mallery (2011) (Figure 47).

The differences of the means between the two groups were presented. Non-physicians practitioners reported higher means across the dependent variables than physicians.

For *recommending practices*, non-physician practitioners had a mean of 46.41 and a standard deviation of 4.85. For *recommending practices*, physicians had a mean of 39.99 and a standard deviation of 1.57.

For *perceptions of knowledge*, non-physician practitioners had a mean of 38.90 and a standard deviation of 4.22. For *perceptions of knowledge*, physicians had a mean of 34.11 and a standard deviation of 10.89.

For *attitudes*, non-physician practitioners had a mean of 42.97 and a standard deviation of 5.20. For *attitudes*, physicians had a mean of 36.47 and a standard deviation of 3.14.

For *beliefs*, non-physician practitioners had a mean of 49.73 and a standard deviation of 5.66. For *beliefs*, physicians had a mean of 41.56 and a standard deviation of 3.72.

For *expectations*, non-physician practitioners had a mean of 28.17 and a standard deviation of 3.66. For *expectations*, physicians had a mean of 23.39 and a standard deviation of 1.98. The MANOVA showed significance at p = .0001. This result suggested that the difference in means between the two groups was a significant difference.

ANOVA follow-up tests confirmed the significance (p = .0001). High

power was achieved through the post-hoc analysis at 1.000.



Figure 47. Summary of Findings. Illustration includes reliability results of the GCAMTA, means between non-physician practitioners and physicians, MANOVA results (p = .0001), follow-up ANOVA results (p = .0001) and post-hoc G*Power final power (1.000).

Review of Hypotheses (Accept or Reject)

Based on the previous summary of findings where the MANOVA values indicated a significance of p = .0001 for all the variables, the null is rejected and the alternative hypothesis is accepted for each hypothesis (Figure 48).

Research Question 11 and Alternative Hypothesis. For the

following, the alternative hypothesis is accepted:

RQ11. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *recommending practices* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H11_a. Non-physician practitioners' are more favorable in recommending music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

Research Question 12 and Alternative Hypothesis. For the following, the alternative hypothesis is accepted:

RQ12. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *perceptions of knowledge* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H12_a. Non-physician practitioners' perceptions of knowledge regarding music as a CAM therapy are higher than physicians' perceptions of knowledge regarding music as a CAM therapy. **Research Question 13 and Alternative Hypothesis.** For the following, the alternative hypothesis is accepted:

RQ13. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *attitudes* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H13_a. Non-physician practitioners have more favorable attitudes toward music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

Research Question 14 and Alternative Hypothesis. For the

following, the alternative hypothesis is accepted:

RQ14. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *beliefs* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H14_a. Non-physician practitioners have more favorable beliefs toward music as a CAM therapy than physicians.

Research Question 15 and Alternative Hypothesis. For the

following, the alternative hypothesis is accepted:

RQ15. What is the difference between physicians' and non-physician practitioners' *expectations* regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach?

H15_a. Non-physician practitioners have more favorable expectations toward music as a CAM therapy than physicians.



Figure 48. Reject or Accept? PI's hypotheses 11 - 15 and illustration that the alternative hypotheses were accepted for each.

Chapter V

DISCUSSION

General Discussion of Study Findings

Recall from Chapter 1 that this study had both a primary and secondary purpose. Discussion of each purpose will proceed in this Chapter.

The primary purpose of this study was to create, validate and test for reliability a Principal Investigator created survey instrument. This instrument entitled "The Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)" addressed five key constructs discussed in the literature surrounding the practices of prescribing health care practitioners.

The tool was successfully validated through a panel of experts in the field. Once validated, the tool was used in a sample of the population of interest to test for reliability purposes. The Cronbach's alpha for the tool using all 5 construct dependent variable factors combined was $\alpha = .944$ which is considered excellent by George and Mallery (2011). The individual reliability assessments for each factor showed to have good/excellent reliability as according to George and Mallery (2011) (e.g. *Recommending practices* $\alpha = .813$, *perceptions of knowledge*, $\alpha = .924$, *attitudes* $\alpha = .806$, *beliefs* $\alpha = .883$, *expectations* $\alpha = .874$).

The secondary purpose of this study was to use this validated and reliable survey tool in the population in order to help identify and understand

the differences between physicians' (MD, DO) and non-physician practitioners' (NP, NA, NM, CNS, PA) recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations regarding music as a costeffective complementary and alternative medicine approach.

Significant differences existed between physicians and non-physician practitioners with regard to their recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations of music as CAM.

Correlations showed positive findings. As perceptions of knowledge of CAM increased for both groups, so did the recommendation of CAM by the practitioner.

Overview of Discussion

The contents of the discussion portion of this will first include a discussion on the gender gap. The gender gap refers to discrepancy between the frequencies of males and females within this research study. Next, a discussion of the 5 dependent variables will allow the reader to understand the PI's perspective on the variables as distinct entities within the survey. Study results showing trends will be elaborated upon for discussion purposes. Following this, the PI's reasoning for results will be detailed, including the educational aspect of participants and how this may have affected the results. This leads to the discussion of social media and its influence on the results of the study.

After the discussion of social media and its role within the research study, the conceptual framework will be revisited, highlighting additional information superimposed onto the original conceptual framework reflecting results of the study. From here, open-ended responses from qualitative questions within the demographic survey will be addressed, highlighting themes that may have emerged. Sample responses by participants of the different practitioner groups will be presented.

The practical implications of the research study based on the results will be addressed followed by the limitations of the study and future research possibilities. The manuscript's discussion will conclude with the significance of the dissertation and final concluding comments.

The Gender Gap

There was a gap between males and females in this study. The following discussion will detail this, how it pertains to the review of the literature, and inferences that can be made based upon this.

A few facts have to be delineated and not misinterpreted. Three times more females than male respondents were present within the study (423 females were 77.8% of the total respondents and 118 males were 21.7% of the total). In addition, there were more female physicians than male physicians within the study (140 female physicians were 25.8% of the total respondents and 97 male physicians were 17.9% of the total respondents). There were more female non-physician practitioners than male non-physician practitioners (283 female non-physician practitioners were 52.3% of the total respondents and 21 male non-physician practitioners were 3.9% of the total respondents).

In the literature, it is stated that the majority of United States nonphysician practitioners are female. According to the Health Resources and Services Administration (2014), more females are nurses than men. Specifically, 91% of nurses are female and 9% of nurses are male (HRSA, 2014).

In the literature, it is stated that the majority of United States physicians are male. According to a census of actively licensed physicians in the United States in 2014, 66% of physicians holding an active license to practice were male, 32% were female and 1.9% identified as other (Young et al, 2015).

Recall that non-physician practitioners in this study were more favorable towards recommending CAM than the physicians. Also, recall that the majority of the non-physician practitioners in this study were female. So, therefore, based on these numbers, it might be concluded that female practitioners are more favorable than male practitioners in their recommendation of CAM because the majority of these non-physician respondents who responded favorably to recommending were female. The physician vs. non-physician practitioners were considered generally equal; however, the female/male groups were not equal as was previously discussed. Just because a larger female population was present within this study doesn't mean that females are more apt to recommend Music Therapy over males. In order to make inferences on gender, further research is needed to balance out the gender groups. The number of males would have to be increased and then inferences can be gathered based on gender. These results may not be representative of practitioners across the board with regard to gender. The interpretation cannot go beyond here.

Discussion of the Five Variables

This next section will discuss each of the five dependent variable factors that were used in the study and evidence the importance of choosing these 5 divisions. These factors have been discussed in detail but it is important to note that they are separate entities and relevant in the discussion portion of this manuscript as they relate back to the results.

Recommending Practices. Recall that recommending practices are a suggestion or proposal as to the best course of action, especially one put forward by an authoritative body (MW, 2015).

In this research study, recommending practices were categorized as favorable or unfavorable. The parameters of the study withheld that recommending practices are affected by perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations. Some practitioners prefer to spend more time with patients and engage in "small talk," while other practitioners are in and out, succinct and to the point with patients regarding their health matters. Additionally, it is important to note that healthcare trends are not a priority of some practitioners. These practitioners prefer to focus on traditional approaches such as discovering the root cause of symptoms of an illness, treating the patient based on that discovery, and then follow-up visitations with the patients. Finally, some practitioners may be inclined to recommend CAM but may not have had the opportunity yet. This may be due to patients not inquiring about CAM or their illness trait did not require a need for any type of CAM therapy.

Results of this research study with regard to recommending practices suggest that the general trend is that practitioners who do not mind spending more time with patients are more favorable to recommending CAM to their patients.

Perceptions of Knowledge. Recall that perceptions of knowledge refer to what an individual perceives to know of the subject matter. Specifically, knowledge is defined as the range of one's information or understanding; the sum of what is known (ASA, 2014). A physician's knowledge comes from previous education, experiences and is also obtained through sources such as medical literature, lectures, and conversations with peers.

In this research study, perceptions of knowledge were categorized as high or low. The parameters of the study withheld that practitioners may perceive themselves to be informed of certain aspects of CAM in general, or certain types of CAM, but not be experts. For example, a physician may be aware that he/she is well informed of dietary supplements and nutritional counseling for patients, but may not perceive himself/herself to be knowledgeable about meditation or hypnotherapy for patients. These practitioners may have a general sense that these types of CAM exist, but may not have high enough perception of knowledge of these modalities in order to recommend them to patients.

Results of this research study with regard to perceptions of knowledge suggest that the general trend is that practitioners who have higher perceptions of knowledge and awareness of CAM approaches are more favorable to recommending CAM.

Attitudes. Recall that attitudes are defined as associations between an act or object and an evaluation; the tendency to evaluate a person, concept, or group negatively (Westen, 2003).

In this research study, attitudes were categorized as favorable or unfavorable. The parameters of the study withheld that attitudes may vary depending on the type of CAM. For example, a practitioner may have a favorable attitude towards chiropractic because he/she has had chiropractic manipulation treatments or knows of someone who has. The favorable attitude could also be due to the higher acceptance of Chiropractic as an effective CAM treatment as opposed to Acupuncture. The practitioner may view Acupuncture less favorably than Chiropractic and these attitudes inform their practices to recommend or not recommend these medical approaches. Additionally, practitioners may view CAM as distractions in the healthcare setting. They may feel that silence is more effective for calming purposes than Music Therapy or that bed rest is more effective than prayer or Massage Therapy.

Results of this research study with regard to attitudes suggest that the general trend is that practitioners who have been exposed to some form of CAM are more favorable to recommending CAM to patients.

"*I Am A Lover Of Music.*" This particular Likert statement was strategically placed within the GCAMTA at the start of its creation before the DELPHI process. Although this wasn't designed to answer a particular statistical question, it is interesting to point out.

The original intent of including this statement within the questionnaire was to see if practitioners would abandon their own personal attitudes towards Music Therapy and still recommend it to patients if they felt it might do good to their patients. The results show that this might have been indeed effective.

Some practitioners said that they are a lover of music and these individuals had favorable recommending practices of Music Therapy. This is not surprising because it was expected by the PI that if the individual was inclined to use music for themselves, then he/she would suggest it for others for therapeutic purposes. Surprisingly though, some practitioners said that they are a lover of music and had unfavorable recommending practices of Music Therapy. This may mean that although a practitioner is inclined to use music for himself/herself, he/she may not believe that Music Therapy would be effective as a treatment for his/her patients. This particular practitioner may have lower perceptions of knowledge of Music Therapy or may have had a bad experience with the formalized use of music as therapy. A practitioner who responded in this regard clearly abandoned his/her own attitudes on music when considering this modality in his/her recommending practices. He/she might be cautious to recommend Music Therapy due to possible risk of emotional harm to the patient. He/she might be hesitant to recommend Music Therapy until more evidenced based research emerges or until he/she receives more education and/or exposure on the modality.

Some practitioners said that they are not a lover of music and had unfavorable recommending practices of Music Therapy. This is not surprising because it was expected by the PI that if the individual was not inclined to use music for themselves, then he/she would not suggest it to others for therapeutic purposes.

Surprisingly though, some practitioners said that they are not a lover of music and had favorable recommending practices of Music Therapy. This may mean that although a practitioner is not inclined to use music for himself/herself, he/she may believe that Music Therapy would be effective as a treatment for his/her patients. This particular practitioner may have higher perceptions of knowledge of Music Therapy or may have had a positive experience with the formalized use of music as therapy. A practitioner who responded in this regard clearly abandoned his/her own attitudes on music when considering this modality in his/her recommending practices. He/she might also have pressure from the institution that they work at to recommend CAM, possibly due to the ACA as a driving force. These practitioners might also be recommending Music Therapy because they believe it is just what they should be doing at this point in time or because other practitioners are recommending it.

Beliefs. Recall that beliefs are described as an internal feeling that something is true, even though that belief may be unproven or irrational (Anderson and DeSilva, 2009).

In this research study, beliefs were categorized as favorable or unfavorable. The parameters of the study withheld that practitioners may believe that certain CAM are appropriate for only certain age groups or illnesses. This notion ties into the Perceptions of Knowledge discussion. These practitioners may not be aware of all the evidence-based literature that exists and was previously mentioned within this document (AMTA, 2014; Protacio, 2010; Kemper & Danhauer, 2005).

Additionally, practitioners may believe that CAM is too expensive. This notion also ties into the Perceptions of Knowledge discussion. These

practitioners may not be aware of all the evidence-based literature that exists and was previously mentioned within this document (Romo & Gifford, 2007; Bellelli & Trabucchi, 2012; DeLoach, 2005).

Finally, many practitioners may believe that positive effects are due to placebo effect. Placebo effect is the treatment given to meet a patient's expectation to get well (MW, 2014).

Results of this research study with regard to beliefs suggest that the general trend is that practitioners who have witnessed positive effects of CAM or had patients with success stories of CAM are more favorable in recommending CAM.

Expectations. Recall that expectations refer to the anticipation of a patient's behavior that is based on a knowledge and understanding of the person's abilities and problems (MMD, 2009).

In this research study, recommending practices were categorized as favorable or unfavorable. The parameters of the study withheld that there are expectations of the acceptance or lack of acceptance of CAM by patients and practitioners. Expectations of CAM's ability to lower healthcare costs greatly affect the recommending practices of practitioners. In addition, practitioners may have favorable expectations of CAM as a therapy but do not have high expectations of patients employing CAM on a continual basis for the course of the necessary treatment. Finally, practitioners may expect CAM to grow in acceptance by patients and not other healthcare practitioners. Also, practitioners may expect CAM to grow in acceptance by healthcare practitioners and not patients.

Results of this research study with regard to expectations suggest that the general trend is that most practitioners expect CAM to become more widely sought after by patients, but not necessarily accepted by practitioners.

Reasoning for Results

The following discussion presents a possible reasoning for the results that have been presented thus far within this manuscript.

Why did the non-physician practitioners express more liberal recommending practices of CAM than the physicians? This may be due to the inherent styles that are characterized by the groups. In general, non-physician practitioners have a holistic approach (AHNA, 2015). The whole mind-body is taken into account in practice. There is exposure to CAM therapy education during their academic studies. Additionally, the PI discovered that there is a much higher presence of non-physician practitioners on social media (e.g. Facebook[™] closed groups, Twitter[™], LinkedIn®).

In general, physicians have an allopathic approach (AMA, 2015). Although this cannot be applied to the entire profession, many physicians may have had less exposure to CAM therapy education during their academic studies. There is more weight placed on prescription of analgesics or surgical procedures for pain. Additionally, the PI discovered that there is a much lesser presence of physicians on social media (e.g. Facebook[™] closed groups, Twitter[™], LinkedIn[®]).

Influence of Social Media

To elaborate on the previously mentioned presence or lack thereof of physicians and non-physician practitioners online, this next section will continue on with the influence of social media on my research and results.

The PI discovered throughout the course of this research study that non-physician practitioners have a larger presence on social media. This presents more opportunity to share new information with other non-physician practitioners. There is a high presence of non-physician practitioners on Facebook[™] closed group pages. These Facebook[™] closed group pages are used by members to share new information, ask advice of fellow practitioners and/or to express frustrations on their practice. To avoid HIPAA violations, personal identifying information about specific cases is generally prohibited.

The PI discovered throughout the course of this research study that physicians are less prevalent on social media. Physicians were mostly discovered on Twitter[™] and LinkedIn® for promotion of their practice. There was little to no presence on Facebook[™] closed group pages.

These two main points may account for the reasoning that the majority of respondents were non-physician practitioners who were more favorable toward recommendation of CAM.

Conceptual Framework Revisited

Recall that the healthcare practitioner holds his/her own set of recommending practices when it comes to his/her patients. This practitioner is influenced by many external forces as was previously discussed within the text of this manuscript (Figure 2). Now knowing the results of the study allows for viewing the original conceptual framework in an expanded form (Figure 49).

Certain CAM therapies emerged in the demographic survey as ones that practitioners were exposed to at their work environment or in their education, that they have received training on, and/or that they have recommended to patients during their career. These CAM therapies included but were not limited to Music Therapy, meditation, herbal supplements, acupuncture, chiropractic, massage therapy, yoga, prayer and nutritional counseling.

As was discussed previously, the four main constructs had a dual nature. Perceptions of knowledge could be low or high. Attitudes, beliefs and expectations could be either favorable/liberal or unfavorable/conservative in nature.

Traits of individual practitioners were discovered from the survey which inform their recommending practices. These traits include whether or not the individual was exposed to CAM in education, whether or not the individual considered himself/herself generally conservative in practice, whether or not he/she had exposure to CAM in the work environment and whether or not he/she was active on social media.

The results of each of these sections affected Prochaska's Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change for the practitioner and ultimately sways the individual to recommend CAM to patients or avoid recommendation of CAM to patients.

We are indeed on the cusp of healthcare change as we know because in the next few years, specifically surrounding 2018, these preventative measures in the healthcare bill will be either overturned or formalized and ratified into law. This speaks to why this burgeoning topic is of such great importance and relevance.



Figure 49. Conceptual Framework Superimposed Post-Results. This illustration superimposed with additional expanded information is based on trends from results. Certain CAM therapies emerged in the demographic survey as ones that practitioners were exposed to at their work environment or in their education, that they have received training on, and/or that they have recommended to patients during their career (e.g. Music Therapy, meditation, herbal supplements, acupuncture, chiropractic, massage therapy, yoga, prayer and nutritional counseling.) Dual nature of variables were as follows: Perceptions of knowledge could be low or high; attitudes, beliefs and expectations could be either favorable/liberal or unfavorable/conservative in nature. Traits of individual practitioners were discovered from the survey which inform their recommending practices (e.g. whether or not the individual was exposed to CAM in education, whether or not the individual considered himself/herself generally conservative in practice, whether or not he/she had exposure to CAM in the work environment and whether or not he/she was active on social media). The results of each of these sections coupled with the PPACA as a driving force affected Prochaska's Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change for the practitioner and ultimately sways the individual to recommend CAM to patients or avoid recommendation of CAM to patients.

Qualitative Themes

This following section illustrates examples of open-ended responses provided by respondents based on two questions in the demographic portion of the survey. Although these are not reflective of any particular statistical question, it is interesting to note a few thoughts of the survey respondents in order to put the study into perspective. These responses possibly open an avenue for further research evaluating the themes.

The open-ended demographic questions #26 and 27 were as follows:

26. As a practitioner in your field, are there any final thoughts you would care to share about recommending CAM therapies to your patients? Please do not use any names or personally-identifying information in your response but please feel free to share your honest evaluation of how CAM fits or does not fit within your current practice area with your patient base.

AND

27. As a practitioner in your field, are there any final thoughts you would care to share about recommending music therapy to your patients? Please do not use any names or personally-identifying information in your response but please feel free to share your honest evaluation of how music therapy fits or does not fit within your current practice area with your patient base.

Several themes emerged based upon the responses to these

questions that fall under two broader headings that were relevant in the

review of the literature section of this manuscript: Perceived Goodness and

Negative Connotation.

Perceived Goodness. The literature suggested that one of the two

major perspectives of the use of CAM, and specifically Music Therapy,

included the "perceived goodness" of the medicine approach (Edwards, 2011;

Protacio, 2010). According to this, music is a conduit used for empowerment. It creates autonomous qualities in individuals who feel powerless. In addition it relieves stress and anxiety through music as therapy which improves attitudes and effectiveness and increases autonomy.

Similarly, in the literature, under this heading was the notion that music is cost-effective and has a positive financial benefit in healthcare (Bellelli and Trabucchi, 2012; Romo and Gifford, 2007; DeLoach, 2005). Improved quality indicators, improved patient outcomes, improved working conditions, and the non-invasiveness nature of the therapy all contribute to the "perceived goodness" of Music Therapy. From the research using the GCAMTA, the following three themes emerged from respondents' answers to the openended questions which tie into the "perceived goodness" that is mentioned in the literature: Empowerment/Creates Autonomy/Livens the Unresponsive (Figure 50), Potential to Decrease Stress, Anxiety and Pain (Figure 51), and Positive Outcomes (Figure 52).

Empowerment/Creates Autonomy/Livens the Unresponsive.

Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the patient's newly founded autonomy based upon using music as therapy. In particular, several practitioners noted that a patient that was unresponsive became responsive to the music. Also, it is not just the patient that is benefitted since the family members or friends are uplifted as well at seeing the positive change in the individual suffering from an illness. One Clinical

Nurse Specialist noted the following:

"I have seen clients that have not spoken for days or recognize their spouse but respond when a headset is provided and music from their youth is played. They smile, dance and talk again. It is a joy to see them interact with their family at these times."

For a more entailed list of respondents' open-ended answers that fall

under this discovered theme, see Figure 50.

Potential to Decrease Stress, Anxiety & Pain. Responses that fell

under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the effectiveness of

CAM and/or Music Therapy to aid in the symptoms of stress, anxiety, and/or

pain in patients. In particular, practitioners noted that individuals "felt better" or

were "helped to relax" from the medical approach. One Clinical Nurse

Specialist noted the following:

"I think we all need to better understand these therapies and how to use them. As I care for patients with advanced heart failure, I see a great deal of anxiety with chronic illness for both the patient and caregiver. As I complete this survey, I am already thinking of who might benefit."

For a more entailed list of respondents' open-ended answers that fall

under this discovered theme, see Figure 51.

PERCEIVED GOODNESS Empowerment/Creates Autonomy/Livens the Unresponsive "I have seen clients that have not spoken for days or recognize their spouse but respond when a headset is provided & music from their youth is played. They smile, dance and talk again. It is a joy to see them interact with their family at these times." [Clinical Nurse Specialist] "I took a formal class in music therapy after the death of my sister. It helped me and my family very much." [Clinical Nurse Specialist] "2 wonderful sessions with family musicians and friend musicians as my father aligned into his coma during his final days. He hadn't been responsive too much. but when favorite tunes and songs were played and sung. he was moving his feet in time to the music. All of us benefitted - he and the musicians." [Nurse Midwife] "Music therapy is a beneficial adjunct to a multimodal approach to pain management. Patients that do not rely on excessive narcotic use are more likely to take an active role in managing their care and health and have a shorter length of stay than those that rely heavily on medications to manage their pain and other health issues." [Clinical Nurse Specialist]

Figure 50. Qualitative Theme: Empowerment/Creates Autonomy/Livens the Unresponsive. Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the patient's newly founded autonomy based upon using music as therapy. In particular, several practitioners noted that a patient that was unresponsive became responsive to the music. Also, it is not just the patient that is benefitted since the family members or friends are uplifted as well at seeing the positive change in the individual suffering from an illness.



Figure 51. Qualitative Theme: Potential to Decrease Stress, Anxiety & Pain. Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the effectiveness of CAM and/or Music Therapy to aid in the symptoms of stress, anxiety, and/or pain in patients. In particular, practitioners noted that individuals "felt better" or were "helped to relax" from the medical approach. Positive Outcomes. Responses that fell under this theme centered

around practitioners' view of the general positivity of CAM and/or Music

Therapy on patients. In particular, practitioners noted that they are willing to

try anything to help patients and that leading them to a modality such as

Music Therapy brings the practitioner a feeling of happiness. One Nurse

Anesthetist noted the following:

"We sometimes have someone playing live music in the surgery recovery area and it has a nice effect. It even makes me feel more relaxed and happy as I bring my patient in the post-operative area."

For a more entailed list of respondents' open-ended answers that fall

under this discovered theme, see Figure 52.



Figure 52. Qualitative Theme: Positive Outcomes. Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the general positivity of CAM and/or Music Therapy on patients. In particular, practitioners noted that they are willing to try anything to help patients and that leading them to a modality such as Music Therapy brings the practitioner a feeling of happiness.

Negative Connotation. The literature suggested that one of the two major perspectives of the use of CAM, and specifically Music Therapy, included the negative connotation of the medicine approach (Sharf et al, 2012; O'Kelly and Koffman, 2007). According to this, there exists the potential for Music Therapy and similar CAM therapies to "hit the wrong spot." There are concerns about the intrusive nature of the music therapy, with the potential to "hit the wrong spot." Special consideration must be given to patients who may uncover certain emotions they are not ready to deal with. This was a common thread throughout the literature. We, as practitioners, don't want to do more harm than good.

From the research using the GCAMTA, the following three themes emerged from respondents' answers to the open-ended questions which tie into the "perceived goodness" that is mentioned in the literature: Not Enough Research or Awareness (Figure 53), Takes Time for Implementation (Figure 54), and Not a Priority of Unsure How to Implement (Figure 55).

Not Enough Research or Awareness. Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the lack of evidence-based research or general lack of awareness of research that exists on CAM and/or Music Therapy for patients. In particular, practitioners noted that they are hesitant to recommend CAM and/or Music Therapy until they know of solid evidence to support the intervention. One Doctor of Osteopathy Physician noted the following:
"I have nothing against music therapy or any CAM therapy that helps patients, but I don't want to recommend any therapy without proven scientific basis."

For a more entailed list of respondents' open-ended answers that fall under this discovered theme, see Figure 53.





Takes Time for Implementation. Responses that fell under this

theme centered around practitioners' view of the time it takes to infiltrate a

new modality into the medical practice such as CAM and/or Music Therapy

for patients. In particular, practitioners noted that it takes time for everyone to

get on board with a new modality and that there is a extensive process for

new policies to be written up to support a new medical approach such as

CAM. One Nurse Midwife noted the following:

"Current environment is somewhat tolerant of offering CAM, although typically the non-physician providers <u>DO</u> offer CAM and the physicians typically <u>do</u> <u>not</u>. I think it's a great tool."

For a more entailed list of respondents' open-ended answers that fall under this discovered theme, see Figure 54.



Figure 54. Qualitative Theme: Takes Time for Implementation. Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view of the time it takes to infiltrate a new modality into the medical practice such as CAM and/or Music Therapy for patients. In particular, practitioners noted that it takes time for everyone to get on board with a new modality and that there is a extensive process for new policies to be written up to support a new medical approach such as CAM.

Not a Priority or Unsure How to Implement. Responses that fell

under this theme centered around practitioners' view that a modality such as

CAM and/or Music Therapy for patients is usually not at the forefront of

priority in the medical profession. In particular, practitioners noted that it is

not at the top of the list and that accessibility of these modalities may be an

issue as well. One Physician (MD) noted the following:

"I'd be much more likely to recommend it if it were easily accessible (i.e. available locally, easy to schedule), covered by insurance/Medicare/Medicaid, and I know that the practitioner is qualified."

For a more entailed list of respondents' open-ended answers that fall under this discovered theme, see Figure 55.



Figure 55. Qualitative Theme: Not a Priority or Unsure How to Implement. Responses that fell under this theme centered around practitioners' view that a modality such as CAM and/or Music Therapy for patients is usually not at the forefront of priority in the medical profession. In particular, practitioners noted that it is not at the top of the list and that accessibility of these modalities may be an issue as well.

To follow-up from the qualitative themes that were discovered by the PI from the two open-ended questions in the GCAMTA, several additional responses are note-worthy. Several practitioners remarked that they were unfamiliar with Music Therapy but now having been exposed to the idea of it, even from something such as this survey, they will now consider these medical approaches for their patients (Figure 56). This highlights the importance of awareness and attention to the field, even if in the simplest manner such as through a survey instrument.





Practical Implications

There are five practical implications which are supportive of the meager information that is in the literature.

Implications from this study are that medical programs that rely solely on an allopathic approach may need to revise their curriculum to include teachings on mind/body holistic approaches (AHNA, 2015; AMA, 2015). Curricula that include these teachings will certainly encompass CAM, bringing awareness and attention to modalities that may be considered effective and successful for their future patients. Interventions that target practitioners' knowledge of CAM and encourage them to recommend these medical approaches may be of value.

In this research study, as perceptions of knowledge increased, recommending practices' favorability toward CAM approaches increased. Therefore, with increased knowledge or perceptions of what they know of CAM, practitioners were more apt to recommend CAM to their patients. If practitioners perceive themselves as being knowledgeable of the medicine approach, then they are more apt to recommend the approach to patients. Training healthcare practitioners on how to convey relevant information about CAM to their patients is critical for promotion of CAM (Burdick, 2015).

Awareness of cost-effectiveness is linked to perceptions of knowledge (Romo & Gifford, 2007; Bellelli & Trabucchi, 2012; DeLoach, 2005). The majority of physicians were conservative in their recommending practices of CAM, whereas the non-physician practitioners were less conservative and more favorable in their recommending practices of CAM. This may be due to educational background or awareness and exposure to CAM in the profession or online (e.g. social media outlets). A higher presence of non-physician practitioners on social media (e.g. Facebook[™], Twitter[™]) could explain why these individuals have more awareness and perceptions of knowledge of the CAM modalities and, therefore, less conservative views towards them. A lower presence of physicians on social media could explain why these particular individuals had less awareness and perceptions of knowledge of the CAM modalities and, therefore, more conservative views towards them.

Another implication based on the study results is that not all CAM therapies will be viewed the same or accepted at the same time. As evident in the qualitative responses that were previously mentioned within the discussion, some CAM therapies are more accepted than others by practitioners. More awareness and education is needed for the practitioners on the cost-effectiveness of CAM therapies as well as the different types of CAM therapies that are readily available to patients and providers. Finally, as evidenced from the aforementioned review of the literature, there are negative connotations that exist regarding these non-traditional medical approaches (Sharf et al, 2012; O'Kelly and Koffman, 2007). There is also the "perceived goodness" of Music Therapy and CAM (Edwards, 2011; Protacio, 2010). Time is needed for the transition of negative connotations to develop into "perceived goodness." Increased awareness and evidenced-based research will aid in this development.

In addition to the aforementioned, generational differences may exist that affect recommendations(or lack thereof) of CAM. There are three main generations of practitioners: traditionalists, baby boomers and Generation X (Bujak, 2013). There is extensive literature that dates back to how practice patterns are affected by generational differences (Jacobson et al, 2004). Studies have shown that Generation X nurses report significant differences in the work environment than do Baby Boomer nurses (Leiter et al, 2010). Younger generations may be more inclined to recommend CAM. This may be due to more exposure from a higher social media presence or from their educational exposure. The older generations may be more conservative in their recommendation of CAM. This may be due to less exposure from a smaller social media presence or lack of education on the topic.

Study Limitations

The following discussion details the limitations of this aforementioned research study.

Self-reported findings. The limitations of this study are the same as with all self-reported survey studies. Respondents may have answered according to their own perceptions of what the Primary Investigator may have wanted as correct answers. In addition, feelings may have been minimized or exaggerated depending on how they perceived the Principal Investigator's intention to be.

Cross-sectional data collection. Data in this study were collected at singular points in time and assessed quantitatively together, thereby defining this as cross-sectional data collection. A longer longitudinal study, where a cohort of physicians and non-physician practitioners were tracked to see if their recommending practices, perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations had changed, may prove to be more beneficial.

Sampling. Participants were retrieved from either snowball sampling or one of the three practitioner groups (American College of Nurse Midwives, National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists, New York Academy of Family Physicians). Participants who completed the survey under the auspices of the organization that they belonged to may have spent more time on the survey responses and may have answered more honestly and accurately. On the other hand, participants who completed the survey from encountering the survey link through snowball sampling, particularly through social media such as Facebook[™], Twitter[™] or LinkedIn®, may not have spent as much time on the survey responses, thereby resulting in answers that were not as honest or accurate to their profession.

Lack of incentive to individuals for participation in the survey may have resulted in attrition or lack of survey participation. Had a monetary or gifted

169

incentive been addressed in the Letter of Solicitation (Appendix F), a higher chance may have existed for increased participation in the survey.

In the Delphi, the expert panelists were instructed to provide constructive criticism to statements or questions that may be leading or have internal researcher bias. Although this was addressed by the experts after two rounds of the Delphi and subsequent removal or revising of the statements/questions, this could still be considered a limiting factor. Certain statements may still have presented an internal researcher bias that the respondents could have noticed. This would affect their responses and cause limitation to the study.

In addition, survey fatigue could have been a major limiting factor within this study. Because the average time spent on the GCAMTA was 12 minutes, participants may have not answered honestly the ending questions of the GCAMTA due to fatigue. Also, the optional accompanying demographic survey that followed the GCAMTA might have been abandoned or incomplete due to survey participant fatigue. Had the demographic survey been mandatory and required for submission of the GCAMTA, more complete surveys may have been submitted.

Generalizability. The results of this study are only generalizable to the associations that have participated and/or a portion of the United States. Results are not generalizable to other countries since participants were excluded if they were not from the United States. Additionally, results are not

170

generalizable to the professions on the whole. More research is necessary to see if the results of this study hold true across the medical professions presented within this particular study.

As mentioned earlier in the discussion, more females than males participated in this study. This may be easily misinterpreted or misconstrued to be a representation of the medical profession across the board. Just because more females than males participated in my study does not mean that, in general, female physicians or female non-physician practitioners are more apt than male physicians or male non-physician practitioners to recommend Music Therapy or CAM to patients. Future research containing a better gender balance in respondents would be necessary to make inferences regarding this topic.

Voluntary participation. When participation is voluntary, the characteristics of the participants who respond may differ from those who choose not to respond (Burns & Grove, 2001). Respondents who had an interest in the subject matter of CAM or Music Therapy may have been the ones who chose to respond (particularly from the non-physician practitioner group). Individuals who strongly were opposed to CAM or Music Therapy may have chosen to avoid the survey altogether.

Chapter VI

CONCLUSION

Future Research

This study was undertaken because there was no one tool within the literature that addressed the perceptions of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations in the context of recommending practices for both physicians and non-physician practitioners.

Future research could include additional studies on gender. Because this study had many female respondents, particularly for the non-physician practitioner groups, future studies should focus on increasing the number of male respondents. Additionally, to address studies on gender, future research could look at female physicians vs. male physicians and female nonphysician practitioners vs. male non-physician practitioners.

Future research could include longitudinal studies of healthcare practitioners who have recommended CAM to their patients and these studies could include follow-up surveying depicting the attitudes and beliefs of CAM based on their patients' success/fail rates with the recommended complementary and alternative approaches. In other words, it would be novel to see if a practitioner changed his/her mind years after holding a certain belief system. Research may show that individuals who initially were opposed or neutral to CAM may indeed become more favorable toward CAM years later due to increased awareness, appreciation and understanding of the modalities.

More studies analyzing the differences that may exist between Doctors of Medicine (M.D.) and Doctors of Osteopathy (D.O.) are necessary to understand the physician groups. Because, in this study, DOs were a small group as compared to the MDs, it would be necessary to obtain responses from a larger sample of DOs and run the statistical tests again, particularly in comparison to the MDs.

Of the non-physician practitioner group, the Nurse Midwives, Nurse Practitioners and Clinical Nurse Specialists comprised the largest numbers of the non-physician practitioner sample. Future studies could examine the differences, if any, between these three medical professions to see if one of these groups is recommending CAM moreso than another group in their practice and the reason(s) as to why this is occurring.

More evaluation of the age of respondents is necessary, especially the age extremes (i.e. 30-40 and 65+). It would be beneficial to determine the differences in recommending practices, attitudes, beliefs and expectations between employed, licensed, practicing practitioners of opposite age extremes. Younger individuals have recently emerged from the academic environment and may have a different educational foundation than older individuals whose education on CAM, or lack thereof, would substantially affect their medical world-view.

173

Additional studies on the role of the dyad (provider and patient relationship as well as care-receiver and informal caregiver relationship) are necessary, specifically with regard to CAM recommendations. Studies that surround the recommendation of CAM to the care-receiver, the employment of that CAM and the possible subsequent change in anxiety/stress level of the caregiver would be interesting. Conversely, studies that surround the recommendation of CAM to a caregiver, the employment of that CAM and the possible subsequent change in anxiety/stress level of the the possible subsequent change in anxiety/stress level of the care-receiver would be interesting.

Because social media outlets are a burgeoning resource for patients as well as practitioners to seek out the latest information related to health, more research is necessary to examine the amount of time and degree to which healthcare professionals and patients use social media to obtain information related to CAM.

Future research needs to focus on the curricula of these healthcare professionals as well as their access to continuing education of newlydeveloped medical modalities. Because healthcare is ever-changing, it is crucial to evaluate the extent to which healthcare professionals are seeking out updated information and educational resources pertaining to their profession(s).

Finally, future research should concentrate on the global use of the survey tool. This research involves understanding global recommending

174

practices of physicians and non-physician practitioners in countries other than the U.S. These global recommending practices will include global approaches to CAM, specifically, how healthcare practitioners in other countries are viewing CAM therapies and if they are using them in their practice or recommending these therapies to their patients. Outreach to social media pages that are not specific to the U.S. also needs to be employed (e.g. "French physicians Facebook[™] group"). In this study, these Facebook[™] closed group pages were avoided since the focus was on U.S. based practitioners. More snowball sampling of the Global CAMTA should occur.

Similarly how future research may focus on the curricula of healthcare practitioners in the U.S., future research may also involve the curricula of healthcare practitioners in other parts of the world. Differences, if any, may be highlighted between practitioners of different countries.

To conclude, future research could tap into the qualitative themes that were presented earlier according to the type of practitioner. Coding of data would take place and may uncover underlying factors or constructs that were not present in this study.

Dissertation Significance and Conclusion

Physicians are generally taught an allopathic approach which focuses on the traditional medical philosophies surrounding prescription of medications and employment of surgical procedures (AMA, 2015). Nonphysicians curricula generally have a more holistic approach, encompassing mind/body philosophies (AHNA, 2015). According to the results of this study, medical curricula should incorporate holistic medicine education for physicians to increase awareness and knowledge of the growing field. Results showed that with increased perceptions of knowledge, increase favorability towards CAM in medical practice took place.

This was the first study that looked at the previously mentioned 5 dependent variables among seven medical fields grouped as either physician or non-physician practitioner utilizing Empowerment/Engagement Theory, Wellcare/Obamacare Ideologies, and Prochaska's Theory of Change Behavior as triangulated paradigms.

The modern healthcare practitioner is confronted with many external forces that will affect or sway his/her recommending practices that are currently held by the practitioner. Possible change to core medical values is illustrated through Prochaska's Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change. Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations act as an umbrella to determine whether or not he/she will be swayed to change recommending practices by the incoming weather (i.e. Cam approaches). External underlying driving forces, specifically cost-effectiveness and preventative health care under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act serve as the foundation to which the recommendation practices should or should not be changed if cost-effectiveness is a demand of the institution or facility to which the practitioner is employed.

Not all CAM therapies will be viewed the same or accepted at the same time. More awareness and education is needed for the practitioners. In addition, generational differences may exist, representing in differences in recommending practices.

More research is imperative. Survey research is necessary to evaluate the perspectives of the healthcare professionals, their patients as well as the informal family member/friend caregivers.

Because Music Therapy and CAM on the whole is a new and burgeoning field, more evidence-based research is necessary.

From expanding research, we will have more knowledge and the power from that knowledge will allow healthcare practitioners of every field to more effectively treat their patients in a more cost-effective way. Education is crucial and necessary from a top-down approach. Educating the healthcare practitioners about these complementary and alternative practices, which are readily available and highly cost-effective, may create the ripple effect whereby informal caregivers and patients are educated to make better life decisions. Empowerment of these informal caregivers and patients will create an increase in overall health, well-being and life satisfaction.

Although individuals are exposed to music on a daily basis for entertainment purposes, the strategic use of music for health benefits is not as apparent. It is said that individuals only use 10 percent of their brain capacity. Perhaps, similarly, we are abandoning a percentage of music's

177

greater purpose as a healing agent. In the demanding work environment of the healthcare practitioner, there is a great amount of chaos and noise. If it is the goal of healthcare and medicine to heal and improve the physical and mental health of our patients, then as practitioners, it is vital to open our eyes to look through the noise, open our ears to the sounds of music around us, and from this, improve the lives of our patients, as well as ourselves.

References

ADA (2012). Text of the American with Disabilities Act of 1990. U.S. Department of Justice. Available at www.ada.gov.

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality AHRQ (2014). Guide to Patient and Family Engagement in Hospital Quality and Safety. Rockville, MD.

- Alreck, P. & Settle, R. (2004). *The survey research handbook.* McGraw Hill: Boston, MA.
- American Holistic Nurses Association (AHNA) (2015). Holistic Medicine in Nursing. On the internet at <u>www.ahna.org</u>
- American Medical Association (AMA) (2015). Allopathic Medicine. On the internet at www.ama-assn.org
- American Music Therapy Association (2014). Music Therapy Makes a Difference. *Available at <u>www.musictherapy.org</u>*
- American Nurses Association (ANA) (2015). The Nursing Workforce 2014: Growth, Salaries, Education, Demographics & Trends. On the internet at <u>www.nursingworld.org</u>
- American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA). (2014). Defining Knowledge, Competence, Performance and Patient Outcomes. *On the Internet at <u>www.asahq.org</u>.*

- Anastasi, A. (1988). Psychological testing. New York, NY: Macmillan, p. 144.
- Anderko L, Roffenbender JS, Goetzel RZ, Millard F, Wildenhaus K, et al. Promoting Prevention Through the Affordable Care Act: Workplace Wellness. Prev Chronic Dis 2012;9:120092
- Anderson, M., DeSilva, S. (2009). Beliefs, Values and Attitudes. *Me-and-Us, Ltd.* 1-28.
- Armstrong, J.S. (1985). Long Range Forecasting: From Crystal Ball to Computer, 2nd ed., New York: Wiley.
- Bellelli, G., Raglio, A., & Trabucchi, M. (2012). Music interventions against agitated behaviour in elderly persons with dementia: a costeffective perspective. *International Journal Of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 27(3), 327.
- Burdick, L, et al. (2015). Physicians', nurses' and community health workers' knowledge about physical activity in Brazil: A crosssectional study. *Preventative Medicine Reports 2. 467-472.*
- Burns, N. & Grove, S. (2001). The practice of nursing research: conduct, critique and utilization (4th ed). W.B. Saunders: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA
- Bujak, J. (2013). Overcoming Generational Differences Among Physicians. *Kootenai Medical Center.* On the inernet at www.joebujak.com

- Chan, M., Chan, E., Mok, E., Tse, F. (2009). Effect of Music on
 Depression Levels and Physiological Responses in CommunityBased Older Adults. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing* 18. 285-294.
- Daykin, N., McClean, S., Bunt, L. (2007). Creativity, Identity, and Healing:
 Participants' Accounts of Music Therapy in Cancer Care. *Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine. 11*(3). 349-370.
- Edwards, J. (2011). A music and health perspective on music's perceived 'goodness'. *Nordic Journal Of Music Therapy*, *20*(1), 90-101.
- Ellis, Paul (2010). The Essential Guide to Effect Sizes. Cambridge University Press, UK.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, *41*, 1149-1160.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering Statistics Using SPSS. (3rd ed.) Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Finnerty, R. (2011). Music therapy: A viable intervention for pain control. *Canadian Nursing Home.* 22(1). 5-12.

- Flanagan, T., McFarlane, E., Cook, S. (2008). Conducting Survey Research among Physicians and other Medical Professionals – A Review of Current Literature. AAPOR. 4136-4147.
- Gallagher, M. (2011). Evaluating a protocol to train hospice staff in administering individualized music. *International Journal Of Palliative Nursing*, *17*(4), 195-201.
- Gardstrom, S. C. (2008). Music Therapy As Noninvasive Treatment: Who Says? Nordic Journal Of Music Therapy, 17(2), 142-154.
- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2011). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference. 18.0 update (11th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Gillen, E., Biley, F., & Allen, D. (2008). Effects of music listening on adult patients' pre-procedural state anxiety in hospital. *International Journal Of Evidence-Based Healthcare*, 6(1), 24-49.
- Hanser, S., Butterfield-Whitcomb, J., Kawata, M. (2011). Home-based music strategies with individuals who have dementia and their family caregivers. *Journal of Music Therapy.* 48(1). 2-27.
- Hasson, F., Keeney, S., McKenna, H. (2000). Research Guidelines for the Delphi Survey Technique. *Journal of Advanced Nursing.* 32(4), 1008-1015.
- Hek, G. & Moule, P. (2006). Making Sense of Research: An Introduction for Health and Social Care Practitioners. Sage Publications. 1-155.

- Hooper, J., Wigram, T., Carson, D., Lindsay, B. (2010). The practical implication of comparing how adults with and without intellectual disability respond to music. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*. 39. 22-28.
- Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) (2014). National Center for Health Workforce Analysis: Highlights from the 2012 National Sample Survey of Nurse Practitioners. Rockville, Maryland.
- IBM Corp. Released 2015. IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 23.0 Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- IDEA (2012). Text of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. U.S. Department of Education. Available at <u>www.idea.ed.gov</u>.
- Jacobson, C. et al (2004). Generational Differences in Practice Patterns of Dermatologists in the United States. *Arch Dermatology.* 140: 1477-1482.
- Kemper, K. J., & Danhauer, S. C. (2005). Music as therapy. *Southern Medical Journal*, *98*(3), 282-288.
- Korhan, E., Khorshid, L. and Uyar, M. (2011). The effect of music therapy on physiological signs of anxiety in patients receiving mechanical ventilatory support. *Journal of Clinical Nursing. 20.* 1026-1034.
- Lai, H., & Li, Y. (2011). The effect of music on biochemical markers and self-perceived stress among first-line nurses: a randomized

controlled crossover trial. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, 67(11), 2414-2424.

- Leiter, M. et al (2010). Generational differences in distress, attitudes, and incivility among nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management. 18*, 970-980.
- Leow, M. (2011). Music therapy in the palliative setting: a systematic review. *Singapore Nursing Journal*, *38*(4), 14-21.
- Likert, R. (1931). A technique for the measurement of attitudes. Archives of Psychology. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Lin, P., Lin, M., Huang, L., Hsu, H., & Lin, C. (2011). Music therapy for patients receiving spine surgery. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*, 20(7/8), 960-968.
- Linstone, H. & Turoff, M. (1975). *The Delphi Method*: *Techniques and Applications.* Addision-Wesley, Reading, MA.
- Magee, W. & Bowen, C. (2008). Using Music in Leisure to Enhance Social Relationships with Patients with Complex Disabilities. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 23, 305-311.
- Magill, L., Levin, T., and Spodek, L. (2008). One session music therapy and CBT for critically ill cancer patients. *Psychiatric Services. 59*(10).

Merriam-Webster (MW) (2014). Prescription. Merriam-Webster, Inc.

- Mindsonar (2015). Understanding Statistics: Why Statistics? On the internet at <u>www.mindsonar.info</u>
- Mosby's Medical Dictionary (MMD) (2009). "Expectation." 9th Edition. Elsevier.
- Myskja, A. and Nord, P. (2008). The Day the Music Died. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy. 17*(1). 30-40.
- Newman, A., Boyd, C., Meyers, D., Bonanno, L. (2010). Implementation of Music as an Anesthesia Adjunct During Monitored Anesthesia Care. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing.* 25(6). 387-391.
- Nilsson, U. (2008). The Anxiety and Pain Reducing Effects of Music Interventions. *Aorn Journal.* 87(4). 780-805.
- Nilsson, U. (2009). Soothing music can increase oxytocin levels during bed rest after open-heart surgery: a randomised control trial. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*, *18*(15), 2153-2161.
- Obamacare Preventative Facts (OPC) (2015). No Cost Sharing on Essential Preventative Care Thanks to the ACA. *Available at obamacarefacts.com*
- O'Kelly, J. & Koffman, J. (2007). Multidisciplinary perspectives of music therapy in palliative care. *Palliative Medicine 21.* 235-241.
- PEM, (2009). Patients use music therapy for healing and wellness: can be used individually, with families, or in groups. *Patient Education Management*, *16*(6), 65-67.

- Perlman, A., Lontok, O., Huhmann, M., Scott Parrott, J. J., Ann Simmons,
 L., & Patrick-Miller, L. (2013). Prevalence and Correlates of
 Postdiagnosis Initiation of Complementary and Alternative
 Medicine Among Patients at a Comprehensive Cancer Center. *Journal Of Oncology Practice*, 9(1), 34-41.
- Pfister, M. (2011). Use of Music to Minimize Pre-Operative Patient Anxiety. *Music Therapy for Pre-Operative Anxiety*. 1-20.
- Polit & Beck (2008). Essentials of Nursing Research: Appraising Evidence for Nursing Practice. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Portney L.G., Watkins M.P. (2000). *Foundations of Clinical Research: Applications to Practice* (2nd ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ, Prentice-Hall.
- Prochaska, James & Velicer, Wayne F. (1997). The Transtheoretical
 Model of Health Behavior Change. *American Journal of Health Promotion*: September/October 1997, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 38-48.
- Protacio, J. (2010). Patient-directed music therapy as an adjunct during burn wound care. *Critical Care Nurse*, *30*(2), 74-76.
- Richardson, M. M., Babiak-Vazquez, A. E., & Frenkel, M. A. (2008).
 Music Therapy in a Comprehensive Cancer Center. *Journal Of The Society For Integrative Oncology*, 6(2), 76-81.
- Romo, R. & Gifford, L. (2007). A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Music Therapy in Home Hospice. *Nursing Economics. 25*(6). 353-357.

- Schindler, M., Engel, S., & Rupprecht, R. (2012). The impact of perceived knowledge of dementia on caregiver burden. *Geropsych: The Journal Of Gerontopsychology And Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25(3), 127-134.
- Schmid, W., & Ostermann, T. (2010). Home-based music therapy--a systematic overview of settings and conditions for an innovative service in healthcare. *BMC Health Services Research*, *10*291.
- Sharf, B., Martin, P., Hernandez, K., Moore, J. (2012). Trailblazing healthcare: Institutionalizing and integrating complementary medicine. *Patient Education and Counseling.* 89 (3). 434-438.
- Sorrell, J. (2008). Music as a Healing Art for Older Adults. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing. 46*(3). 21-24.
- Stevens, J.P. (1999). Intermediate Statistics: A Modern Approach (2nd Ed.), Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Stuckey, H., & Nobel, J. (2010). The connection between art, healing, and public health: a review of current literature. *American Journal Of Public Health*, *100*(2), 254-263.
- Sudman, S. (1985). Mail Surveys of Reluctant Professionals. *Evaluation Review, 9(*3). 349-359.
- Swann, J. (2008). Rhythm of life: applying music to the care home setting. *Nursing & Residential Care*, *10*(9), 453-457.

- Tseng, Y., Chen, C. and Lee, C. (2010). Effects of listening to music on postpartum stress and anxiety levels. *Journal of Clinical Nursing.* 19. 1049-1055.
- Thompson, A. & Grocke, D. (2008). The Effect of Music Therapy on Anxiety in Patients Who Are Terminally III. *Journal of Palliative Medicine.* 11(4). 582-588.
- Wakim, J., Smith, S., Guinn, C. (2010). The Efficacy of Music Therapy. Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing. 25(4). 226-232.

Walker, J. (2012). Healing with Music. *Healthcare Traveler*, 20(5), 18-43.

- Westen, D. (2003). Psychology: Brain Behavior & Genes. John Wiley & Sons.
- World Health Organization (2001). Mental Health: Strengthening Mental Health Promotion. Retrieved from www.who.int/mediacentre
- Yildirim, Y., Parlar, S., Eyigor, S., Sertoz, O., Eyigor, C., Fadiloglu, C., & Uyar, M. (2010). An analysis of nursing and medical students' attitudes towards and knowledge of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 19(7-8), 1157-1166.
- Yin Yi, L., Moon Fai, C., & Mok, E. (2010). Effectiveness of music intervention on the quality of life of older people. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, 66(12), 2677-2687.
- Young, A., et al. (2014). A Census of Actively Licensed Physicians in the U.S., 2014. *Journal of Medical Regulation 101 (2).*

Young, L. (2009). The potential health benefits of community based singing groups for adults with cancer. *Canadian Journal Of Music Therapy*, *15*(1), 11-27.

APPENDIX A

Approval to Conduct Delphi Process

SETON HALL UNIVERSITY.

AGREEMENT FOR DELPHI PROCESS SIGN OFF SHEET – STEP 1

DOCTORAL CANDIDATES NAME: Paul Franco

PROJECT TITLE: "Creating and Validating a New Survey Instrument to Understand Primary Care Practitioners' and Mid-Level Healthcare Practitioners' Prescribing Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations Regarding Music and Chiropractic as Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approaches."

PROPOSAL HEARING DATE: February 5, 2015

I HAVE PARTICIPATED IN THE ABOVE NOTED PROPOSAL HEARING AND MY SIGNATURE PROVIDES SUPPORT OF THE PROPOSED METHODOLOGY.

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE CHAIR: COMMITTEE CHAIR'S SIGNATURE:

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE MEMBER: COMMITTEE MEMBER SIGNATURE:

Terrence F

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE MEMBER: COMMITTEE MEMBER SIGNATURE:

Lee Cabe

School of Health and Medical Sciences Department of Interprofessional Health Sciences & Health Administration Tel: 973.275.2076 * Fax: 973.275.2171 400 South Orange Avenue * South Orange, New Jersey 07079 * gradmeded.shu.edu

APPENDIX B

Delphi Expert Panelist Letter of Solicitation

SETON HALL

Delphi Panelist Letter of Solicitation

Dear _____

HO ME

FOR

THE

MINDY

As per our prior email conversations, you have expressed your kind willingness and commitment to serve as a member of my Delphi Panel as an Expert Reviewer of my survey instrument, titled the "Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)." I thank you for taking the time to participate in this review process of the GCAMTA (pr: gee-cam-tuh) as I believe it will produce a high-quality survey to be used in my Ph.D dissertation efforts upon completion of the Delphi review process.

The issue of rising health care costs is significant not only due to an ageing demographic that is living longer and requiring more extensive medical treatment, but also because individuals are not taking advantage of modalities that are inexpensive and readily available to them. Therefore, the purpose of my doctoral research is to "look at the top of the totem pole" by understanding the recommending practices, knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations of primary care practitioners and mid-level practitioners regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach. To accomplish this goal, it will be necessary for me to validate my newly created survey tool among a panel of experts and then test its reliability in my desired population sample.

You are being asked to participate in this Delphi Panel in order for combined feedback to be taken into consideration and ultimately to be used to construct the final survey instrument. The survey itself contains variables to be answered on a scale of strongly agree to strongly disagree. Open ended questions and multiple choice questions are also contained in the demographic portion of the survey which I ask that you review as well for feedback.

This survey will be distributed to a snowball sample of convenience to healthcare professionals who are licensed to prescribe medication to patients and, therefore, have the opportunity to recommend CAM therapies such as Music Therapy to potential patients that may benefit from these services. In order to establish face and content validity, I would appreciate your review of the GCAMTA

> School of Health and Medical Sciences Department of Interprofessional Health Sciences & Health Administration Tel: 973.275.2076 • Fax: 973.275.2171 400 South Orange Avenue • South Orange, New Jersey 07079 • gradmeded.shu.edu

> > **T H E**

HEART

AND

THE

SPIRIT

Date

tool for appropriateness and clarity. As a reviewer, you are also asked to review the demographic questionnaire for appropriateness and clarity. Appreciating your time, I ask that you take no more than fourteen (14) days to finish this first round of review.

Upon receiving your comments and suggestions from this first round of review, your assessments will be combined with those of the other expert panelists. I am seeking 80% consensus on each assessment of each item contained in the instrument in the first round. This survey tool will then be modified after all responses from the expert panel are received. Based upon the panel feedback, a second review will most likely be needed. If that is the case, I kindly ask for your continued participation. You will receive additional instructions and a modified version of the survey instrument based on the consolidated assessments received from all reviewers at that time. Additionally, a third review may also be required, and again, if this becomes necessary, you are kindly asked again for your continued assistance with this modified Delphi process. By the end of the third round, a reasonably valid tool should result which will allow me to seek reliability and determine my Cronbach alpha for this tool in my desired population of prescribing healthcare professionals.

Enclosed you will find two documents for your review. The first document contains background information regarding the problem under consideration for research. This document also includes a draft of the instrument in the order that it is proposed. The second document is a worksheet for your use. In the first step of the Delphi Review, you as a member of my expert panel, are to (1) identify items which are ambiguous or unclear; (2) identify items which may be double-barreled; (3) identify items which may lead to a biased socially desirable response; (4) review the order of questions to reduce order bias; and (5) review the demographic items for appropriateness and clarity.

Upon completion of the first 5 steps aforementioned, you are requested to return the worksheet with comments to me, the Principal Investigator, via e-mail. I kindly ask that you return your worksheet with commentary within fourteen (14) days. Once all of the commentaries are received from the expert reviewers, revisions will be made to the instrument based upon the recommendations of each of the members of the expert panel of reviewers. Consensus of the panel for each question, calculated at 80% will be sought, as previously mentioned. Majority panel member recommendations will be followed. Should consensus as defined not be achieved for any item(s) after the first review of this Delphi process, the documents will be returned to all panelists again for a second round of review.

The difference on Round 2 of the review is that only the question(s) where consensus is not achieved will be provided for review and comment. Otherwise, the same procedure as outlined will be followed.

Instructions for Round 1 Delphi:

For the survey enclosed herein: Please review each variable and make recommendations in the comments section. Please consider the following elements in your analysis of these variables:

- 1. Evaluate each item for content validity; i.e. does the variable measure the construct as defined in this survey?
- 2. Identify items which are ambiguous or unclear.
- 3. Identify items which may be double-barreled.
- 4. Identify items which may lead to a response that is socially desirable.
- Please review the order of items to reduce order bias and make recommendations. 5.
- 6. Please also review the demographic items for appropriateness and make recommendations.

Please feel free to provide any suggestions, additional questions or comments you believe will make this survey the best assessment tool for understanding prescribing healthcare professionals' knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, expectations and recommending practices regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach.

Your time, patience, willingness to help and attention is so very much appreciated. Thank you!

Sincerest regards,

nanc au

Paul Franco, M.B.S.

Doctoral Candidate, Seton Hall University School of Health and Medical Sciences

Enclosures (2): Background Information with Proposed Survey **Delphi Survey Worksheet**
APPENDIX C

Delphi Round 1 Survey Worksheet

- C-1: Instructions to Delphi Panelists
- C-2: Terminology Bank for Delphi Panelists
- C-3: First page preview of GCAMTA Survey Worksheet
- C-4: First page preview of Demographic Survey Worksheet

For the complete survey worksheet and/or any questions or further information regarding the GCAMTA, please contact the PI at <u>drpaulfranco@gmail.com</u> Global Complementary/Alternative and Music Therapy Assessment (GCAMTA)

Survey Worksheet for DELPHI PANEL

Note: This survey will be administered to health care professionals electronically.

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

EXPERT PANEL: Please insert a "Y" for Yes or an "N" for No into each slot per question for each variable under the provide any additional comments, suggestions or questions (please indicate the exact wording of any questions you constructs. Please feel free to provide commentary pertaining to any question for each variable. Please feel free to suggest and where/what construct the question should be placed with/under) you believe will enhance the overall quality of this survey. Use as much space as needed. If so, please indicate your reasoning why so that I may understand and be able to speak to this modification when I defend my dissertation work.

Please feel free to comment or indicate in any section or by any question if you believe that the question should be ELIMINATED. If so, please indicate your reasoning why so that I may understand and be able to speak to this modification when I defend my dissertation work.

retain it despite the suggestion made and this may be shown in a subsequent round of the Delphi sent to you. If this happens, I will be certain to explain why so that the experts may make according decisions toward consensus in the particular question despite attaining 80% consensus from the panel. If this should happen, this will be noted in the Where any such modifications may be involved, it is likely I may choose to either eliminate the question entirely or responses, there is a small possibility that I (along with my research committee) may decide to keep or eliminate a subsequent round to the Delphi panel with rationale as to why the decision was made because it is likely further subsequent round. Although I am seeking 80% consensus to keep or eliminate a question based on the panelist clarification or review will be sought from the panelists on that particular question/issue.

Please refer to the Background Information document if you would like to view the exact order of the statements in the proposed survey. The numbering can also be found alongside the survey statement in this worksheet as well. Please comment if you think a survey statement should be placed at another section in the survey (either earlier, later, or removed entirely).

Following the Survey Questionnaire, please continue on to review the Demographic Questionnaire.

Thank you.

2

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

1
1
e
9
8
a
Ň
4
R
1
ñ.
) and a
1
6
1
0
A
5
6
4
>
÷
H
3
5
7
5
£
4
2
1
00
5
60
~
Ĭ
0
E
1
I
-
6
L

Knowledge (K):	range of one's "information or understanding, the sum of what is known." For example: a physician's knowledge comes from previous education, experiences, and is also obtained through sources such as the medical literature, lectures, and conversations with peers (ASA, 2014).
Attitudes (A):	associations between an act or object and an evaluation; the tendency to evaluate a person, concept, or group positively or negatively (Westen, 2003). (the way a person expresses or applies their beliefs and values, and is expressed through words and behavior). For example: <i>I get really upset when I hear about cruely to children and animals</i> , or <i>I hate school</i> (Anderson and DeSilva, 2009).
Beliefs (B):	an internal feeling that something is true, even though that belief may be unproven or irrational. For example: I believe that walking under a ladder brings bad luck, or I believe that there is life after death. (Anderson and DeSilva, 2009).
Expectations (E):	(in nursing) anticipation of a patient's behavior that is based on a knowledge and understanding of the person's abilities and problem (MMD, 2009)
Recommending Practices (R):	a suggestion or proposal as to the best course of action, especially one put forward by an authoritative body (MW, 2015).
Complementary & Alternative Medicine (CAM) Approaches:	therapies that are used together with (complementary) or in place of (alternative) conventional medicine (NCCIH, 2015).
Music Therapy:	Music therapy (herein a.k.a. "music as therapy") is the clinical and evidence-based use of music interventions to accomplish individualized goals within a therapeutic relationship by a credentialed professional who has completed an approved music therapy program. An established health profession in which music is used within a therapeutic relationship to address physical, emotional, cognitive, and social needs of individuals (AMTA, 2015).
Stress:	the body's physiological response to an environmental demand (Westen, 2010)
Anxiety:	unpleasant emotional arousal in the face of threatening demands or dangers; situationally determined and transitory in nature (Spielberger, 1970)
Caregiver:	non-professional/informal giver of care to an individual receiving care (care-receiver), typically a family member or friend (AMTA, 2014) [herein referred to as "caregiver"]
Dyadic relationship:	two individuals maintaining a sociologically significant relationship (MW, 2014); the dyad is defined as the two individuals in the dyadic relationship (e.g: non-professional caregiver & care-receiver/patient)
Provider Engagement:	the communication among patients, their caregivers and or family members, and health care professional from the point of admission, meeting, and/or visit (AHRQ, 2014).
Patient Outcomes:	the condition of a patient at the end of therapy or a disease process, including the degree of wellness and the need for continuing care, medication, support, counseling, or education (MMD, 2009)

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

Item/Variable (numbered as it appears in survey)	Does it measure concept?	Is it clear?	Is it double- barreled?	Is it biased through socially desirable response?	Comments
	Construct No	o. 1: Reco	mmending P	ractices	
 Before receiving a medical recommendation, patients like to be engaged in "small talk." 					
 Before giving a medical recommendation, I like to engage patients in "small talk." 					
3. Before making medical recommendations, I find that patients want me to discuss current trends in healthcare with them.					
 Before making medical recommendations, I find that caregivers want me to discuss current trends in healthcare with them during the patient's appointment. 					
 When I provide patients with healthcare information related to their health, I empower them. 					
 When I provide caregivers with healthcare information related to their care-receiver's health, I empower the caregiver. 					
19. In recommending certain medical options to patients, patients are empowered.					
20. I am extremely cautious in recommending new techniques to my patients.					
83. 1 would refer patients to different CAM therapies as appropriate.					*
84. I would refer patients to music therapy.					
85. I see myself recommending CAM therapy					
© 2016 Paul F. Franco					4

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

200

EXPERT PANEL: Please review the following demographic questions and make suggestions if needed:

Please provide the following demographic information:

What is your gender? Ŀ.

🗆 Female 🗆 Male

Comments from Experts:

What is your age? N

□ 18-30 □ 31-40 □ 41-50 □ 51-60 □ 61-69 □ 70+

Comments from Experts:

What is your highest level of education? ŝ

Certificate
 Associate
 Baccalaureate

Masters
 PhD (Doctorate)
 MD/D0
 Other

Comments from Experts:

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

201

APPENDIX D

Delphi Round 2 Survey Worksheet

EXPERT PANEL:

Thank you very much for your input on Round 1 of the survey review.

In this second round of the Delphi Process, you will find the following concerns/recommendations made by at least one (1) expert panel member that I am now proposing for your review to gain 80% consensus.

Please check/mark with an x whether the change should be made or if the original statement should be left as originally proposed. Please note that changes are being made for other comments and suggestions that are not listed here, which were recommended for clarity purposes for a statement.

Also, at the conclusion of Round 2, Paul and his Research Committee at Seton Hall will consider statements in general which can be removed to shorten the survey on the whole as to consider fatigue and possible attrition of the participant completing the survey.

Furthermore, in the letter of solicitation to survey participants, the PI will also give a general estimate on how long the survey should take the participant(s) to complete (e.g. no more than 10 minutes).

This will suffice as Round 2 of the Delphi. Thank you very much.

1. #17. When I provide patients with healthcare information related to their health, I empower them.

Two recommendations were made:

a) The phrase "empower them" should be changed to the phrase "assist them in making healthcare decisions" to avoid the emotional charge that comes today with the word 'empowerment.'

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement as originally proposed

Additional comments

b) It is an "attitude" construct not a "recommending practices" construct.

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement in the original "recommending practices" construct

Additional comments

203

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

2. #45. The changes that have taken place in the conventional healthcare system have encouraged people to use CAM therapies to a greater extent.

The following recommendation was made:

a) The question is too vague and most people will probably respond "yes" because it is the "thing to say." Also, the term "people" is too broad and isn't clear as to whether it refers to patients or providers.

Proposed rewrite:

#45. The changes that have taken place in the conventional healthcare system toward cost effectiveness in well-care have encouraged providers to recommend CAM therapies to a greater extent.

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement as originally proposed

Additional comments ____

3.

For the next set of statements presented, several experts suggested that
there is too much similarity between the words "stress" and "anxiety" to be
considered different regarding the answers received. Therefore, the
recommendation made is to keep statements written about "anxiety"
because it is more specific and to eliminate the statements written using the
word "stress" due to its duplicitous nature. Also, the term "some" was added
before "CAM therapies" because, without it, the statement was suggested to
be too loaded and encompassing of every type of CAM therapy.

#31. Care-receivers become stressed when their caregiver is stressed.

- #32. Caregivers become stressed when their care-receiver is stressed.
- #33. Care-receivers become anxious when their caregiver is anxious.
- #34. Caregivers become anxious when their care-receiver is anxious.
- #37. I can provide better treatment to my patient if I am experiencing lower stress.
- #38. My stress level does not really affect how well I treat my patient.
- #39. I can provide better treatment to my patient if I am experiencing lower anxiety.

© 2016 Paul F. Franco

#40. My anxiety level does not really affect how well I treat my patient.

#57. Some CAM therapies can reduce patient anxiety.

#58. Music as therapy can reduce patient anxiety.

#59. Some CAM therapies can reduce patient stress.

#60. Music as therapy can reduce patient stress.

Proposed change:

Keep statement numbers 33, 34, 39, 40, 57, 58; Eliminate statement numbers 31, 32, 37, 38, 59, 60 due to the duplicitous nature of the words "stress" and "anxiety." Keep questions referring to "anxiety."

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave statements as originally proposed

Additional comments _____

For the next set of statements, experts either suggested that the statements were too similar, needed follow-up specifying certain age groups, or did not accurately measure the construct of BELIEF.

#13. Whether or not patients approach me with questions related to their health is age-dependent.

Proposed rewrite:

4.

#13. I believe that, in general, patients in early to mid adulthood (age 18-64) ask more questions related to their health than patients in later adulthood (age 65+).

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement as originally proposed

Additional comments _____

#15. Whether or not caregivers approach me with questions related to their own health is age-dependent.

Proposed rewrite:

#15. I believe that, in general, caregivers in early to mid adulthood (age 18-64) ask more questions related to their own health than caregivers in later adulthood (age 65+) during their care-receiver's office visit.

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement as originally proposed

Additional comments _____

#16. Whether or not caregivers approach me with questions related to their care-receiver's health is age-dependent.

Proposed rewrite:

#16. I believe that, in general, caregivers in early to mid adulthood (age 18-64) ask more questions related to their care-receiver's health than do caregivers in later adulthood (age 65+).

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement as originally proposed

Additional comments _____

#77. Music as therapy is only beneficial for patients of a certain age group.

Proposed rewrite:

#77. Music as therapy is only beneficial for patients in early to mid adulthood (age 18-64) as opposed to patients in later adulthood (age 65+).

Make change as per expert(s)' recommendation

Leave this statement as originally proposed

Additional comments

This is the end of Round 2 of the Delphi Process. Thank you! © 2016 Paul F. Franco

APPENDIX E

Seton Hall University

Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approvals

- E-1: [2/25/15] Letter from Seton Hall IRB advising PI to conduct validity of survey tool without need for approval by IRB because Delphi method does not fall under the purview of the IRB
- E-2: [6/24/15] Letter from Seton Hall IRB approving research study and thereby categorizing it as "exempt"
- E-3: PI's "Request for Approval of Research, Demonstration or Related Activities Involving Human Subjects" Form signed by IRB Director [6/24/15] and Academic Advisor [6/10/15]
- E-4: [7/14/15] Approval of 1st IRB Amendment
- E-5: [9/24/15] Approval of 2nd IRB Amendment



February 25, 2015

Paul Franco

Dear Mr. Franco,

H O M B

FOP B

The IRB is in receipt of the Application for your research entitled "Creating and Validating a New Survey Instrument to Understand Primary Care Practitioners' and Mid-Level Healthcare Practitioners' Prescribing Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs, and Expectations Regarding Music and Chiropractic as Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approaches".

Your Application does not fall under the purview of the IRB, not even in exempt status, because use of the Delphi method to create a survey does not meet the criteria for generalizable research. Expert reviewers for the Delphi method are not subjects.

Once you have reliability and validity on your instrument and have passed the dissertation proposal hearing, you can then submit an Application for your study.

Please follow exactly the directives at the IRB website, on the IRB Checklist, and on the Application form itself. By way of example and to assist you in writing this new Application, the IRB calls to your attention the following points:

- Your Application is too long with materials the IRB does not want. Your response to # 13 of the application is 6 typed pages; this should be a synopsis of no more than 1 typed page. Your response to # 25 of the application is 4 typed pages; this should an outline/synopsis of no more than 1 page. Your reference list is 4 pages, it should be brief and only include those references cited in the synopsis given in the responses to #13 and #25 of the Application.
- It is clearly stated on the IRB Checklist, on the Application itself, as well as the IRB website "not to attach copies of sections of grant proposal, dissertation or class projects" which it appears you have done.
- NIH certificates of completion of training in the ethics of research with human subjects is only required for the researcher himself [you]; do not put committee members or reviewers in it.

H E A

AND

Presidents Hall • 400 South Orange Avenue * South Orange, New Jersey 07079-2641 * Tel: 973.313.6314 * Fax: 973.275.2361

INE

When it is time for you to write your new Application, I am happy to answer any questions you may have. Do not submit a document of 126 pages or it will be returned to you without review. Please follow directives at the website and on the Application form. Do not add to them.

You are welcome to call me at 973-313-6314 and I am happy to provide clarification and guidance, if you need it.

Sincerely,

Marcy F. Lanjele, Ph. D. Mary F. Ruzicka, Ph.D.

Professor Director, Institutional Review Board

cc: Dr. Deborah DeLuca Dr. Terrence Cahill Dr. Lee Cabell June 24, 2015

SETON HAI

Paul Franco

Dear Mr. Franco.

The Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board has reviewed your research proposal entitled "Understanding Primary Care Practitioners' and Mid-Level Healthcare Practitioners' Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs, and Expectations Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach" and has categorized it as exempt.

4 22

Enclosed for your records is the signed Request for Approval form.

Please note that, where applicable, subjects must sign and must be given a copy of the Seton Hall University current stamped Letter of Solicitation or Consent Form before the subjects' participation. All data, as well as the investigator's copies of the signed Consent Forms, must be retained by the principal investigator for a period of at least three years following the termination of the project.

Should you wish to make changes to the IRB approved procedures, the following materials must be submitted for IRB review and be approved by the IRB prior to being instituted:

- Description of proposed revisions: .
- If applicable, any new or revised materials, such as recruitment fliers, letters to . subjects, or consent documents; and
- If applicable, updated letters of approval from cooperating institutions and IRBs. .

At the present time, there is no need for further action on your part with the IRB.

In harmony with federal regulations, none of the investigators or research staff involved in the study took part in the final decision.

Sincerely,

Mary F. Ruzicka, Ph.D. Derformer F. Ruzicka, Ph.D.

Professor Director, Institutional Review Board

Office of Institutional Review Board

Presidents Hall · 400 South Orange Avenue · South Orange, New Jersey 07079 · Tel: 973.313.6314 · Fax: 973.275.2361 · www.shu.edu

VERSIT

REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF RESEARCH, DEMONSTRATION OR RELATED ACTIVITIES INVOLVING HUMAN SUBJECTS

All material must be typed.

PROJECT TITLE:

Understanding Primary Care Practitioners' and Mid-Level Healthcare Practitioners' Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs and Expectations Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach.

CERTIFICATION STATEMENT:

In making this application, I (we) certify that I (we) have read and understand the University's policies and procedures governing research, development, and related activities involving human subjects. I (we) shall comply with the letter and spirit of those policies. I (we) further acknowledge my (our) obligation to (1) obtain written approval of significant deviations from the originallyapproved protocol BEFORE making those deviations, and (2) report immediately all adverse effects of the study on the subjects to the Director of the Institutional Review Board, Seton Hall University, South Orange, NJ 07079.

RESEARCHER(S) OR PROJECT DIRECTOR(S)

Paul F. Franco, MBS

Please print or type out names of all researchers below signature. Use separate sheet of paper, if necessary.

My signature indicates that I have reviewed the attacked materials and consider them to meet IRB standards.

RESEARCHER'S ADVISOR OR DEPARTMENTAL SUPERVISOR Deborah DeLuca, MS, JD

Please print or type out name below signature

The request for approval submitted by the above researcher(s) was considered by the IRB for Research Involving Human Subjects Research at the June 2015 meeting.

The application was approved _____ not approved by the Committee. Special conditions were ____ were not _____ set by the IRB. (Any special conditions are described on the reverse side).

DIRECTOR

SETON HÅLL UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD FOR HUMAN SUBJECTS RESEARCH

SETON HALL

б

July 14, 2015

Paul Franco

Dear Mr. Franco,

The IRB hereby approves the requested amendments to your research protocol, "Understanding Primary Care Practitioners' and Mid-Level Healthcare Practitioners' Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs, and Expectations Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach" to:

- change terminology present in the Letter of Solicitation and four Demographics questions to "physicians and non-physician practitioners";
- include in the Letter of Solicitation the mention of the participant group called the "CNS or clinical nurse specialists";
- 3. change the title to reflect the terminology change.

Sincerely,

Marry J. Rugela, Ph. D

Mary F. Rúzicka, Ph.D. Professor Director, Institutional Review Board

cc: Dr. Deborah DeLuca

Please review Scion Hall University IRB's Policies and Procedures on website (http://www.provost.shu.edu/IRB) for more information. Please note the following requirements:

Adverse Reactions: If any untoward incidents or adverse macrious should develop as a result of this study, you are required to immediately notify in writing the Seton Hall University IRB Director, your sponsor and any federal regulatory institutions which may oversee this research, such as the OFIRP or the FDA. If the problem is serious, approval may be withdrawn pending further review by the IRB.

Amendments: If you wish to change any aspect of this study, please communicate your request in writing (with revised copies of the protocol and/or informed consent where applicable and the Amendment Form) to the IRB Director. The new procedures cannot be initiated until you receive IRB approval.

Completion of Study: Please notify Seton Hall University's IRB Director in writing as soon as the research has been completed, along with any results obtained.

Non-Compliance: Any issue of non-compliance to regulations will be reported to Seton Hall University's IRB Director, your sponsor and any federal regulatory institutions which may oversee this research, such as the OHRP or the FDA. If the problem is serious, approval may be withdrawn pending further review by the IRB.

Renewal: It is the principal investigator's responsibility to maintain IRB approval. A Continuing Review Form will be mailed to you prior to your initial approval anniversary date. Note: No research may be conducted (except to prevent immediate hazards to subjects), no data collected, nor any subjects enrolled after the expiration date.

Office of Institutional Review Board

Presidents Hall + 400 South Orange Avenue + South Orange, New Jersey 07079 + Tel: 973.313.6314 + Fax: 973.275.2361 + www.shu.edu

A HOME FOR THE MIND, THE HEART AND THE SPIRIT



September 24, 2015

Paul Franco

Dear Mr. Franco,

The IRB hereby approves the requested amendment to your research protocol, "Understanding Physicians' and Non-Physician Practioners' Recommending Practices, Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs, and Expectations Regarding Music as a Cost-Effective Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approach" to add two additional organizations (the National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists and the American College of Nurse Midwives) as locations for data collection.

Sincerely,

Mary J. Raycle, Ph.D.

Mary F. Ruzička, Ph.D. Professor Director, Institutional Review Board

11 田 王

FOR

M 1 N D

cc: Dr. Deborah DeLuca

Please review Seton Hall University IRB's Policies and Procedures on website (http://www.provost.shu.edu/IRB) for more information. Please note the following requirements:

Adverse Reactions: If any untoward incidents or adverse reactions should develop as a result of this study, you are required to immediately notify in writing the Seton Hall University IRB Director, your sponsor and any federal regulatory institutions which may oversee this research, such as the OHRP or the FDA. If the problem is serious, approval may be withdrawn pending further review by the IRB.

Amendments: If you wish to change any aspect of this study, please communicate your request in writing (with revised copies of the protocol and/or informed consent where applicable and the Amendment Form) to the IRB Director. The new procedures cannot be initiated until you receive IRB approval.

Completion of Study: Please notify Seton Hall University's IRB Director in writing as soon as the research has been completed, along with any results obtained.

Non-Compliance: Any issue of non-compliance to regulations will be reported to Seton Hall University's IRB Director, your sponsor and any federal regulatory institutions which may oversee this research, such as the OHRP or the FDA. If the problem is serious, approval may be withdrawn pending further review by the IRB.

Renewal: It is the principal investigator's responsibility to maintain IRB approval. A Continuing Review Form will be mailed to you prior to your initial approval anniversary date. Note: No research may be conducted (except to prevent immediate hazards to subjects), no data collected, nor any subjects enrolled after the expiration date.

Presidents Hall • 400 South Orange Avenue • South Orange, New Jersey 07079-2641 • Tel: 973.313.6314 • Fax: 973.275.2361

THE

AND.

NEART

节泪压

S. P.

APPENDIX F

Letter of Solicitation to Survey Participants

SETON HALL

July 14, 2015

Dear Healthcare Provider,

My name is Paul Franco. I am a PhD student at the School of Health and Medical Sciences at Seton Hall University. I am conducting this research study as part of my doctoral dissertation.

What is the purpose of the study?

You have been invited to participate in this survey study because you may be a healthcare provider that frequently prescribes to patients. Research is evidencing the growing use of Complementary and Alternative Medicine, specifically Music Therapy, due to the initiatives of cost-effectiveness under the Affordable Care Act. The purpose of this study is to understand the differences, if any, that may exist between physicians' (e.g. M.D., D.O.), and non-physician practitioners' (e.g. nurse practitioners' (N.P.), nurse anesthetists' (N.A.), nurse midwives' (N.M.), clinical nurse specialists' (C.N.S.), and physician assistants' (P.A.)) recommending practices, knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and expectations regarding music as a cost-effective complementary and alternative medicine approach.

What is the study procedure?

You are being asked to complete the GCAMTA (*jee-cam-tuh*) survey if you fit the requirements. The requirements include being either a physician (e.g. M.D. or D.O.) or a non-physician practitioner (e.g. nurse practitioner, physician assistant, nurse anesthetist, clinical nurse specialist or nurse midwife) who has a license to practice and prescribe to patients. You may complete the survey by clicking on the link at the end of this document. This study will also be utilizing a recruitment technique known as chain-referral or snowball sampling. This means you are encouraged to forward this e-mail to anyone that you think meets the requirements previously mentioned. Anyone who fits those requirements may participate in the study. They may then complete the study, even if you choose not to, and this allows the survey to reach a greater audience. The attached link is <u>not unique</u> to you. It may be forwarded to anyone. No record will be kept regarding whether or not you completed the survey nor will a record be kept of who you forwarded it to. Completing the survey will take about 10-15 minutes. You can take as much time as you would like to complete this.

Is participation voluntary?

Your participation in this research study is completely voluntary. You may decide not to participate at any time. If you choose not to participate, you will not be penalized nor lose any benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. By clicking the link below, you acknowledge that you are providing your consent to participate in this study.

Is the survey anonymous?

FOR

HOME

A

Your identity will not be collected as part of this study. Your name, address, and other specific personal identifying information will not be collected. The information that will be collected is general demographic information. There will be no records identifying you, specifically. All of your answers will be recorded anonymously. There will be no way to contact you or link your answers to you. If you forward the survey to others, no specific identifying information will be collected from them. The research data may be published but will not identify any individual.

School of Health and Medical Sciences Department of Interprofessional Health Sciences & Health Administration Tel: 973.275.2076 • Fax: 973.275.2171 400 South Orange Avenue • South Orange, New Jersey 07079 • gradmeded.shu.edu

THE MIND, THE HEART AND THE

SPIRIT

What will happen to the study data?

The study data will be kept confidential to protect its integrity. The data will be stored on a USB drive. The USB drive will be locked in a cabinet in the office of the principal investigator. The principal investigator, Paul Franco, will have access to all of the data for a period of up to three years after the end of the study. After that time, the research data will be destroyed.

Risk and Benefit to Participating

There is no foreseeable risk or discomfort anticipated by your participating in this research study. There are no proposed or foreseeable direct benefits to you by participating in this research study. However, the results of this study will help practitioners advance knowledge about music therapy in practice.

Compensation

There will be no monetary or any type of compensation for participating in this research study.

Ways to Participate in this Study

The questionnaire is available via Survey Monkey[®] electronic survey. By accessing and completing the GCAMTA and demographic survey through the link listed at the end of this document, you are conveying your informed consent to participate in the study.

Please feel free to ask other practitioners that you know to participate in this survey. Also, if you don't choose to answer questions about Complementary and/or Alternative Medicine, particularly Music Therapy, but know people who can and would, please pass this survey link to them. I appreciate your time and effort involved in doing so.

Can I request further information?

If you decide that you have an interest in learning more about Complementary and/or Alternative Medicine, specifically Music Therapy, please feel free to contact me through the office of Dr. Deborah A. DeLuca, Dissertation Chair in the Department of Interprofessional Health Sciences and Health Administration in the Seton Hall University School of Health and Medical Sciences, at 973-275-2076. Additionally, Dr. Mary Ruzicka, Chair of the Institutional Review Board, in the Office of the IRB at Seton Hall University, may be reached at 973-313-6314. You may send questions about the survey. You may also request the correct answers to the knowledge questions.

Thank you for considering participating and contributing to my dissertation research. Your time and consideration is greatly appreciated.

Click here to take the survey: http://www.surveymonkey.com/s/GCAMTA

APPENDIX G

Principal Investigator Created Tool:

The Global Complementary/Alternative and

Music Therapy Assessment

(GCAMTA)

[First page preview of the GCAMTA]

For the full tool and/or any questions or further information regarding

the GCAMTA, please contact the PI at <u>drpaulfranco@gmail.com</u>

GLOBAL COMPLEMENTARY/ALTERNATIVE and

MUSIC THERAPY ASSESSMENT

1. What is your profession? (Select all that apply)

- □ Physician (MD) □ Nurse Midwife (NM)
- Physician (DO)
- □ Nurse-Anesthetist (NA)
- Physician Assistant (PA)
 Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS)
- □ Nurse Practitioner (NP)
- □ Other_____
- 2. For Physicians (MD, DO), please specify area of specialty practice, if any.
- 3. These first set of statements focus on your initial encounter with the patient. Caregiver refers to a non-professional/informal giver of care to the individual/patient receiving care (care-receiver), typically a family member or friend. Please select: Strongly Agree, Agree, Neutral, Disagree or Strongly Disagree for each of the following statements:

Variable	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
Before receiving a medical recommendation, patients like to be engaged in "small talk."	5	4	3	2	1
Before giving a medical recommendation, I like to engage patients in "small talk."	5	4	3	2	1
Before making medical recommendations, I find that patients want me to discuss current trends in healthcare related to patients' specific medical concerns,	5	4	3	2	1
In the process of making medical recommendations to patients, I find that their caregivers want me to discuss current trends in healthcare related to caregivers' personal medical concerns	5	4	3	2	1
during the patient's appointment. It is important to me as a healthcare provider to spend time discussing with patients current trends in healthcare related to their specific medical concerns.	5	4	3	2	1
Patients want to be proactive in their health but may not know how.	5	4	3	2	1

APPENDIX H

Principal Investigator Created

Demographic Questionnaire

[First page preview of the Demographic Questionnaire]

For the full demographic questionnaire and/or any questions or further information regarding the GCAMTA, please contact the PI at <u>drpaulfranco@gmail.com</u> Please provide the following demographic information:

7. What is your gender?

D Male Female

8. What is your age?

□ 18-30 □ 31-40 □ 41-50 □ 51-60 □ 61-69 □ 70+

- Please select all degrees and/or certificates that you have obtained with regard to your 9. education.
 - □ Certificate Please specify_ □ Associate □ Baccalaureate Masters □ MD/DO □ PhD (Doctorate)
 - □ Other_

10. Number of years in profession:

Less than one year	□ 1-5 years	□ 6-10 years
□ 11-20 years	□ 21-30 years	□ 31+ years

11. In what state(s) do you currently primarily practice? Please list all that apply.

- 12. What type of institution(s) are you affiliated with? Please select all that apply (if you work in more than one institution).
 - □ Sole Practitioner (Private Practice)
 - □ Group Practitioner (Private Practice)
 - I am an Independent Practitioner in a small office
 - Community Hospital
 - University Teaching Hospital
 - Long term care facility
 Sub acute care facility

 - □ Outpatient/Clinic
 - □ Nursing Home
 - D University School of Health or Medical Sciences/Allied Health
 - □ Surgi-Center (same day surgery)
 - Cancer Institute/Treatment Center

D No

- □ Other_
- 13. Does your current place of employment provide any complementary/alternative therapy practices?

□ Yes

🗆 I Don't Know